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This is Kvaerner

Solid track record
Kvaerner is established to leverage the experience and 
expertise from the execution of complex field develop-
ment projects during more than 40 years of operation.
the company provides a comprehensive range of tech -
nologies, solutions and products for offshore topsides, 
floating oil and gas facilities, substructures and complete 
onshore plants. 

Reliable, flexible and competitive
Kvaerner is tailored to meet the demands from the clients 
and a dynamic epC market through reliable, flexible and 
competitive delivery models. 

HSE performance
in Kvaerner, concern for health, safety and the environ-
ment is a core value, and the company systematically 
works to ensure continuous improvement on hse culture 
and performance.

 > Kvaerner strives continuously for zero harm to 
personnel, material and non-material assets.

 > Kvaerner focuses on employee health and on   
improvement of work environment.

 > every employee takes personal responsibility for hse 
by focusing on their own behaviour.

Stock listing and ownership
Kvaerner's headquarters are at fornebu (outside oslo), 
norway and the company has more than 3 200 employees 
worldwide, in addition to a significant number of contract 
staff. Kværner asa was listed on the oslo børs (the stock 
exchange in oslo) 8 July 2011. the investment company 
aker asa exercises active ownership and is, through aker 
Kværner holding as, indirectly a significant shareholder 
in Kvaerner.

Kvaerner is a specialised engineering, procurement and construction (EPC) company, 
working on some of the world’s most demanding projects in this field. Kvaerner is a 
preferred partner for upstream and downstream oil and gas operators, industrial 
companies and other engineering and fabrication providers.

KEy FIguRES

2011 2010

operating revenues 13 295 13 209
ebitda 1 073 488
ebitda margin 8.1% 3.7%
ebit 1 019 434
earnings per share 2.08 0.28
order backlog 10 046 12 435
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Message from the President & CEO

When we listed Kvaerner on the oslo børs in July 2011, 
i said that the timing for establishing a global epC 
contractor like Kvaerner could not have been better. even 
with the financial uncertainty in many countries, this 
statement is still valid. in fact, i believe it is fair to say 
that the market ahead of us has gone from quite 
promising to very promising. the fundamental demand for 
hydrocarbon based energy is expected to remain strong. 
in addition, leading customers focus on maintaining their 
production level, which for most oil producers makes it 
necessary to identify and develop new reservoirs. the 
recent high impact discoveries in the mature north sea as 
well as the barents sea reaffirm the potential of the 
norwegian continental shelf. according to oil and gas 
analysts at rystad energy, it is expected that the north sea 
market for offshore epC projects will grow by 22 percent 
from 2010 to 2015. for the global epC market the growth 
for this period is expected to be 16 percent. this means 
that the prospects for all our business areas are very good.

the epC industry is built upon trust and reputation. an 
epC contractor gains trust from the ability to deliver 
 facilities according to plan, meeting the specified quality, 
and at the agreed time. our ability to perform on these 
criteria is the key to our success, and Kvaerner has  already 
proven that its organisations are capable of doing so.

looking at the numbers for 2011, ebitda ended at 
noK 1 073 million with an ebitda margin of 8.1 percent 
and a net profit of noK 559 million. our financial position 
is solid and the board of directors has proposed to pay a 
dividend of noK 1.00 per share for 2011.

in light of the numbers, it is important to remember 
that Kvaerner’s activity is highly affected by fluctuations 

in the market. these fluctuations are consequences of 
different project phases and variations in the mix of 
project portfolios. Kvaerner’s accounting policy does not 
recognise profit on projects before 20 percent completion 
has been achieved, this results in lower margins in those 
quarters where several projects are in an early phase. 
Kvaerner enters 2012 with a somewhat small project 
portfolio with several projects in these early phases, 
consequently 2012 will be a year of uncertainty with 
regards to the final financial outcome. the results will be 
influenced by uncertainty to the commercial end result of 
major projects, representing both a potential upside as 
well as a potential downside. there is also uncertainty 
with regards to on- going projects. however, i believe 
2012 will be a year of transition in the sense that our 
tendering activity is very high with several projects in the 
bidding phase. 

in november 2011, we summoned 116 of Kvaerner’s 
leaders from all around the world to the Kvaerner leader-
ship Conference (KlC). this was the first arena where the 
senior management gathered, and a very important venue 
for establishing a common platform for the future 
 de velopment of Kvaerner.

i acknowledge that we have set bold goals for Kvaerner, 
and that we need a dedicated crew to accomplish these 
goals. i’m proud to say that i’m confident that we have the 
right crew and that they are with me on this expedition.

on average, the executive management team has 26 
years of industrial experience and the members have all 
seen the evolution and the prosperity of our industry. the 
team’s composition reflects our ambitions in becoming a 
top league global epC contractor with the combined 

2011 has been a year of important strategic progress and focused project execution for 
Kvaerner. We carried out a successful listing of the new company under a well-known 
brand in July. In parallel with executing important projects and studies, we have been 
 clarifying our international strategic profile.

efforts in the fields of hse, quality, timeliness and hands-
on-management. 

the main focus area for 2011 was consolidation. now 
we are strengthening our core business in the home 
markets, and further on we progress towards international 
expansion of Kvaerner’s operations. strategically, our 
focus is two-fold: in our home market we are optimising 
the production line in order to maximise the capacity 
utilisation. internationally, we are continuing to develop 
the delivery models in our target regions; asia pacific, 
russia, the Caspian and atlantic Canada. We carefully 
select our target  projects with the aim of getting an 
optimal portfolio of projects to benefit our customers and 
ourselves.

the platform for our operation is in place and the crew 
is ready. We have started our journey, but a lot of hard 
works lies ahead of us. 

on 9 June 2011 we received the devastating news that 
one of our colleagues on the sakhalin 1 project in east 
russia went to work and did not return home in the 
afternoon. an accident like this is unacceptable and it is 
an important reminder that we can never relax our hse 
focus. the accident has been investigated and the cause 
has been identified and conveyed to all our operations. 
the key lessons learnt have been made part of the hse 
training. We will continue to focus on hse relentlessly, 
whether it is in nakhodka, verdal, stord or anywhere else 
in the world.

2011 was indeed a special year, with the listing of 
Kvaerner on the oslo børs in July and the second half of 
the year as a listed company. a lot of work has been done 
during the year in preparation for the long journey 
towards our strategic goal of becoming a global epC 
contractor. an exciting, demanding and arduous journey 
lies ahead of us, but the markets are favourable and 
Kvaerner has the experience and capabilities for further 
growth. it is up to us.

Jan arve haugan
president & Ceo
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Summary
Kværner asa was publicly listed with the ticker «Kvaer» 
on the oslo børs on 8 July 2011. at the time of the listing, 
Kvaerner had more than 3 500 skilled employees, an 
order backlog of noK 15.6 billion and a strong market 
forecast, which gave the new company a solid foundation 
from the start.

Kvaerner is a dedicated engineering, procurement and 
construction (epC) company. this dedication, and the de-
merger from aker solutions, was a response to customers' 
requests for specialised and flexible epC contractors. the 
initial task for Kvaerner has been to ensure that the com-
pany operated as an efficient and dynamic independent 
epC organisation from the time of the consummation of 
the demerger and listing. the president & Ceo, executives 
and senior management were appointed and, together 
with the rest of the organisation, are forming a dedicated 
team, tailored to meet market trends and client demands.

Consolidated operating revenues for 2011 were noK 
13 295 million which were on the same level as in 2010 
(noK 13 209 million). earnings before interest, taxes, 
 depreciation and amortisation (ebitda) amounted to noK 
1 073 million, an increase of noK 585 million from 2010 
(noK 488 million). the ebitda margin for 2011 was 8.1 
percent compared with an ebitda margin of 3.7 margin 
for 2010.

Care for health, safety and environment (hse) is a core 
value of Kvaerner and expressed in the Just Care™ mind-
set. Kvaerner works continuously to prevent incidents 
which could cause harm to personnel, to material or non-
material assets, and continuously seeks to improve the 
hse culture and performance. Kvaerner suffered a fatality 
during 2011 at the sakhalin 1 project in russia when a 
scaffold worker died after a fall from height. 

the board considers Kvaerner to be tailored to meet the 
challenges confirming customers demands in the epC mar-
ket. the market is strong with an unprecedented market 
growth ahead confirming that the timing of the establish-

ment of Kvaerner was good. Work continues to fully align 
the organisation ready for Kvaerner to take the steps and 
actions necessary to reach their goals in the coming years.

Business overview
Principal operations
Kvaerner is a specialised engineering, epC provider work-
ing on some of the world’s most demanding projects. 
Kvaerner is comprised of two norwegian yards at stord 
and verdal; the field development engineering hub and 
concrete organisation based in oslo; and organisations in 
usa, Kazakhstan, russia, australia and Canada. in total, 
Kvaerner operates in 14 countries worldwide. 

Kvaerner is a preferred partner to upstream and down-
stream oil and gas operators, industrial companies and 
other engineering and fabrication providers. tailored to 
meet customer demands and epC market trends, Kvaerner 
has 40 years’ expert experience executing complex field 
development projects. Kvaerner provides a comprehen-
sive range of technologies, solutions and products for off-
shore topsides, floating oil and gas facilities, substructures 
and complete onshore plants. 

Kvaerner’s business is divided into two reporting seg-
ments: (i) upstream and (ii) downstream & industrials. the 
upstream segment is divided into four separate business 
areas: north sea delivering topsides, floaters and onshore 
upstream facilities; Jackets delivering large steel jackets 
for oil and gas installations and wind jackets; Concrete 
 solutions delivering concrete substructures; and 
internatio nal delivering topsides, floaters and onshore up-
stream facilities. the downstream & industrials segment 
consists of one business area: engineering & Construction 
(e&C) americas and is a contractor for onshore facilities, 
power plants and steel mills.

Markets
the demand for products and services in the epC field is 
driven by the world’s demand and consumption of oil and 

Board of Directors' report
gas for transportation, industrial purposes and energy 
production. this justifies the need for increased capital 
spending in developing oil and gas fields. 

Kvaerner’s success depends on the trust the company is 
able to earn and sustain from customers. an important 
factor in achieving such trust is a cost-effective and 
 proven proprietary delivery model. the model needs to be 
flexible to meet the demand for attractive solutions and 
products delivered on time and at a quality level comply-
ing with epC industry practice.

the market development within the two segments is 
driven by different factors, and the geographical focus is 
different for these segments. 

upstream 
from a geographical perspective, the most important 
 market for the upstream segment has historically been 
the north sea offshore and onshore markets. Kvaerner 
also aims to continue its growth internationally, in 
Caspian, russian, Canadian and asian pacific markets. 
other markets may be selectively targeted to assist 
upstream oil and gas customers that operate in harsh 
environments and deep waters.

the development of the upstream market is fuelled by 
a strong underlying growth in the demand for energy 
which requires and justifies increased capital spending on 
the development of oil and gas fields. global primary en-
ergy demand is expected to be 40 percent higher in 2035 
than it was in 2009. the expected cumulative investments 
on energy supply infrastructure to meet the demand 
amounts to usd 38 trillion in the 2011–2035 period 1). 
the increased complexity of new field developments is 
another factor adding to capital spending. 

 according to the united states geological survey’s 
(usgs) mean estimate, the arctic region holds about 
22 percent of the world’s undiscovered conventional oil 

1) source: iea World energy outlook 2011.
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and natural gas resources. Concrete structures have seen a 
renaissance and provide numerous benefits such as oil 
storage, significant local content, robustness in arctic con-
ditions, low lifecycle cost and installations without the 
need for heavy lift vessels. Kvaerner holds a unique posi-
tion in this area with over 40 years of international con-
crete experience and is a lead contractor in more than 20 
major concrete projects worldwide.

the norwegian continental shelf is considered mature, 
and the major fields developed in the 1970’s are in de-
cline. the smaller fields that are put into production are 
unable to offset this decline, but there is significant explo-
ration potential and drive in the region. this has led to 
recent successful discoveries in new areas of the north 
sea and the barents sea. this development is further en-
couraged by government-led incentive programmes such 
as awards in predefined areas (apa) and the current fiscal 
regime. apa was put into force to enhance exploration in 
mature areas, while the fiscal regime was created to en-
courage exploration on the norwegian continental shelf in 
general. the recent discoveries and developments open up 
new opportunities for Kvaerner in the upstream segment.

Downstream 
the downstream and industrial epC market is a large and 
diversified market segment. Kvaerner’s main target areas 
in the segment are construction, maintenance and renova-
tion services to the power utility, steel production and en-
vironmental industries, liquefied natural gas (lng), chemi-
cal, petrochemical, oil and gas, and large capital energy 
infrastructure projects. the main market is in certain 
 sectors in the north american region and selected interna-
tional markets.

the downstream & industrials segment will continue to 
develop sustainable areas of business and further leve-
rage its current strengths in front-end engineering and 
design (feed), as well as in epC, general construction, 
maintenance and renovation expertise throughout north 
america. a number of major steel producers in north 
america are planning several upgrades in the years to 
come. the marcellous shale gas value chain is creating 
good future opportunities. 

Strategy and target regions
the demerger from aker solutions and the establishment 
of Kvaerner was a response to customers’ requests for 
more flexible and specialised epC contractors. more flex-
ible, in the sense that Kvaerner would be able to meet low 
cost requirements through strategic partnerships and local 
content requirements through local partnerships. more 
specialised, in the sense that increased attention to cost 
and risk efficiency is a prerequisite for a global epC player 
and requires a dedicated management focus on project 
execution and risk management.

the initial task for Kvaerner has been to ensure that 
the company operated as an efficient and dynamic inde-
pendent epC organisation from the time of the consum-
mation of the demerger on 7 July and listing on 8 July 
2011.

Kvaerner’s mission is to plan and execute the world’s 
most demanding epC projects and to become a top league 
global epC provider. Kvaerner believes that the company 
is well positioned to realise this mission through a set of 
competitive strengths and a tailored strategy. Kvaerner 
has a long history and track record in the epC field and 
has through numerous projects proven that the company 
is able to deliver quality on time.

the strategy for the next few years has several defined 
steps: in the first phase, Kvaerner will maintain and 
 further develop its strong position in traditional home 
markets in the north sea region and north america. 
Kvaerner will strengthen the organisation, including the 
engineering resources and the regional delivery models. 
Kvaerner will then start to grow in selected geographical 
regions, focusing on prospects where the company can 
leverage its competitive edge.

the key criteria for Kvaerner’s selection of target 
 regions are a set of factors which include market attrac-
tiveness. the factors include risk profile, the relevance of 
Kvaerner technology and experience in the region, local 
presence and cooperation with local operators, access to 
yards and engineering resources and the competitive 
landscape in the region. based on this assessment, the 
 international target regions will be russia, the Caspian, 
asia pacific and atlantic Canada.

Kvaerner’s competitive edge is based on a combined 
set of factors:

 > Extensive track record
Kvaerner is a «new» company, yet has over 40 years’ 
experience from the world’s most demanding market.

 > Tailored to meet market trends and demands
With unprecedented market growth ahead, Kvaerner is 
tailored to meet market trends as well as customer de-
mands.

 > Robust financial platform 
a robust financial position that can handle the cyclical 
nature of the business and secures necessary financial 
guarantees for new large projects and future expansion.

 > A solid position for growth
Kvaerner’s five business areas have strong positions in 
their key expertise and the technologies necessary to 
capture growth.

Report for 2011
Listing of Kværner ASA
Kværner asa was publicly listed with the ticker «Kvaer» 
on the oslo børs on 8 July 2011. Kvaerner was 
established by the norwegian engineer oluf a. onsum in 
1853. both aker and Kvaerner share a common history 
and were fierce competitors for decades. as of december 
2001, the parties agreed to merge aker maritime and 
Kvaerner, and aker became the main shareholder of aker 
Kvaerner. the listing of the «new» Kvaerner on oslo børs 
is a revitalisation of an almost 160 years old brand. it is a 
result of a process where the previous aker solutions' 
activities for delivery of platforms and onshore plants 
(epC projects) have been established as a separate 
corporation through the «new» Kvaerner. Kvaerner will 
leverage the previous organisations' combined experience 
and expertise built up over more than 40 years. the 
listing of the «new» Kvaerner writes the next chapter in 
the common history of aker and Kvaerner within offshore 
and onshore new build projects. at the time of the listing, 
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Kvaerner had more than 3 500 skilled employees, an 
order backlog of noK 15.6  billion and a strong market 
forecast, which gave the new company a solid foundation 
from the start.

Executive Management Team 
following the demerger from aker solutions, emphasis 
was put on recruiting a senior management team with ex-
perience in project execution both from the supplier and 
customer side. 

for a complete presentation of the board of directors 
and executive management team, please refer to page 92 
of this report.

Financials
Kvaerner presents its accounts in accordance with interna-
tional financial reporting standards (ifrs) as adopted by 
the eu. unless otherwise specified, figures in brackets 
present prior year numbers. as further explained in the 
notes to the financial statements, the historical financial 
statements of Kvaerner include the results of Kvaerner 
businesses that were controlled by aker solutions prior to 
the demerger subject to certain allocations for all periods 
presented.

Profit and loss
Consolidated operating revenues for 2011 were noK 
13 295 million which were on the same level as in 2010 
(noK 13 209 million). earnings before interest, taxes, 
 depreciation and amortisation (ebitda) amounted to 
noK 1 073 million, an increase of noK 585 million from 
2010 (noK 488 million). the ebitda margin for 2011 
was 8.1 percent compared with an ebitda margin of 3.7 
percent for 2010. the increase in ebitda is mainly due 
to contribution from projects being completed and 
 release of contingencies during 2011. the ebitda in 
2011 was negatively affected by the blind faith project 
arbitration ruling and loss related to the longview 
 project of noK 165 and 278 million respectively. fur-
ther, one-off demerger expenses of noK 80 million have 
been recognised during the year. depreciation, impair-
ment and amortisation  totalled noK 54  million, which is 

on the same level as in 2010 (noK 54 million). 
Consolidated earnings before interest and taxes (ebit) 

were noK 1 019 million (noK 434 million). net financial 
expenses amounted to noK 116 million, an increase of 
noK 86 million from 2010 (noK 30 million), including for-
eign exchange losses of noK 107 million which were loss-
es from prior periods recorded in the fourth quarter. 

the group hedges currency risk for all project expo-
sures in accordance with well-established practices. 
 although this provides a full currency hedge, aspects of 
the hedging (about 20 percent) do not meet the require-
ments for hedge accounting specified in ifrs. this means 
that fluctuations in the value of the associated hedging 
instruments are recognised with full effect as financial 
items in the accounts. the accounting effect appears as an 
expense of noK 11 million (noK 6 million) in a separate 
line under financial items. 

associated companies and joint ventures reported a 
loss of noK 6 million compared with a loss of noK 11 
 million in 2010. 

tax expense was noK 344 million (noK 330 million) 
which corresponded to an effective tax rate of 38 percent 
(82 percent). normally the income tax expense reflects the 
tax rate in norway (28 percent) and the tax rate in the us 
(approximately 40 percent), thus the effective tax rate is 
normally representing the segments’ relative share of the 
profit before tax. however, both 2011 and 2010 tax 
charges are affected by us tax losses not being recognised 
as deferred tax assets, which increases the overall tax rate. 

Consolidated net profit in 2011 ended at noK 559 
 million with basic and diluted earnings per share of noK 
2.08, compared to noK 74 million and basic and diluted 
earnings per share of noK 0.28 in 2010.

Cash flow 
Consolidated cash flows from operating activities 
 depends on a number of factors, including progress on 
and delivery of projects, changes in working capital and 
pre-payments from customers. net cash flow from oper-
ating activities was noK 1 069 million in 2011 (negative 
noK 645 million). the increase mainly reflects the in-
crease in profit in 2011 and improved working capital 

due to phasing of the projects in the upstream segment. 
net cash outflow from investing activities in 2011 was 

negative noK 231 million (negative noK 26 million). the 
capital expenditures for 2011 amounted to noK 163 
 million (noK 10 million) and was mainly related to the 
facility upgrades at the Kvaerner verdal yard. net cash 
flow from financing activities was negative noK 1 103 
million in 2011 (noK 349 million) reflecting repayment of 
all  financing from aker solutions.

Balance sheet and liquidity 
the group’s book value of total assets was noK 6 823 
 million on 31 december 2011 (noK 10 485 million). the 
reduced asset base is due to settlement of funding from 
aker solutions and completion of major projects. 

book equity totalled noK 2 445 million as of 31 
 december 2011 (noK 2 459 million). the group’s equity 
ratio was 35.8 percent of the total balance sheet as of 31 
december 2011, which is an increase of 12.3 percent 
compared with 23.5 percent at year end 2010.

Consolidated interest-bearing debt amounted to noK 
468 million (noK 548 million) as of 31 december 2011.

the group's bank facilities of noK 3 000 million con-
sists of a revolving credit facility of noK 2 500 million 
maturing in may 2016 and a term loan of noK 500  million 
maturing in may 2014. the facilities are provided by a 
syndicate of international banks. the term loan of noK 
500 million was fully drawn at year-end 2011 whilst the 
noK 2 500 million credit facility remained undrawn. the 
terms and conditions include restrictions which are cus-
tomary for these kinds of facilities, including inter alia 
negative pledge provisions and restrictions related to ac-
quisitions, disposals and mergers. there are also certain 
provisions of change of control included in the agree-
ments. there are no restrictions for dividend payments 
and both the revolving credit facility and the term loan 
are unsecured.

the financial covenants are based on three sets of key 
financial ratios; an equity ratio based on consolidated to-
tal borrowings/consolidated total equity, a cash covenant 
calculated by consolidated total borrowings less consoli-
dated net current operating assets, and consolidated cash 
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and cash equivalent assets and an interest coverage ratio 
based on consolidated ebitda/consolidated finance costs. 
the financial covenants are tested on a quarterly basis. 
the margin applicable to the facility is based on a price 
grid determined by the gearing ratio. 

Consolidated non-current assets totalled noK 1 956 
million (noK 1 711 million) as of 31 december 2011, of 
which goodwill amounted to noK 1 182 million (noK 
1 178 million).

Consolidated capital adequacy and liquidity are good, and 
help to ensure that Kvaerner is well equipped to meet the 
challenges and opportunities faced over the next few years. 

Segment reviews
as detailed above, Kvaerner’s business comprises two 
reporting segments: upstream and downstream & 
industrials. during 2011 relatively few contracts within 
Kvaerner’s market segments were awarded. however, the 
bidding activity has been high in all business areas in the 
second half of the year. the order backlog was noK 10 
046  million at year end 2011 (noK 12 435 million).

upstream
operating revenues in 2011 totalled noK 10 887 million 
(noK 9 192 million). ebitda was noK 1 571 million (noK 
928 million) with an ebitda margin of 14.4 percent, 
increasing from 10.1 percent in 2010. the increase in 
ebitda is mainly due to positive influence by projects in 
the north sea and international business areas that were 
winding down over the summer 2011. the order intake 
for 2011 amounted to noK 9 257 million (noK 6 518 
million), which included the eldfisk 2/7 s, a noK 5.5 
billion epC contract with Conocophillips to deliver the 
topside and bridges of the production platform, the 
fabrication and construction contract for the upgrade of 
the delayed Cocker revamp unit at statoil’s facilities at 
mongstad of noK 220 million, the skarv fpso completion 
job for bp, as well as feeds and growth in existing 
contracts. the order backlog as of 31 december 2011 was 
noK 8 758 million (noK 10 376 million).

the north sea business area experienced high activity 
during mid-year as the in-shore work for the skarv fpso 

(floating production, storage and offloading) was completed 
at the stord yard. at year end the contract to modify and 
develop the gas plant at Kollsnes was completed. also, the 
construction work on the Co2 test plant at mongstad (tCm) 
was completed in the fourth quarter, and testing will com-
mence in 2012. engineering and procurement work on the 
eldfisk project has been ongoing during 2011, and the fab-
rication started in the first quarter of 2012. at year end, 
160 employees at the stord yard were temporarily laid off.

the gudrun jacket was the first delivery from Kvaerner 
in the Jackets business area, and was delivered to statoil 
on 1 July 2011. this jacket was number 35 in the series 
of jackets delivered from the yard at verdal. during 2011, 
there has been very high activity at the yard. projects in-
clude the jacket and bridge support for the ekofisk living 
quarters (2/4l), the Clair ridge jackets and the nordsee 
ost wind jacket project, where the first six of 49 steel sub-
structures were completed at year end 2011. 

in the Concrete solutions business area, all major con-
crete works on the sakhalin 1 gravity based structure 
(gbs) project were completed during the year and mechan-
ical completion was reached in december 2011. the gbs 
will be towed offshore in the summer of 2012. When com-
pleted, this platform will be the largest platform in russian 
waters. feed and site preparation for the hebron gbs pro-
ject offshore Canada, a joint venture project with peter 
Kiewit Corporation, has been ongoing throughout 2011.

in the international business area, the Kashagan hook-
up project in Kazakhstan was at its peak during the first 
half of 2011, and the offshore work reached completion in 
June. demobilisation of offshore personnel started in July 
and the project is expected to be closed down during the 
first half of 2012. 

in China, Kvaerner and CooeC (offshore oil engineering 
Co, ltd) jointly invested in engineering and fabrication of 
a demonstration module according to the norsoK 
standards to document the partners' combined capabilities 
for delivering new offshore oil and gas platforms in 
preparation for the browse bid to the australian operator 
Woodside. the norsoK standards are developed by the 
norwegian petroleum industry to ensure adequate safety, 
value adding and cost effectiveness for petroleum 

industry  developments and operations. the partnership 
was established in 2010 and offers a new, competitive 
delivery model for upcoming offshore oil and gas projects 
in the asia pacific region and internationally.

Downstream & Industrials
total operating revenues in 2011 were noK 2 417 million 
(noK 4 049 million). ebitda was negative noK 351 
 million (negative noK 440 million) and the ebitda margin 
decreased from negative 10.9 percent in 2010 to negative 
14.5 percent in 2011. the ebitda for the year was 
 negatively affected by delays and losses on projects in the 
segments’ project portfolio.

total order intake for 2011 amounted to noK 1 655 
million (noK 2 701 million) which included a contract for 
the installation of the v&m seamless pipe mill in the usa, 
growth in existing contracts as well as smaller steel main-
tenance jobs and studies. the order backlog stood at noK 
1 287 million (noK 2 059 million) at year end 2011.

in the third quarter, the gulf lng regasification terminal 
in pascagoula, mississippi, was delivered in a joint venture 
with ihi Corporation. the Kvaerner/ihi joint venture 
partner ship worked over 3.3 million man-hours to design, 
construct and commission the large regasification plant. 
the longview project, with construction of the 695 mega-
watt (net) supercritical pulverised coal power plant, 
reached substantial completion and was handed over to 
the customer longview power llC in the fourth quarter 
2011. there are still substantial uncertainties with respect 
to the financial outcome of the project. during the year 
there has also been high activity on the v&m pipe mill 
project located in Youngstown, ohio. When completed, this 
construction will be a state-of-the art hot rolling seamless 
pipe mill with a 350 000–500 000 tonne capacity.

going concern
based on the group’s financial results and position, the 
board of directors confirms that the annual accounts for 
2011 have been prepared under the assumption that the 
company is a going concern. 
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Parent company accounts and allocation of net profit
the parent company, Kværner asa, had a net profit of 
noK 66.2 million for 2011. 

the parent company’s dividend policy incorporates an 
ambition to distribute dividends such that the average 
dividend over time – through cash distribution and/or 
share buy-backs – amounts to between 30 and 50 percent 
of the Kvaerner group’s net profit.

pursuant to the company’s dividend policy, the board 
of directors proposes to the annual general meeting that 
an ordinary dividend of noK 1.00 per share should be 
paid (48 percent of net profit). the board of directors 
thereby proposes the following allocation of net profit: 

proposed dividend  noK 269 million
transferred from other equity  noK 203 million 
total allocated  noK 66 million 

unrestricted equity after the proposed dividend payment 
amounts to noK 4 755 million. 

Events after the balance sheet date
in January and february 2012, two steel jacket contracts 
totalling approximately noK 2.3 billion were awarded for 
execution at Kvaerner’s yard at verdal. 

lundin norway as awarded Kvaerner an epC contract 
worth approximately noK 1.1 billion for delivery of a 
steel jacket to be located at the luno field, production 
 license pl338, offshore the norwegian north sea. the 
contract includes engineering, procurement, construction, 
load-out and sea-fastening of the jacket and associated 
piles. 

total e&p norge as awarded Kvaerner an epsC- contract 
(engineering, procurement, supply and Construction) 
worth close to noK 1.2 billion for delivery of a steel jack-
et to be located at the hild field offshore the norwegian 
north sea. the contract includes engineering, procure-
ment, supply, construction, load-out and sea-fastening of 
the jacket and associated piles. fabrication will commence 
in fourth quarter 2012 for both contracts, and the steel 
jackets will be delivered in the spring of 2014.

Corporate governance and risk management
as Kvaerner exercises ultimate governance and control 
from its headquarters in norway, and is listed on the oslo 
børs, norwegian legislation is a significant framework in 
terms of company and securities legislation, financial re-
porting and other corporate issues. Kvaerner is subject to 
laws and regulations in the jurisdictions where Kvaerner 
operates. as part of its corporate governance model, 
Kvaerner’s board of directors has adopted the norwegian 
code of practice for corporate governance. the detailed 
corporate governance statement of Kvaerner can be found 
on page 83 of this annual report and on the company's 
webpage www.kvaerner.com.

in general, corporate governance in Kvaerner is based 
on the traditional model wherein shareholders, at the an-
nual general meeting, appoint the board of directors to 
act as their representatives in governing the company.

the board of directors sets the strategic direction, the 
overall governance structure, values and main policies, in 
accordance with norwegian legislation and frameworks. 
Kvaerner has a set of 20 policies, with attached standards 
and tools, which provide direction on acceptable perform-
ance and guides decision-making in all parts of the 
 company. the policy framework provides the delegated 
authority and authorisation limits of the president & Ceo 
and the organisation.

as set out in the norwegian public limited liability 
Companies act, the board of Kvaerner has appointed an 
audit Committee amongst its directors, comprising lone 
fønss schrøder (Chair), bruno Weymuller and bernt harald 
Kilnes. the board has also appointed a remuneration 
Committee, with the directors Kjell inge røkke (Chairman), 
tore torvund and vibeke hammer madsen as members.

Risk management 
the intention of the governance framework of Kvaerner is 
to minimise risk through guiding behaviour and decisions 
in the direction that is most appropriate for the company. 
the executive management of Kvaerner has implemented 
business processes, management meetings and organisa-
tional structures to ensure that the governing framework 
is adhered to.

Kvaerner manages risk based on five identified main 
areas. these are strategic and financial risk, reputational 
risk, risk related to mergers and acquisitions and the risk 
related to operations and project execution. strategic risk 
arises from pursuing the wrong markets, segments, services 
and products or customers. it is managed through the 
 annual strategy process, which includes a special strategy 
workshop for the board of directors, where the board 
 ensures that the overall direction, markets and customers 
are reflected in the strategies of the company. 

Financial risk includes currency, interest rate, counter-
party and liquidity risk. the corporate treasury function is 
responsible for managing financial market risk and the 
group’s exposure to financial markets. Kvaerner has de-
fined procedures and routines for managing the group’s 
financial market exposure.

Currency risk; operating units in Kvaerner identify their 
own foreign currency exposure and mitigate this through 
the corporate treasury function when contracts are awarded. 
such cover is provided in the operating unit’s functional 
currency. all major contracts are furthermore hedged in 
the external market and documented to qualify for hedge 
accounting. more than 80 percent of project related 
curren cy risk exposure either qualify for hedge accounting 
or are embedded derivatives. 

 > Interest rate risk: Kvaerner has made a draw-down on 
its noK 500 million term loan facility. the term loan 
has a floating interest rate. 

 > Counterparty risk: assessments are made of major 
 contractual counterparties and subcontractors. risk is 
reduced through bank and parent company guarantees 
and/or structuring of payment terms. Where bank risk 
and the placement risk for surplus liquidity are 
 concerned, specific maximum levels have been set for 
the group’s exposure to each financial institution. a 
special debtor list is signed annually by Kvaerner’s evp 
& Cfo.
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 > Liquidity risk: the group’s policy is to maintain satisfac-
tory liquidity at the corporate level. the liquidity buffer 
is expressed as the sum of undrawn bank credit facili-
ties and available cash and bank deposits. Working cap-
ital will vary over time, depending on the phasing of 
projects in the various segments. 

Reputation risk can be hard to identify and assess as it 
can appear in many forms and situations. albeit elusive 
and intangible, it can nevertheless have the most severe 
impact on a business. Kvaerner has chosen to focus on 
reputation risk on assessments of the risk related to coun-
tries with special challenges, frameworks for managing 
risks and making decisions and the processes for ensuring 
compliance with policies. Kvaerner is currently reviewing 
its policies and procedures with a view to managing repu-
tational risks, with focus on bribery, corruption and fraud. 
this review will be finalised during the first quarter of 
2012.

Merger and acquisition risk can arise from decisions to 
invest in other companies. typically, the risk is related to 
the pricing of an acquisition, buying a company that does 
not fit well with the existing portfolio or a company with 
hidden problems. risk in this category is managed through 
a special corporate investment committee.

Operations and project execution risk is often more 
 specific and relates to potential incidents or challenges in 
a project or other business operations. typical challenges 
pertaining to project execution is the complexity of the 
project scope of work, timely delivery and tough weather 
conditions. the operations and project execution risk is 
typically directly managed by the operating businesses 
and followed up at corporate level through the monthly 
and quarterly review structure and the corporate risk 
committee. furthermore, the evp project support moni-
tors operations and project execution risk and provides 
support to the project and tenders team within the 
 organisation.

Risk management at the corporate level
Control of risk and compliance with policies represent a 
key activity of the corporate functions. the corporate 
functions are responsible for the development and imple-
mentation of effective quality management policies, strate-
gies, procedures, work processes and supporting tools in 
alignment with business areas and corporate plans.

 each corporate function has a global responsibility for 
following up policies and associated frameworks for its 
respective area. this applies regardless of the approach 
adopted for organising the business, and is pursued in 
part through a close dialogue with the company’s corpo-
rate risk and investment committees and through monthly 
meetings related to financial and operational reporting by 
the business areas. each corporate function will also fol-
low up its area of responsibility outside these formal pro-
cesses through direct dialogue with the businesses. for a 
further description of the corporate functions most rele-
vant to risk management, please refer to the board’s 
 corporate governance statement on page 83 of this annual 
report. Kvaerner has identified a need to review the com-
pany’s current policies in order to assess the current risk 
management of the group. this review will be finalised 
during the first quarter of 2012.

the audit Committee of the board of directors will 
 assist the board of directors in ensuring that the company 
has internal procedures and systems that promote good 
corporate governance, effective internal controls and good 
risk management – particularly in relation to financial 
 reporting. as Kvaerner is still in a start-up phase and 
 because the policy system is currently being revised, only 
limited internal reviews have been performed in 2011. 
until these policies and corporate functions are in place, 
corporate staff are monitoring the businesses through 
 reporting and monthly operating reviews. more detailed 
reviews are executed where applicable.

Whistle blowing procedure 
any allegation of potential violation of the Kvaerner 
policies can be reported confidentially or even anony-
mously. Kvaerner will assure that there will be no adverse 
consequences as a result of an employee bringing com-

plaints about violations of the governing policies of 
Kvaerner. a fair and comprehensive investigation will be 
conducted with relevant internal and external assistance 
according to Kvaerner’s investigation procedures.

Risk management in operating entities and projects
each legal entity is responsible for ensuring compliance 
with corporate procedures and systems and with all other 
applicable regulations and legal requirements. Corporate 
staff and the business areas collaborate closely to identify, 
monitor, report on and manage risk for the whole group. 
this ensures compliance with requirements from the 
board of directors and with internal and external frame-
works and regulations.

due to the demanding nature of the projects Kvaerner 
is involved in, the project execution model (pem™) is a key 
element in the operating units' operating system. the 
pem™ is the methodology followed when executing pro-
jects. all risk management processes and controls shall be 
described according to the respective operating system of 
the business unit. the process descriptions in the pem™ 
vary from the type of business or project being performed, 
but the general requirements of the pem™ are the same 
across the company.

the pem™ has defined phases for projects. the main 
phases are feasibility & Concept, tender & Kick-off, 
 system definition, detailing & fabrication, assembly & 
erection and system Completion. in each of these phases, 
there are defined milestones that the project needs to 
pass through, and between all the phases there are gates.

all projects in Kvaerner have a register where identi-
fied risks and opportunities are categorised and assessed 
in terms of impact and probability. all these risk registers 
are live documents that support follow-up of all risks in 
the project as well as improvement opportunities. 
depend ing on its size and complexity, a project may also 
have a separate risk manager.

risks are reported by the business areas in monthly 
operating reviews. these reviews form the main internal 
management control procedures and reporting line across 
Kvaerner. the business areas are required to perform reg-
ular audits of their projects and operations to ensure they 
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follow the established processes and procedures. the 
management team of the business area will perform annual 
reviews of its operating system to ensure its integrity and 
relevance to operations. such reviews will also include 
assessment of opportunities for improvement and the 
need for changes to the operating system, strategy and 
objectives.

the board of directors receives monthly reports on the 
company’s performance and the status of its most impor-
tant individual projects from the president & Ceo and 
from the evp & Cfo.

Kvaerner has also established a Control self assess-
ment (Csa) procedure which is compulsory for all legal 
entities and business areas. in this process, the operating 
units will assess the quality and relevance of the estab-
lished control activities. the timing of the Csa will be de-
termined by the evp & Cfo. furthermore, each of the 
business areas will be required to conduct an annual eval-
uation of its internal financial reporting control systems.

 
Corporate responsibility 
Kvaerner encompasses the corporate responsibility policy 
of aker solutions. since the demerger in July 2011 it has 
initiated projects in the organisation to adapt and modify 
this policy according to Kvaerner’s global operation. 

for Kvaerner it is fundamental to comply with the in-
ternational laws and practicals, such as those of the unit-
ed nations (un) universal declaration of human rights 
and international labour organization. Kvaerner views 
the following as a fundamental right: freedom from any 
discrimination based on origin, age, religion, gender, sexual 
orientation, marital status, connections with a national 
 minority, disability or other status.

Kvaerner’s values, and international norms such as the 
un global Compact, the global reporting initiative and the 
oeCd guidelines, define the company’s corporate respon-
sibility principles.

 the aim of Kvaerner is to ensure that all operations 
are aligned with company values, relevant laws and regu-
lations and society’s expectations, with integrity. for 
Kvaerner, the purpose of corporate responsibility is to 
provide all products and services in a socially, environ-

mentally and ethically responsible way. operating with 
integrity is just as important as achieving business goals. 
as a good corporate citizen, Kvaerner aims at contributing 
to the development of local, national or global society, 
creating mutually beneficial or «win-win» situations for 
communities and the company’s employees, shareholders 
and other stakeholders.

the common set of values shared by all units at 
Kvaerner forms a compass that guides policies, operations 
and ultimately, the behaviour of all employees. business 
ethics concern the principles that guide Kvaerner’s value 
creation and the daily business decisions. 

aker asa’s three-way international framework agree-
ment with the norwegian united federation of trade 
 unions (fellesforbundet) and the international metalwork-
ers’ federation (imf), commits Kvaerner to respect and 
support fundamental human rights as well as union rights 
in the societies in which the company operates. these 
principles are delineated in the united nation’s declaration 
for multinational corporations, and the ilo’s declaration 
on fundamental principles and rights at Work.

Kvaerner will do its utmost to contract only with sub-
contractors or suppliers who themselves adhere to the 
high standards of ethical conduct similar to the standards 
of Kvaerner. 

the aim is that corporate responsibility is an integral 
part of Kvaerner’s procurement processes and practices. 
Kvaerner commits to monitoring ethical performance and 
to taking immediate and thorough steps in cases where 
the ethical performance of its suppliers comes into 
 question. Kvaerner will work towards the company’s goals 
by driving continuous improvement through systematic 
engagement with suppliers.

People and organisation
Health, safety and the environment 
Care for health, safety and environment (hse) is a core 
value of Kvaerner and expressed in the Just Care™ mind-
set. Kvaerner works continuously to prevent incidents 
which could cause harm to personnel, to material or non-
material assets, and continuously seeks to improve the 
hse culture and performance.

Driven by care
a key element in the Just Care™ mindset is that all em-
ployees accept personal responsibility for hse, by actively 
caring for themselves, co-workers and the environment. 
through Just Care™, the hse message addresses the indi-
vidual employee effectively. managers act as positive hse 
role models and have a strong commitment to communi-
cation and training. this creates attitudes that integrate 
hse every day. 

Clear expectations
a common hse operating system sets expectations for the 
key elements in hse management and leadership. regular 
reviews uncover possible gaps in relation to expectations, 
and the necessary activities for improvement are identi-
fied and initiated. such reviews also function as a frame-
work for cross-organisational sharing and learning.

in order to measure hse performance at Kvaerner, key 
hse performance indicators have been implemented. a 
strong focus on leading activities in the hse field, 
 combined with defined targets measured against actual 
 results, guides us towards continual improvements of hse 
performance at Kvaerner.

the Just rules, part of Kvaerner’s hse operating 
 system, are established to control the most safety-critical 
activities in the operations. the Just rules are a mandatory 
part of Kvaerner’s safety training to all employees, also 
providing clear and simple check lists and controls for the 
operation.

Training and information to achieve a common HSE culture 
Competence occupies a central place in Kvaerner’s hse 
programme. all personnel must be competent, having the 
necessary knowledge, skill and behaviour to perform their 
work safely.

 to reach out to all employees in an efficient way, 
Kvaerner uses dedicated training programmes at business 
area and project levels, as well as elearning programmes 
for key areas within hse. these include the Just Care™ 
culture and hse as a core value, as well as more specific 
topics on mastering stress and protecting the environ-
ment. training packages at project level are tailored to 
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 individuals both in terms of content and language. self- 
assessments provide an internal evaluation of how far ex-
pectations are being met. they are conducted at least an-
nually by key personnel. line managers are trained to be 
role models and to drive hse improvements through spe-
cific safety academy programmes. during 2011, 0.8 percent 
of total worked hours were invested in hse training.

Sharing of best practices and learning from incidents
incidents are identified and classified according to their 
severity. investigations are initiated based on the severity 
and the potential consequence of the incident. all serious 
incidents and serious near misses are investigated in 
 accordance with specific Kvaerner guidelines. actions for 
improvement are then identified and implemented. 
 following serious incidents, lessons learned packages are 
produced and shared throughout Kvaerner with the aim of 
preventing similar incidents in the future.

Achievements – Safety Performance
during 2011 Kvaerner continuously improved its safety 
performance, a direct result of efforts to implement 
 further safety systems. at year end, a lost time incident 
frequency (ltif) of 0.33 and a total recordable incident 
frequency (trif) of 2.5 indicated a reduction of incidents 
during 2011. these figures also include Kvaerner’s sub-
contractors and are calculated per million man-hours 
worked.

on 9 June, Kvaerner suffered a fatality at the 
sakhalin 1 project in russia when a scaffold worker died 
after a fall from height. 

in addition, Kvaerner had seven lost time incidents dur-
ing 2011, two linked to working at height, two from falling 
objects and three from handling of mechanical equipment. 

Kvaerner has several examples of projects and units 
with long periods without any serious incidents or personal 
injury (up to 4 million man-hours) indicating that a zero 
incident target is achievable. 

in 2011, twenty serious incidents were identified and 
thoroughly investigated. the majority of these incidents 
were as a result of working at height and lifting 
operations.

Occupational Health
the company's sponsorship of the 2011 World ski 
 Championship and participation in the aker aktiv 
 programme are examples of health initiatives in 2011 
with a focus on physical exercise and nutrition. 

total sick leave for Kvaerner amounted to 4.8 percent 
of total working hours in 2011, compared with 4.6 per-
cent the previous year. sick leave for the blue collar oper-
ators at the norwegian yards at stord and verdal were at 
6.8 percent and 7.8 percent, respectively.

it should be noted that due to differences in local 
 regulations, a direct comparison of sick leave between 
 different countries can be complicated.

Environment
Kvaerner as a business is a supplier to the oil and gas 
 industry with limited exposure to the environment. the 
company continuously works to reduce its environmental 
footprint. Kvaerner reported seven environmental 
 incidents in 2011, all minor spills.

total energy consumption by the business in 2011, 
based on recorded use of oil, gas and electricity, amounted 
to 102 312 megawatt-hours. Carbon emissions related to 
this usage are estimated at 25 682 tonnes. the method-
ology used derives from the greenhouse gas protocol 
(ghg), and global reporting initiative (gri). Waste record-
ed in connection with the business totalled 16 332 tonnes, 
of which 91 percent was recycled. the main energy con-
sumption, carbon emissions and waste disposal are in con-
junction with activities at the yards.

the norwegian yards are certified according to the iso 
14001 environmental standard. an elearning programme 
with a particular focus on the environment is used as part 
of our mandatory training to make every employee realise 
the importance of the environment and to take personal 
responsibility for this.

the hse leadership development initiatives, elearning 
and the management system incorporate clear compon-
ents which focus on the environment. Collectively, these 
contribute to continuous improvements in environmental 
awareness and attitudes among managers and our 
employ ees. this inspires the organisation to achieve 

 further gains in environmental performance in Kvaerner’s 
own activities, and to assist customers in making environ-
mental improvements through the products developed 
and projects executed.

Proactive HSE focus activities
to further establish its proactive approach to hse, 
Kvaerner utilises a number of leading key performance 
indicators to monitor and further encourage hse perform-
ance. the benefits of utilising the leading indicators can be 
seen in further improvement of the lagging indicators. the 
use of leading indicators can provide an accurate and 
 continuous picture of the status of the control measures 
needed to prevent major incidents. our carefully selected 
indicators assist Kvaerner in detecting any eventual de-
cline in the quality of control measures, and thereby 
 provide sufficient time to remedy the situation.

Kvaerner has chosen to focus on inspections, task risk 
analyses and risk observations as leading indicators, all 
showing a positive development throughout 2011.

Security
due to the global nature of Kvaerner’s operations, the 
company is exposed to changes in the global risk situa-
tion. the projects operate in a wide range of areas, includ-
ing high risk countries, which means potential security 
threats may arise. to counter possible risk situations, 
Kvaerner is linked up to international sos, which provides 
a global tool for risk assessment and risk control. all em-
ployees can be provided with a reliable and updated risk 
assessment and have access to information, as well as to 
local contacts and an existing network at all times.

The HSE operating environment 
Kvaerner performs business in operating environments of 
variable hse standards. in general, the hse initiatives are 
strongly supported by our customers. in some parts of the 
business the customer is less visible from a hse point of 
view. Kvaerner brings high hse standards and expecta-
tions wherever the company does business.
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Developing people and teams
Kvaerner strives to attract and develop talented people 
and teams who understand customers’ needs and require-
ments in order to produce and deliver the best solutions. 
for most operating entities in Kvaerner, lack of skilled 
personnel is regarded as a potential risk and therefore 
systematically addressed. 

Competence covers all key disciplines. together with 
partners and subcontractors, Kvaerner ensures that plans 
and projects are executed efficiently. Challenges in terms 
of diverse cultures, various experiences and remote loca-
tions with various infrastructures imply complex work 
conditions which need attention.

the attention paid by Kvaerner to employee and lead-
ership development is regarded as an important competi-
tive advantage. Competence development is systematical-
ly based on operational requirements. local in-house 
academies organise programmes and training to qualify 
and certify Kvaerner’s people to work with projects on 
Kvaerner’s own sites as well as in challenging areas across 
the world. 

Kvaerner educates their personnel in leadership and 
project management to ensure safe project execution, with 
added value. Kvaerner matches people and team manage-
ment with projects, a specific process that enables em-
ployees and leaders to perform at their best. the process 
is based upon fundamental principles for productivity, 
such as aligned goals and good communication. it is 
 oriented towards results through leadership and perfor-
mance management.

leadership at Kvaerner is based on company values 
and leadership principles. the education and training of 
leaders strongly emphasise these principles. since hse is 
the fundamental basis for all work, it is addressed in all 
leadership training. leadership development programmes 
are based on the leadership pipeline, addressing challenges 
and methods for each level of leadership. 

project management competence is crucial to project 
execution. the existing project execution model has been 
developed over years, forming the basis for best practise. 
project management is Kvaerner’s core competence and 
this knowledge will be addressed in training modules and 

programmes for all levels in the organisation. mentor 
 programmes and project specific training is securing expe-
rience transfer both between individuals and projects.

due to the nature of our projects, «mobile» pro-
grammes and elearning is necessary to provide training. 
furthermore, the demand to accommodate virtual working 
has been a focus for specialised training. results from this 
have a quick and positive effect on communication and 
performance.

Organisation and recruitment
as of 31 december 2011, the overall workforce consisted 
of 4 366 individuals which includes 3 156 permanent em-
ployees and 1 210 contract staff. gender distribution at 
Kvaerner is approximately 15 percent women and 85 per-
cent men. as of July 2011 and until year-end, the com-
pany made 173 new permanent staff placements of which 
30 were women and 143 were men. 

the north sea business area, which includes the stord 
yard, and the Jackets business area, which includes the 
verdal yard, recruited 64 new permanent employees 
 al together during 2011. in addition, 56 apprentices were 
employed under applicable national and regional agree-
ments. there has been a considerable increase in the 
 average number of contract staff during 2011 due to the 
activity level within these two business areas.

Diversity and equal opportunity
Kvaerner has both international and national operations 
which involve employees from several operating entities 
and geographical regions. the principle of equal opportu-
nities for everyone is well established in Kvaerner. no dif-
ferences shall exist between genders or ethnic groups.

this commitment to equal opportunity is clearly 
 described in policies and by agreement, for instance in a 
three-party frame agreement with national and interna-
tional trade unions. this agreement covers general 
 employment terms and employee relations, with specific 
 focus on non-discrimination.

equal opportunity for people of both genders is a basic 
principle at Kvaerner. since a considerable part of the 
company consists of yard operations, male employees 
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continue to be in the majority. historically, mostly men 
have been chosen as they possess the adequate education 
for these positions within this industry segment. require-
ments are set for diversity in recruitment and people 
 development. of the total number of new employees in 
2011, 17 percent were women.

the corporate management team had two female mem-
bers as of 31 december 2011. 16 percent of employees in 
senior management positions are women. 

two of Kvaerner’s five shareholder-elected directors 
are women. all directors elected by and amongst employ-
ees are men. this is in accordance with legal requirements, 
since women account for less than 20 percent of the over-
all workforce.

leadership development programmes make an impor-
tant contribution to getting women into senior positions. 
out of the 35 participants who completed the Kvaerner 
leadership training programme in 2011, ten were women, 
representing nearly 29 percent of the participants.

each entity is encouraged to seek a work pattern which 
suits both employees and the company, and which 
 ensures a good balance between work and private life. 
examples of work patterns include flexible working hours, 
remote or home office and compressed working weeks. 
these benefits are regarded as important elements in 
 ensuring equal opportunities.

Performance culture and employee remuneration
Kvaerner’s global remuneration policy and reward guide-
lines enable the company to attract and retain employees 
with the right attitudes, skills and the ability to deliver 
strong performance on a global basis.

in order to attract and retain the right employees, 
Kvaerner focuses continuously on staff engagement. the 
company is aiming to support employees’ work enthusi-
asm to support Kvaerner’s overall success. in order to fos-
ter a high level of engagement, Kvaerner provides both 
monetary and non-monetary rewards.

Kvaerner’s global remuneration policy is based on: 

 > Kvaerner offers salaries and compensation systems 
which are internally fair, consistent, comprehensible 
and competitive in the external market.

 > the total compensation which consists of fixed salary, 
any incentives and other benefits, shall reflect the em-
ployee’s experience, level of responsibility and perfor-
mance.

 > Kvaerner offers employees the opportunity to impact 
their total compensation by rewarding performance 
and results and minimises the number on non-perfor-
mance related rewards.

 > Kvaerner focuses on leadership development and lead-
ership performance in order to offer a supportive 
working environment, encouraging open and direct dia-
logue.

Kvaerner’s performance management process is a pre-
requisite when considering the link between performance 
and pay. objectives are set and performance is measured 
on team and individual levels. the objectives are de-
termined on the basis of strategies and financial budgets. 
both personal behaviour and commercial dimensions are 
evaluated and measured. 

the performance dialogue is the key building block in 
the creation of a high performance culture. at least once a 
year, manager and employees evaluate the results 
achieved during the performance dialogue. the dialogue is 
an important arena for recognition, rewards, consideration 
of career development, and direction for potential individ-
ual performance improvements.

performance based pay is regarded as an attractive 
part of the total remuneration at Kvaerner. variable pay 
programmes are in place for different positions in the 
 organisation. annual variable pay is offered to middle 
management and key personnel. managers earn their 
 annual variable pay based on the commercial results for 
the units or projects they influence, and according to the 
extent they comply with Kvaerner’s values.

variable pay for senior executives is distributed over 
several years in order to encourage long-term achieve-

ment of financial results and a lasting employee relation-
ship. further details about the remuneration of senior ex-
ecutives are provided in note 9 salaries, wages and social 
security costs to the consolidated financial statements.

Research and development
Kvaerner’s innovation and technology development is 
founded on a broad and strong engineering community 
with hands-on experience, from project-driven engineering 
and project management through to procurement, 
 construction, commissioning and operations.

the ability to continuously develop new technology to 
meet the customers' needs and secure competitive advan-
tage is fundamental to Kvaerner. this ability will be 
 further strengthened going forward.

in 2011, the company’s intellectual property (ip) posi-
tion was further developed through new patent filings and 
granted applications. 

there has been no capitalisation related to development 
activities in 2011. noK 2.4 million has been expensed for 
research and development (noK 15 million in 2010) be-
cause the criteria for capitalisation were not met. there 
have not been any research and development costs paid 
by customers during the period.

technology development in Kvaerner is market-driven 
and cost-effective. it is often pursued in close cooperation 
with business partners and customers worldwide. 
financing is done through separate funding and/or by 
contributions from partners. Kvaerner’s engineering teams 
around the world are focused on understanding the local 
and global market challenges. these ensure cost effective 
technical solutions with focus on quality and safety. 
Kvaerner’s longstanding track record and experience from 
developing and qualifying solutions for the north sea will 
continue to be developed further and exported into global 
markets.

during 2011, north sea has developed a platform con-
cept that is relevant for the european offshore wind ener-
gy industry. the concept is based on the production of a 
lean, removable and competitive Kvaerner hvdC Converter 
unit (KCu). the Kvaerner Converter concept device can, by 
land-based completion and commissioning, be  wet-towed 
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to location and installed without offshore heavy-lifting.
Jackets has increased the focus on research and 

develop ment work to meet current and future market 
needs through continuous improvement and technology 
development. this work includes the efforts made towards 
offshore wind jackets. Jackets has also for several years 
worked with research & development activities targeting 
the challenges in arctic areas in close cooperation with 
research institutions, customers and contractors.

Concrete solutions had a number of projects related to 
material development through Concrete innovation Centre 
(Coin), a sfi programme (Centre for research-based 
 innovation) supported by the research Council of norway. 
the Coin programme will extend over several years, and 
has been granted support until 2014. the business area 
has had a special focus on the concrete structures exposed 
to ice scour, ductility of lightweight concrete and fibre-re-
inforced load-bearing structures. Kvaerner worked closely 
with customers and end users in norway, the usa and 
russia on these issues during 2011. Concrete solutions’ 
proprietary product development relates to shallow water 
structures in harsh arctic environments to enable all year 
drilling and ice protection of wells. 

Share and share capital
the main shareholder is aker Kværner holding as holding 
41.02 percent of the shares. there are 269 000 000 
shares issued and outstanding, all of which are of the 
same class and with equal voting and dividend rights. 
each share has a par value of noK 0.34. from listing to 
year-end, the share price decreased by 30 percent. the 
closing price was noK 9.75 on 30 december 2011. the 
company held no treasury shares at year-end. further in-
formation related to the share and shareholders can be 
found on page 80 of this annual report.

Acknowledgments
the board of directors wish to extend sincere thanks and 
appreciation to the management and workforce for the 
commitment shown during 2011. the new organisation is 
in place, and Kvaerner has plans to further strengthen the 
capabilities, capacity and delivery models in selected are-
as. the next step is to make sure that all parts of the or-
ganisation are fully aligned, ready for Kvaerner to take 
the concrete steps and actions necessary to reach their 
goals in the coming years.
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amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

Total revenue and other income 8  13 295  13 209 

materials, goods and services  (8 885)  (8 856)
salaries, wages and social security costs 9  (2 881)  (3 337)
other operating expenses 11  (456)  (528)
Total operating expenses  (12 222)  (12 721)
Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment  1 073  488 

depreciation 19  (51)  (54)
amortisation 20  (3)  - 
Operating profit  1 019  434 

financial income 12  68  47 
financial expenses 12  (167)  (60)
share of profit or loss of associated companies and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 22  (6)  (11)
profit/(loss) on foreign currency forward contracts 12  (11)  (6)
Profit before tax  903  404 

income tax expense 13  (344)  (330)
Profit for the year  559  74 

Profit for the period attributable to:
equity holders of the parent company 559 74
Profit for the year 559 74

basic and diluted earnings per share (noK) 6  2.08  0.28

the notes on pages 24 to 67 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement 01.01 - 31.12
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amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

Profit for the year  559  74 

Other comprehensive income
Cash flow hedges, net of tax 2  (8)
translation differences - equity-accounted investees  -  (1)
translation differences - foreign operations  14  2 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 16  (7)
Total comprehensive income for the year  575  67 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
equity holders of the parent company  575  67 
Total comprehensive income for the year  575  67

the notes on pages 24 to 67 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 01.01 - 31.12
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amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

Assets
Non-current assets
property, plant and equipment 19  468  357 
deferred tax assets 13  104  12 
intangible assets 20  1 186  1 189 
interest bearing receivables related parties 7  15  - 
investments in associated companies and jointly 
controlled entities 22  119  121 
other non-current assets 21  64  32 
Total non-current assets  1 956  1 711 

Current assets
Current tax assets   168  107 
trade and other receivables 14  2 135  3 641 
trade and other receivables related parties 7  121  327 
non interest-bearing receivables related parties 7  -  1 120 
interest-bearing receivables related parties 7 -  902 
interest-bearing loans related parties 7  25  - 
Cash in aker solutions cash pool arrangement 7  -  2 299 
Cash and cash equivalents 2 418  378 
Total current assets  4 867  8 774 
Total assets  6 823  10 485 

amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

Equity and liabilities
Equity
share capital  91 -
share premium  729 -
retained earnings  1 757 -
Combined equity from former parent  -  2 598 
other reserves  (132)  (139)
Total equity 6, 31  2 445  2 459 

Non-current liabilities
non-current interest-bearing liabilities 24  460  530 
employee benefits obligations 25  151  110 
deferred tax liabilities 13  10  75 
Total non-current liabilities  621  715 

Current liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities 24  8  18 
Current tax liabilities 13  257  - 
provisions 17  414  503 
trade and other payables 16  2 963  4 137 
trade and other payables related parties 7  115  392 
non interest-bearing liabilities related parties 7  -  2 261 
Total current liabilities  3 757  7 311 
Total liabilities  4 378  8 026 
Total liabilities and equity  6 823  10 485

the notes on pages 24 to 67 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 

fornebu, 19 march 2012
board of directors of Kværner asa

 Kjell inge røkke tore torvund bruno Weymuller lone fønss schrøder vibeke hammer madsen
 Chairman deputy Chairman director director director

 rune rafdal ståle Knoff Johansen bernt harald Kilnes Jan arve haugan
 director director director president & Ceo
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 01.01 - 31.12

amounts in noK million notes
number of 

shares
share 

capital
share 

premuim
Combined equity 

from parent
retained 
earnings

hedge 
reserve

Currency 
translation reserve

Total 
equity 2)

Equity as of 1 January 2010 1)  -  -  3 615  -  -  (132)  3 483 

profit for the period  -  -  74  -  -  -  74 
other comprehensive income  -  -  -  -  (8)  1  (7)
Total comprehensive income  -  -  74  -  (8)  1  67 
Changes in parent's investment  -  -  (1 091)  -  -  -  (1 091)
Equity as of 31 December 2010  -  -  2 598  -  (8)  (131)  2 459 

profit for the period - - 343 216 - -  559 
other comprehensive income - - - 9 2 5  16 
Total comprehensive income - - 343 225 2 5 575
Changes in parent's investment - - (589) - - - (589)
Separation from Aker Solutions on 7 July 2011 30 91 729 (2 352) 1 532 - - -
Equity as of 31 December 2011  269 000 000  91  729 -  1 757  (6)  (126)  2 445 

1)  reclassification of noK 36 million from currency translation reserve to combined equity from parent.
2) total equity is attributable to owners of the parent company as there are no non-controlling interests in the group.

the notes on pages 24 to 67 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

Cash flow from operating activities
profit/(loss) for the period  559  74 

Adjusted for:
income tax expense 13  344  330 
net interest cost  105  24 
unrealised (profit)/loss on foreign currency forward contracts 12  11  6 
depreciation and amortisation 19  54  54 
non-cash effects of corporate allocations -  143 
(profit)/loss from associated companies and jointly controlled entities 22  (6)  (11)
interest paid and received  11  (4)
income taxes paid  (281)  (471)
Changes in other net operating assets 272  (790)
Net cash from operating activities 8  1 069  (645)

Cash flow from investing activities
acquisition of property, plant and equipment 19  (163)  (10)
proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  1  3 
Change in long term investments with joint ventures  (44)  (19)
Change in other investments  (25) -
Net cash from investing activities  (231)  (26)

Cash flow from financing activities
net proceeds of external borrowings  460 -
net change in financial liabilities related parties  (821)  (836)
net equity contribution from/to the aker solutions group  (742)  1 185 
Net cash from financing activities  (1 103)  349 
effect of exchange rate changes on cash and bank equivalents  6  53 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and bank equivalents  (259)  (269)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  2 677  2 946 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 2 418  2 677 
of which is restricted cash 1)  22  214 

1) restricted cash includes inter alia cash in joint ventures where both partners must agree before use outside the joint venture.

Consolidated statement of cash flows 01.01 - 31.12
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Note 1  general information

Kværner asa, formerly fornebu newco as, was incorporated on 12 January 2011 and is domi-
ciled in norway. Kværner asa’s registered office address is snarøyveien 30, fornebu, norway.

Kværner asa was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of aker solutions asa (aker 
solutions) to be the parent company and owner of certain entities and operations within aker 
solutions’ energy development & services and process & Construction segments. 

as of 7 July 2011, aker solutions transferred certain activities and subsidiaries relating to its 
engineering, procurement & Construction (epC) businesses to Kværner asa. as a consideration, 
the shareholders in aker solutions received one share in Kværner asa for each share they owned 
in aker solutions asa. as of 8 July 2011, the shares of Kværner asa were listed on the oslo 
børs. 

Kværner asa (the «company») and its subsidiaries (together «Kvaerner» or the «group») is a 
 specialised provider of engineering, procurement and construction (epC) services for offshore 
platforms and onshore plants. refer to note 8 operating segments for further details.

Note 2  Basis of preparation

general
the consolidated financial statements of Kværner asa incorporate the financial statements of the 
company and its subsidiaries, and the group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled  entities 
and operations at 31 december 2011.

these consolidated financial statements include the results of the group’s businesses which were 
controlled by aker solutions until 7 July 2011.

Statement of compliance
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international 
 financial reporting standards (ifrs) as adopted by the european union, relevant interpretations 
and additional requirements following the norwegian accounting act as of 31 december 2011.

the consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors and president & 
Ceo as shown on the dated and signed balance sheet. 

the consolidated financial statements will be authorised by the annual general meeting on 12 
april 2012. until the latter date the board of directors have the authority to amend the financial 
statements.

Basis of measurement
the consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for deri-
vative financial instruments and defined benefit pension plan assets and liabilities which are 
 measured at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency
the consolidated financial statements are presented in norwegian Kroner (noK), which is 
Kværner asa’s functional currency

all financial information presented in noK has been rounded to the nearest million (noK million), 
except when otherwise indicated.

Note 3  Significant accounting policies

the accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
Business combinations
business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, 
which is the date on which control is transferred to the group. Control is the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Subsidiaries
subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. Control exists when the group has the power, 
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. 

the financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements 
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

Investments in associates
associates are those entities in which the group has significant influence, but not control, over 
the financial and operating policies. significant influence is presumed to exist when the group 
holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. 

investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognised initially 
at cost. 

the consolidated financial statements include the group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of equity accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting 
policies with those of the group, from the date that significant influence or joint control com-
mences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases. 

When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the 
 carrying amount of that interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced to zero, and 
further losses are not recognised except to the extent that the group has legal or constructive 
obligations or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

Jointly controlled entities
Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the group has joint control, 
established by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent of the venturers for 
 strategic, financial and operating decisions.

24
 Kvaerner group | Kværner asa | deClaration bY the board and president & Ceo | auditor's report |

 Contents   Kvaerner in brief   board of direCtors’ report   annual aCCounts   share information   Corporate governanCe  



investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method.

the consolidated financial statements include the group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of proportionately consolidated investees, after adjustments to align the 
accounting policies with those of the group, from the date that significant influence or joint 
 control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases.

Jointly controlled operations 
Jointly controlled operations involve the use of assets and other resources of the venturers 
 rather than the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity. each venturer uses its 
own assets and incurs liabilities which represent its own obligations under the agreement. the 
agreement also determines how the revenues are shared among the venturers. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and 
 expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated when preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and jointly 
 controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the entity. unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
 evidence of impairment.

Presentation of results
the purpose of the investment determines where its results are presented in profit or loss. When 
entities are formed to share risk in executing a project or are closely related to Kvaerner’s 
 operating activities, the share of the profit or loss is reported as part of other income in operating 
profit. share of the profit or loss on financial investments is reported as part of financial items.

Foreign currency 
Foreign currency transactions and balances
transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the 
group entities at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate on that date. non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at 
 historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate on the date of the 
transaction. non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated 
at fair value are translated according to the functional currency at the exchange rates on the date 
the fair value was determined.

foreign exchange differences arising from retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for 
the differences arising from the retranslation of qualifying cash flow hedges (to the extent that 
the hedge is effective), which are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Foreign operations
items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. the results and 
 financial position of all group entities that have a functional currency different from the group’s 
presentation currency are translated to the group’s presentation currency of noK as follows: 

 > assets and liabilities, including goodwill and applicable consolidation adjustments, for each 
balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate on the date of that balance sheet. 

 >  income and expenses for each income statement are translated at the average exchange rates 
for the year, calculated on the basis of 12 monthly rates.

foreign exchange differences arising from this translation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, and presented as a separate component in equity.

exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are 
included in other comprehensive income as a translation reserve. these translation differences 
are reclassified to the income statement upon disposal of the related operations.

exchange differences arising from non-current monetary receivable or payable by a foreign 
 operation where settlement is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future forms part of 
the net investment in that entity and are recognised in other comprehensive income. these trans-
lation differences are reclassified to the income statement upon disposal of the related opera-
tions or when settlement of the receivable or payable is planned or is considered likely in the 
foreseeable future.

FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS

Financial assets
the group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they originate. all other 
 financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, being the date that the group becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the group 
has substantially transferred all risks and rewards of ownership.

financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented only when the group has 
the legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

the group classifies its financial assets according to the following categories: at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available for sale. the classification depends on the 
 purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. management determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
a financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for 
 trading or is designated as such on initial recognition. financial assets are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss if the group manages such investments and makes purchase and sale 
 decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the group’s documented risk management 
or investment strategy.

financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, 
with transaction costs expensed in profit or loss as incurred, and are subsequently carried at fair 
value with any changes therein recognised in profit or loss.
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the group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise derivative financial 
 instruments which are not designated as hedges.

Loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. 

loans and receivables initially recognised at fair value, plus any attributable transaction costs, 
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impair-
ment losses.

the group’s loans and receivables comprise «trade and other receivables» in the balance sheet.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits held at banks and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturity of three months or less. restricted cash is 
mainly cash tied up in projects through joint ventures with external parties. the amounts fluc tuate 
with the projects’ life cycle and are usually released when the project is delivered or close to 
 delivery. 

Available-for-sale
available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in 
this category or not classified in any of the other categories. 

available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, plus any attributable 
transaction costs, and are subsequently carried at fair value with any changes therein recognised 
in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. if fair value is 
lower than book value and the fall in value is significant or long term, then impairment will be 
recognised in the income statement. 

Financial liabilities 
the group initially recognises financial liabilities on the trade-date, being the date that the group 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. financial liabilities are derecog-
nised when the group’s contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expire. 

the group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. 
such financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, less any attributable transaction 
costs, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

the group’s other financial liabilities comprise interest-bearing liabilities, bank overdrafts and 
trade and other payables in the balance sheet.
 
Derivative financial instruments 
the group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risks 
arising from operational, financial and investment activities. 

embedded derivatives may exist where commercial contracts are to be settled in a currency dif-
ferent from the functional currency of the contracting parties, typically for the group’s activities 
in countries that do not have an international convertible currency, or where customers wish to 
use foreign currency settlements as part of their own hedging strategy.

embedded foreign exchange derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for 
separately if the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded deriv-
ative are not closely related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded deriva-
tive would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss.

all derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. the gain or loss on re-measurement of 
the group’s embedded derivatives and other derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends 
on the nature of the item being hedged.

Hedging activities
Kvaerner may engage in three different types of hedging relationships:

 >  hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognised liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction with variability in cash flows (cash flow hedge).

 >  hedges of the fair value of assets or liabilities (fair value hedge).
 >  hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

on initial designation of the derivative as a hedging instrument, the group formally documents 
the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including the risk manage-
ment objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together 
with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship.

the group makes an assessment, at inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging 
instruments are expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash 
flows, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80 percent to 125 
 percent. for a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly pro-
bable to  occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flows that ultimately could 
 affect reported profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges
the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify 
as a cash flow hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and presented as a hedge 
 reserve in equity. any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recog-
nised immediately in profit or loss within financial income and expenses. the amount accumulat-
ed in hedge reserves is reclassified as profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects 
profit or loss. 

hedge accounting is discontinued when the group revokes the hedging relationship, or when the 
hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge 
accounting. any cumulative gain or loss deferred in comprehensive income as a hedge reserve at 
that time remains in the hedge reserve and is recognised in the income statement when the fore-
cast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is 
no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in the hedge reserve is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Fair value hedges
the change in fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss together with 
any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged 
risk. the gain or loss relating to the effective portion of hedging instrument is recognised in profit 
or loss within financial items. the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised in 
profit or loss within other gains or losses. 

if the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying 
amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or 
loss over the period to maturity.

Net investment hedge
gains or losses arising from the hedging instruments relating to the effective portions of the net 
investment hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented within currency 
translation reserve in equity. these translation reserves are reclassified as profit or loss upon 
disposal of the hedged net investments, offsetting the translation differences from these net in-
vestments. any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss within financial 
items. 

gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the income statement when the foreign 
operation is partially disposed of or sold.

Revenue recognition
Engineering and construction contracts 
revenues from contracts to provide construction, engineering, design or similar services are 
 recognised using the percentage of completion method, based primarily on contract costs 
 incurred to date compared to estimated total contract costs. 

When the final outcome of a contract cannot be reliably estimated, contract revenue is recognised 
only to the extent costs incurred are expected to be recoverable. the revenue recognised in one peri-
od will be the revenues attributable to the period’s progress and the progress to date effect of any 
changes to the estimated final outcome. losses on contracts are fully recognised when identified.

Contract revenues include variation orders and incentive bonuses when it is probable that they 
will result in revenue that can be measured reliably. disputed amounts and claims are recognised 
when it is probable the customer will accept the claim and the amount can be measured reliably. 
Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific contract and allocated costs that 
are attributable to general contract activity. Costs that cannot be attributed to contract activity 
are expensed as incurred. 

bidding costs are capitalised when it is probable that the company will be chosen as a party to 
the resulting customer contract. all other bidding costs are expensed as incurred. 

see note 4 accounting estimates and judgements’ for further details of revenue recognition 
 criteria in respect of engineering and construction contracts.

goods sold and other services rendered
revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of owner-
ship have been transferred to the buyer, which is usually when goods are shipped to customers. 

revenue from other services rendered is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion of 
the transaction at the balance sheet date, or is invoiced based on hours performed at agreed 
rates. the stage of completion is normally assessed based on the proportion of costs incurred for 
work performed to date compared to the estimated total contract costs. 

no revenue is recognised if there is significant uncertainty regarding recovery of consideration due. 

When the group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in the transaction, 
the revenue recognised is the net amount earned by the group.

Other income
share of profit from associated companies and jointly controlled operations, to the extent that 
these investments are related to the group’s operating activities, is included in other income 
within operating profit, along with gains and losses related to the sale of operating assets.

Financial income and expenses
financial income and finance costs comprise interest receivable on funds invested, dividend 
 income, foreign exchange gains and losses, interest payable on borrowings calculated using the 
effective interest rate method, fair value gains or losses on financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, gains or losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss and re-
classification of amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income. 

foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Income tax
income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. income tax is recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehen-
sive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years. Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising 
from the declaration of dividends.

deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
deferred tax is not recognised for: 

 >  goodwill not deductible for tax purposes.
 >  the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit.
 >  differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.
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deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 
same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities 
and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

a deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilised. deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are re-
duced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Property, plant and equipment
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. the cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, interest 
cost on qualifying assets, an appropriate proportion of production overheads, and, where rele-
vant, the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which 
they are located. 

Where components of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
 accounted for as separate components.

Subsequent costs
the group capitalises the cost of a replacement part or a component of property, plant and equip-
ment when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with 
the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. all other costs 
are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation
depreciation expense is recognised on a straight line basis based upon the cost of an asset less 
any residual value over the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment. 

Intangible assets
goodwill
goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group’s 
share of the net identifiable assets. Where the fair value of net assets acquired exceeds consider-
ation paid, the resulting gain arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the income state-
ment. goodwill on the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented within intangible assets. 

acquisitions of equity accounted investees do not result in goodwill as the full cost of acquisition 
is included in the carrying value of the investment.

goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses (see impairment). gains and losses 
on the disposal of an entity or an interest in an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill 
relating to the ownership interest sold. 

Research and development
expenditures on research activities undertaken with the prospect of obtaining new scientific or 
technical knowledge and understanding is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

expenditures on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or de-
sign for the production of new or substantially improved products and processes, is capitalised if 
the product or process is technically and commercially feasible as well as being a separable asset. 
Capitalised costs include the cost of materials, external contractors, direct labour and capitalised 
interest on qualifying assets arising. other development expenditures are recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred. 

Capitalised development expenditures are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and im-
pairment losses.

Subsequent expenditures
subsequent expenditures on capitalised intangible assets are capitalised only when they increase 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which they relate. all other expen-
ditures are expensed as incurred.

Amortisation
except for goodwill, intangible assets, all of which have finite useful lives, are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, from the date they are available for use.

Construction work in progress
Construction work in progress represents the value of construction work performed less pay-
ments by customers. the value of construction work performed is measured at revenue recog-
nised to date less progress billings and recognised losses. if payments by customers exceed rev-
enues recognised, then the difference is presented as advances from customers.

IMPAIRMENT

Financial assets 
the group recognises impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost, including trade 
receivables, when there is objective evidence that it will be unable to recover balances in full. 
balances are written off when the probability of recovery is assessed as being remote. 

Non-financial assets
the carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, deferred tax 
assets and employee benefit assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to deter-
mine whether there is any indication of impairment. if any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

an impairment loss is recognised if the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit (Cgu) 
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount
the recoverable amount of an asset or a Cgu is the greater of their net selling price and value in 
use. in assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
 value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or Cgu. 

for the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 
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assets that generate cash flows independently of other assets or Cgus. subject to the operating 
segment limit, Cgus to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that the level at 
which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored 
for internal reporting purposes.

goodwill is allocated to groups of Cgus that are expected to benefit from the business combina-
tion in which goodwill arose. 

Impairment loss recognition
impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. impairment losses recognised in respect of 
Cgus are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the Cgu (or 
group of Cgus) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other non-financial assets in the 
Cgu (or group of Cgus) on a pro rata basis.

Reversals of impairment
an impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed. an impairment loss on other assets is reversed if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
 exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Provisions
a provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the group has a present obligation as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that the group will be required to settle the obligation and the 
amount can be reliably estimated. provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a market based pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and, where appropriate, the liability-specific risks. the unwinding of the discount 
is recognised as a finance cost.

Warranties
a provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. the 
provision is based on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against 
their associated probabilities.

Onerous contracts
a provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the 
group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations under the 
contract.

Leases
payments made under an operating lease are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the 
total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance 
expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. the finance expense is allocated to each 
period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability.

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense 
in the profit or loss as incurred.

Defined benefit plans
the group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for 
each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for 
their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present 
value, and the fair value of plan assets is deducted. the discount rate is the yield at the balance 
sheet date on government bonds or high-quality corporate bonds with maturities consistent with 
the terms of the obligations. the calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
 projected unit credit method.

When the benefits of a plan to employees are increased, the portion of the increased benefit re-
lating to past service by employees is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. to the extent that the benefits 
vest immediately, an expense is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

to the extent that any subsequent cumulative unrecognised actuarial gain or loss exceeds ten 
percent of the greater of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of 
plan assets, that portion is recognised in profit or loss over the expected average remaining 
working lives of the employees participating in the plan. otherwise, the actuarial gain or loss is 
not recognised.

When the actuarial calculation results in a benefit to the group, the recognised asset is limited to 
the net total of any unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and the present value of 
any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Employee share purchase programme
as of 2009, aker solutions has offered employees the option to buy shares in aker solutions at a 
discount through a share purchase programme. the share purchases were subsidised by aker 
 solutions and follow tax regulations related to tax-free subsidised shares. employees who keep 
their shares and who remains employed by the aker solutions group throughout the period of the 
running programme (2.5 years) are entitled to a bonus share award whereby they will receive 
free of charge one bonus share for every second share purchased under the scheme.

Kvaerner has undertaken to give cash compensation to employees who were transferred from 
aker solutions to Kvaerner and were entitled to bonus shares in the aker solutions programme.
the value of the bonus shares is expensed over the service period based on the fair value of 
each award, adjusted for estimated forfeitures. 
 
Carve-out adjustments prior to 7 July 2011
prior to 7 July 2011, the epC businesses transferred to the Kvaerner group did not constitute a 
reportable segment within the aker solutions group. Consequently, Kvaerner’s combined financial 
information prior to 7 July 2011 was extracted from the consolidated financial statements of 
aker solutions. 
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entities which were designated as being part of the Kvaerner business and which were controlled 
by aker solutions prior to 7 July 2011 have been included fully in the combined financial infor-
mation prepared prior to that date.

significant principles that were used to prepare the combined financial information for the 
Kvaerner group and key adjustments made in the preparation were as follows:

Corporate and other shared costs
the combined financial information includes Kvaerner’s direct expenses as well as allocations 
arising from certain shared expenses including office facilities, and management fees covering 
costs related to corporate services provided centrally, such as tax, legal, treasury, compliance, 
business development, insurance, staffing, risk management, it support and corporate accounting 
services. excluded from corporate allocations and other shared costs were certain shareholder 
expenses incurred due to aker solutions’ listing on the oslo børs.

allocations were made based upon an appropriate allocation method depending upon the nature 
of the costs. headcount, square meters, revenues and operating profit were some of the variables 
used to perform such allocations.

in some cases, the allocation of corporate and shared costs included a small profit margin. how-
ever, the over and under recovery of such costs was allocated back to the businesses using an 
appropriate allocation method.

Kvaerner believes that while the basis for allocating such costs is reasonable, the amounts may 
not be representative of the costs necessary for Kvaerner to operate as a separate stand-alone 
entity.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents represent cash balances held by Kvaerner businesses and are included 
in the combined financial information. aker solutions operated a centralised cash management 
system. 

Cash and cash equivalent balances for Kvaerner on deposit with aker solutions’ treasury are 
 presented as a separate line item on the face of the balance sheet under current assets. likewise 
overdrafts with aker solutions’ treasury are presented under current liabilities. interest income 
was earned based upon the base rate of the cash pool bank.

Related party borrowings and deposits
Kvaerner was financed through borrowings from aker solutions centralised treasury system. 
Kvaerner had no outstanding external borrowings.

interest expense charged to Kvaerner on a monthly basis for all financial periods is presented 
based on aker solutions’ external financing costs adjusted for the business units calculated risk 
margin which was based upon gearing levels, country risk and loan term. interest income was 
earned based on interbank deposit rates.

Hedge accounting
aker solutions has a centralised policy for its subsidiaries to hedge any foreign currency expo-
sure centrally with its treasury department. historically, the effects of certain hedge accounting 

transactions at the aker solutions group level have not been allocated back to its individual 
 businesses.

for the purpose of presenting the combined financial information, the effects of all hedging 
transactions related to Kvaerner were allocated to Kvaerner. 

Pension costs
all norwegian employees in Kvaerner participated in a defined benefit plan or a defined contri-
bution plan covering aker solutions employees. for the defined benefit plans, the service cost 
that was previously charged to legal entities and other components of aker solutions’ net pension 
cost were included within the combined financial information.

the pension liabilities and pension assets associated with Kvaerner employees (including retired 
plan members) were included within the combined financial information. 

Income taxes
through 7 July 2011 the provision for income taxes was calculated from aker solutions’ consoli-
dated financial information including allocations and eliminations deemed necessary by manage-
ment as though the Kvaerner legal entities and business filed their own tax returns using the 
«separate return method». 

Certain Kvaerner legal entities and business units did not file separate tax returns but rather 
were included in the income tax returns filed by aker solutions and its subsidiaries in norway 
and foreign jurisdictions. the provision for income taxes prior to 7 July 2011 was impacted by 
aker solutions worldwide tax structure and strategies, which were designed to optimise an over-
all tax position and not necessarily that for the Kvaerner’s businesses.

under the separate return method, differences between tax expenses or benefits were calculated 
on a separate return basis, and cash paid or received by the legal entities was treated as a contri-
bution to capital to the extent it was net paid or received by Kvaerner entities. the income tax 
balance sheet for these legal entities was also calculated on a separate return basis, reflecting the 
tax effect of the difference between the amounts recognised in the financial information and the 
tax base of assets, liabilities and loss carry forwards that remained with Kvaerner. 

Family Venture Projects
some customer projects, particularly in norway, were executed utilising a «family ventures» con-
cept. on a family ventures project, the total contract revenues are divided between the different 
aker solutions business units performing the work for the customer. revenues and expenses 
 related to each business unit’s scope of work are recognised within the unit as progress is 
 completed. typically, there is a profit sharing agreement between legal entities which shares the 
result of the total outcome of the project between legal entities. 

however, in certain cases, the amount of revenues and costs allocated per legal entity was 
adjusted for management reporting purposes when management determined that the family 
venture allocation as reflected in the intercompany agreement did not accurately represent the 
substance of the project outcome for aker solutions’ operating segment reporting purposes. the 
effects of such adjustments were allocated to Kvaerner based upon its relative share of the 
projects.
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Other project allocations
as part of the reorganisation certain contracts or portions of contracts that historically were 
served by entities remaining within aker solutions may ultimately be assigned to Kvaerner. these 
contracts were excluded from the combined financial information to the extent that the historical 
business of Kvaerner did not include these activities.

Transfer of employees
approximately 540 employees were transferred from aker solutions to Kvaerner as part of the 
re-organisation in addition to those transferred with legal entities. most of these employees per-
form engineering or project management services.

for approximately 400 employees, the revenues and costs are clearly allocable to Kvaerner and 
were included in the combined financial information. for the remaining employees, an allocation 
of revenues and costs was made to Kvaerner based upon utilisation rates and estimates of reve-
nues and costs. Kvaerner believes that these estimates represent a reasonable allocation of the 
activities of these employees for the periods presented.

pension liabilities and other employee accruals were allocated based on amounts calculated in 
2010. 

Internal transactions and contracts
Contracts between aker solutions and Kvaerner entities were generally recognised in the group 
financial statements as if they were contracts with unrelated parties on an arm’s-length basis. 
receivables and payables with aker solutions as the counterparty were presented separately 
classified as due to/from related parties in the group balance sheet. all intercompany transactions 
and balances between Kvaerner group components were eliminated in combination. 

goodwill 
included within the group financial statements is goodwill associated with cash generating units 
that are components of Kvaerner. goodwill was historically monitored at the segment level for 
aker solutions. goodwill in aker solutions’ operating segments which included the Kvaerner 
 businesses (ed&s and p&C) was allocated to Kvaerner based upon their relative fair values as of 
31 december 2010. this was subsequently allocated to Kvaerner’s new operating segments after 
7 July 2011.

Equity
equity balances in the combined financial statements prior to 7 July 2011 included other chang-
es in aker solutions’ investment in Kvaerner such as the effect of intercompany dividends, inter-
company contributions and other intercompany allocations settled through equity. 

New Standards and interpretations not yet adopted
a number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been published, 
but are not yet effective and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements. the following new standards and amendments may potentially have an impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the group when adopted:

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements, effective for annual reporting periods beginning from 1 January 
2013, replaces ias 31 interests in joint ventures and removes the choice of equity or proportion-
ate consolidation accounting for jointly controlled entities, and so may lead to some interests in 

such arrangements held by the group being equity accounted rather than proportionately 
 consolidated.

IAS 19 Employee benefits amendments, effective for annual reporting periods beginning from 
1 January 2013, require immediate recognition of actuarial gains and losses in other com-
prehensive income and eliminate the corridor method and requires net interest income or 
expense  calculations to use the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit asset or 
liability.

the group does not plan to early adopt these new standards and amendments, and the extent of 
the impact has not yet been determined.

Note 4  Accounting estimates and judgments

the preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make judg-
ments, estimates and assumptions that affect the group’s reported revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities. actual results may differ from these estimates. estimates and underlying assumptions 
are continuously reviewed, based on historical experiences and expectations of future events. 
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised 
and in any future periods affected. 

assumptions and estimation uncertainties that may impact the next financial year are detailed below.

Revenue recognition
the percentage-of-completion method is used to account for construction contracts. this method 
requires estimates of the final revenue and costs of the contract, as well as measurement of pro-
gress achieved to date as a proportion of the total work to be performed. 

the main uncertainty when assessing contract revenue is related to recoverable amounts from 
variation orders, claims and incentive payments which are recognised when, in the group’s judg-
ment, it is probable that they will result in revenue and are reliably measurable. this assessment 
is adjusted upon management’s evaluation of liquidated damages to be imposed by customers 
typically relating to contractual delivery terms. in many projects there are frequent changes in 
scope of work resulting in a number of variation orders. normally the contracts with customers 
include procedures for presentation of an agreement of variation orders. at any point in time, 
there will be unapproved variation orders and claims included in the project revenue where re-
covery is assessed as probable and other criteria are met. even though management has exten-
sive experience in assessing the outcome of such negotiations, uncertainties exist. 

Cost to complete depends on productivity factors and the cost of inputs. Weather conditions, the 
performance of subcontractors and others with an impact on schedules, commodity prices and 
currency rates can all affect cost estimates. experience, systematic use of the project execution 
model and focus on core competencies reduces but do not eliminate the risk that estimates may 
change significantly. a risk contingency is included in project cost based on the risk register that 
is prepared for every project and is updated throughout the project as contingencies lapse or new 
contingencies are identified.
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progress measurement based on costs has an inherent risk related to the cost estimate as de-
scribed above. in situations where cost is not seen to properly reflect actual progress, alternative 
measures such as hours or plan progress are used to achieve more precise revenue recognition. 
the estimation uncertainty during the early stages of a contract is mitigated by a policy of 
 normally not recognising revenue in excess of costs on large projects before the contract reaches 
20 percent completion.

in the group’s view, the following projects are subject to estimation uncertainty, the outcome of 
which could have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements:

Longview
Kvaerner north american Construction inc, a subsidiary of Kvaerner, has initiated arbitration 
against both longview and foster Wheeler north america Corp, the supplier of the boiler for the 
longview project. Kvaerner north american Construction inc experienced an increase in the cost 
of construction of the project from a number of causes, including force majeure events, changes 
to the project, and third party actions in furnishing engineering services, equipment and materi-
als, all of which have directly and adversely impacted north american Construction inc's project 
work. the arbitration is intended to recover excess construction costs and other damages 
 incurred by Kvaerner north american Construction inc in execution of the project. 

there are still substantial uncertainties with respect to the final financial outcome of the project.

Nordsee Ost
in 2010, a subsidiary of Kvaerner entered into a contract with rWei for the delivery of 48 
 jackets for windmill turbines and one jacket for a transformer station for the nordsee ost 
Windmill farm. the Kvaerner subsidiary has requested to be compensated for additional costs 
and schedule impacts of various changes to the scope of work and associated matters. the 
parties are in disagreement about the scope of these changes and the related consequences or 
the financial and schedule consequences associated therewith. the dispute is being prepared for 
arbitration. 

Warranties
a provision is made for expected warranty expenditures. the warranty period is normally two 
years. based on experience, the provision is often set at one percent of the contract value, but 
can also be a higher or lower amount following a specific evaluation of the actual circumstances 
for each contract. both the general one percent provision and the evaluation of project specific 
circumstances are based on experience from earlier projects. factors that could affect the 
 estimated warranty cost include the group’s quality initiatives and project execution model. 
 reference is made to note 17 provisions for further information about provisions for warranty 
expenditures on delivered projects. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
at every balance sheet date, the group considers whether there are indications of impairment on 
the book values of long-term assets. if such indications exist, a valuation is performed to assess 
whether or not the asset should be impaired. such valuations will often have to be based on 
 estimates of future results for a number of cash flow generating units. references are made to 
note 19 property, plant and equipment and note 20 intangible assets.

goodwill
in accordance with the stated accounting policy, the group tests annually whether goodwill has 
suffered any impairment or more frequently if impairment indicators are identified. the recover-
able amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations, 
which require the use of estimates and judgments. further details about assumptions used for 
value in use calculations to support carrying value of goodwill are included in note 20 intangible 
assets.

Income taxes
the group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. significant judgement is required 
to determine the worldwide provision for income taxes. there are many transactions and calcula-
tions for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of busi-
ness. provisions for anticipated tax audit issues are based on estimates of eventual additional 
taxes. 

income tax expense is calculated based on reported income in the different legal entities. 
 deferred income tax expense is calculated based on the differences between the assets' carrying 
value for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax basis that are considered tempo-
rary in nature. 

the total amount of income tax expense and allocation between current and deferred income tax 
requires management's interpretation of complex tax laws and regulations in the many tax juris-
dictions where Kvaerner operates. valuation of deferred tax assets is dependent on manage-
ment's assessment of future recoverability of the deferred benefit. expected recoverability may 
result from expected taxable income in the near future, planned transactions or planned tax 
 optimising measures. economic conditions may change and lead to a different conclusion regard-
ing recoverability, and such change may affect the results for each reporting period. 

tax authorities in different jurisdictions may challenge calculation of taxes payable from prior 
periods. such processes may lead to changes to prior periods' taxable income, resulting in 
changes to income tax expense in the period of change. during the period when tax authorities 
may challenge the taxable income, management is required to make estimates of the probability 
and size of possible tax adjustments. such estimates may change as additional information 
becomes known. further details about income taxes are included in note 13 tax.

Pension benefits
the present value of pension obligations depends on a number of factors determined on the  basis 
of actuarial assumptions. these assumptions include financial factors such as the discount rate, 
expected salary growth, inflation and return on assets as well as demographical factors concern-
ing mortality, employee turnover, disability and early retirement. assumptions about all these 
factors are based on the situation at the time the assessment is made. however, it is reasonably 
certain that such factors will change over the very long periods for which pension calculations 
are made. any changes in these assumptions will affect the calculated pension obligations. the 
effect on the accounts of such changes is, however, spread over relatively long time periods by 
the use of the corridor approach, where changes are amortised over many years. further 
 information about the pension obligations and the assumptions used are included in note 25 
 employee benefits – pension.
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Note 5  Financial risk management and exposures

Financial risks
the group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: currency risk, interest rate risk, price risk, 
credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk. market risk affects the value of financial instruments 
held. the objective of financial risk management is to manage and control financial risk exposure 
and thereby increase the predictability and minimise the potential adverse effects on the group’s 
financial performance. the group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk 
exposure and applies hedge accounting in order to reduce volatility when it comes to profit or 
loss. 
  
until the demerger on 7 July 2011, financial risk management activities were carried out by aker 
solutions Corporate treasury department on the group's behalf. following the demerger, the 
group is responsible for its own financial risk management activities, though treasury 
management services continue to be provided by aker solutions under the transitional services 
agreement (note 7 related parties). the group's approach to risk management includes 
identifying, evaluating and managing risk in all activities using a top-down approach with the 
purpose of avoiding sub-optimization and utilising correlations observed from a group 
perspective.
      
risk management is present in every project and is the responsibility of the project managers in 
cooperation with Corporate treasury to identify, evaluate and hedge financial risk under policies 
approved by the board of directors. the group has well-established principles for overall risk 
management, as well as policies for the use of derivatives and financial investments. there have 
been no changes in these policies during the year. 

Currency risk
the group operates internationally and is exposed to currency risk on commercial transactions, 
recognised assets and liabilities. Commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are 
subject to currency risk when payments are denominated in a currency other than the respective 
functional currency of the group company. the group's exposure to currency risk is primarily 
 related to usd, KZt, rub and eur but it is also exposed to several other currencies on a smaller 
scale.
        
the group's policy requires its companies to hedge their entire currency risk exposure in any 
 project using forward contracts and currency options. the group's treasury department manages 
internal exposures by entering into external forward contracts or currency options. the group has 
a large number of contracts involving foreign currency exposures and the currency risk policy 
has been well-established for many years under the ownership of the aker solutions group prior 
to the demerger.

for segment reporting purposes, each business unit designates all currency hedge contracts with 
Corporate treasury as cash flow hedges. external foreign exchange contracts are designated at 
group level as hedges of currency risk on a gross basis. more than 80 percent of these hedges are 
done back-to-back and qualify for hedge accounting. When hedges do not qualify for hedge 
 accounting in the external reporting, a correction is performed at group level and is included in 
the «unallocated» part of the segment reporting. see note 18 derivative financial instruments for 
information regarding the accounting treatment of hedging and embedded derivatives.

The group's exposure to the main foreign currencies

2011

amounts in million rub usd eur KZt

Cash 438  93  26  1 600 
related party foreign currency loans -  2  -  - 
Balance sheet exposure  438  95  26  1 600 
estimated forecast receipts from customers -  12  25  - 
estimated forecast payments to vendors -  (10)  (39)  - 
Cash flow exposure -  2  (14)  - 
forward exchange contracts -  (62)  39  - 
Net exposure  438 35  51  1 600 

2010

amounts in million rub usd eur KZt

Cash 82  27  39  624 
related party foreign currency loans -  (1)  -  - 
Balance sheet exposure  82  26  39  624 
estimated forecast receipts from customers -  -  157  - 
estimated forecast payments to vendors -  (33)  (198)  - 
Cash flow exposure -  (33)  (41)  - 
forward exchange contracts -  29  36  - 
Net exposure 82  22  34  624 

estimated forecasted receipts and payments in the table above are calculated based on the 
group's hedge transactions through the Corporate treasury. these are considered to be the best 
estimate of the currency exposure given that all currency exposure is hedged, in accordance with 
the group's policy. the net exposure is managed by Corporate treasury. Corporate treasury is 
allowed to hold positions within an approved trading mandate. this mandate is closely monitored 
and reviewed by group management. 
      
a foreign currency sensitivity analysis indicates that changes in the foreign currency rates have 
only minor effects on equity and profit and loss. a ten percent weakening of the noK against the 
currencies listed below as of 31 december would have increased (decreased) equity and profit 
and loss by the amounts shown in the table below. the selected rate of ten percent reflects the 
recent years' changes in currency rates. Changes in currency rates change the values of hedging 
derivatives. hedges that qualify for hedge accounting are reported in the profit and loss 
according to the progress of projects. the deferred value of the hedging derivative is reported as 
hedging reserve in equity. any changes to currency rates will therefore affect equity.
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the value of hedging instruments that do not qualify for hedge-accounting can not be deferred 
from profit and loss. Changes in profit and loss are based on changes in fair values of the hedges 
that do not qualify for hedge-accounting and any ineffectiveness in hedges that are hedge-
accounted. the analysis includes only project-related items and assumes that all other variables, 
in particular interest rates, remain constant. Calculations are based on amounts and foreign 
currency exchange rates as of 31 december. the analysis is performed on the same basis as it 
was for 2010.

although hedge accounting is not applied to all foreign exchange contracts, these contracts are 
still economically hedged. the effect on profit and loss under financial items in the table below 
will have an opposite effect on future operating income or expense as progress on projects 
increases. equity in the table on the next page is the hedge reserve that follows from the cash 
flow hedges.

2011 2010
amounts in noK million profit before tax equity 1) profit before tax equity 1)

usd  (37)  - 15 -
eur 31 15  26 32
KZt  6  -  2  - 
rub  8  -  2  - 

1) the effects to equity that follow directly from the effects to profit and loss are not included.

a 10 percent strengthening of the noK against the above currencies as of 31 december would 
have had the equal but opposite effect on the above amounts, on the basis that all other 
variables remain constant. the sensitivity analysis does not include effects on the consolidated 
result and equity from changed exchange rates used for consolidation of foreign subsidiaries.

the primary currency-related risk is the risk of reduced competitiveness abroad in the case of a 
strengthened noK. this risk relates to future commercial contracts and is not included in the 
 sensitivity analysis above.

Translation exposure
translation exposure occurs when foreign operations are translated for inclusion in the financial 
statements of the Kvaerner group.

the group has several investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign 
currency translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the group’s foreign 
operations is normally only hedged to the extent of agreed future payments.

Significant exchange rates applied for group consolidation

average rate Closing rate
Currency 2011 2010 2011 2010

usd 5.615 6.074 6.004 5.851
Cad 5.665 5.869 5.884 5.861
eur 7.799 8.049 7.769 7.819
KZt 0.038 0.041 0.040 0.040
rub 0.190 0.199 0.187 0.191

the next table illustrates the group's exposure to translation risk. had the norwegian currency 
depreciated by 10 percent during 2011, the consolidated statement would be affected by the 
changes in the table. a 10 percent appreciation would have had an equal but opposite effect. the 
sensitivity analysis is only a translation sensitivity and does not reflect changes in competitive-
ness, derivatives or other effects from currency fluctuations. sensitivity analysis per currency has 
been made, however the total result is given in the table:  

2011
10% depreciation of noK Change

amounts in 
noK million revenue ebitda equity revenue ebitda equity revenue ebitda equity

Total 13 295 1 073 2 455 14 066 1 168 2 523  770  93  69 

2010
10% depreciation of noK Change

amounts in 
noK million revenue ebitda equity revenue ebitda equity revenue ebitda equity

Total 13 209 488 2 459 13 654 449 2 510 445 (38) 51

Interest rate risk
the group’s interest rate risk arises from interest bearing liabilities with related parties and 
 external loans. interest bearing liabilities issued at variable rates expose the group to cash flow 
 interest rate risk. 

an increase of 100 basis points in interest rates during 2011 would have increased (decreased) 
equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown in the table on the next page. a decrease of 100 
basis points would have had an equal but oppsite effect. this analysis assumes that all other 
 variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. the analysis is  performed on the 
same basis as for2010. 
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amounts in noK million 2011 2010

Cash and cash equivalents  24  27 
interest-bearing receivables related parties  -  9 
interest-bearing loans to related parties  - -
interest-bearing liabilities related parties  -  (5)
external loan  (5) -
Cash flow sensitivity (net)  20  30 

Price risk
the group is exposed to fluctuations in market prices in the operating businesses related to indi-
vidual contracts, including changes in market price for raw materials, equipment and develop-
ment in wages. these risks are managed in the bid process by locking in committed prices from 
vendors as a basis for offers to customers or through escalation clauses with customers. 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if customer or counterparty to financial invest-
ments/instruments fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from external 
receivables. derivatives are only traded against approved banks, through the treasury depart-
ment. all approved banks are participants in the group's loan syndicate and have the highest 
 ratings at moody's and s&p. Credit risk related to derivatives is therefore considered to be 
 insignificant.          
  
assessment of credit risk related to customers and subcontractors is an important requirement in 
the bid phase and throughout the contract period. such assessments are based on credit ratings, 
income statement and balance sheet reviews and on using credit assessment tools available (e.g. 
dun & bradstreet and Credit Watch). sales to customers are settled in cash. 
  
based on estimates of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables, the group estab-
lishes a provision for impairment. provisions for loss on debtors are based on individual assess-
ments. provisions for loss on receivables are low, and there are no historical losses of any signifi-
cance. revenues are mainly related to large and long-term projects closely followed up in terms 
of payments up front and in accordance with agreed milestones. normally, lack of payment is due 
to disagreements related to project deliveries and is solved together with the client or escalated 
to the local authority. the customers are mainly large and highly reputable oil companies with a 
low credit risk, which reduces the credit risk significantly. based on the above, the group's credit 
risk is considered to be limited. 
       
on the balance sheet date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. the maximum 
exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date equals the book value of each category’s financial 
assets; see carrying amounts in note 26 financial instruments. the group does not hold collateral 
as security.

Liquidity risk
liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associ-
ated with its financial liabilities. the group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity reserves to meet its liabilities when due. the 
nature of the group's business dictates a close monitoring of liquidity. payment from customers 
are often up-front and involve large sums of cash. 

prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of fund-
ing from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market 
positions. due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Corporate treasury maintains 
flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines, see note 24 
interest- bearing liabilities.

management monitors rolling weekly and monthly forecasts of the group’s liquidity reserve on 
the basis of expected cash flow. for information regarding capital expenditures and net operating 
assets, see note 8 segment information. 
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Financial liabilities and the period in which they are mature

2011

amounts in noK million note book value
Total undiscounted 

cash flow 1) 6 mths and less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years

interest-bearing liabilities 24  (460)  (553)  (12)  (13)  (19)  (509)
trade and other payables related parties 7  (115)  (115)  (115)  -  -  - 
trade and other payables 16  (2 963)  (2 963)  (2 960)  (2)  (1)  - 
Total  (3 538)  (3 631)  (3 087)  (15)  (20)  (509)

2010

amounts in noK million note book value
total undiscounted 

cash flow 1) 6 mths and less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years

interest-bearing liabilities 24  (548)  (564)  (18)  -  (546)  - 
non-interest-bearing liabilites related parties 7  (2 261)  (2 261)  (2 261)  -  -  - 
trade and other payables related parties 7  (392)  (392)  (392)  -  -  - 
trade and other payables 16  (4 137)  (4 137)  (4 120)  (7)  (9)  (1)
Total  (7 338)  (7 354)  (6 791)  (7)  (555)  (1)

          
1) nominal currency value including interest.          

          
the group policy for the purpose of optimising availability and flexibility of cash within the group is to operate a centrally-managed cash-pooling arrangement. such arrangements are either organised 
with a bank as a service provider, or as a part of the operation of the internal treasury function. an important condition for the participants (business units) in such cash-pooling arrangements is that the 
group as an owner of such pools is financially viable and capable of servicing its obligations concerning repayment of any net deposits made by business units.     
      
Capital management         
the group’s objective for managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, while maintaining an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
        
in order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
normally, 30–50 percent of net profit will be paid out as dividends.
           
the group monitors capital on the basis of a gearing ratio (gross debt/ebitda) and interest coverage ratio (ebitda/net finance cost). the ratios are calculated from gross debt, including all interest- 
bearing liabilities as shown in note 26 financial instruments, ebitda (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) and finance cost. the reported ratios are well within the requirements 
of the loan agreements.        

guarantee obligations
the group has provided the following guarantees on behalf of wholly owned subsidiaries as of 31 december 2011 (all obligations are per date of issue).

 > Kværner asa has provided indemnities to aker solutions in respect of parent company guarantees issued by aker solutions on behalf of Kvaerner group companies: noK 39 billion (noK 53.7 billion).
 > Counter guarantees for bank/surety bonds: noK 1.2 billion (noK 2.3 billion).
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Note 6  Earnings per share

Kværner asa was newly formed in 2011. there were no outstanding shares in 2010. Kværner 
asa's share capital has a value of noK 91 460 000 which was obtained through the issuance of 
269 000 000 shares upon demerger in July 2011. each share has a nominal value of noK 0.34. 
2011 and 2010 earnings per share information has been prepared on a proforma basis as if 
these shares were outstanding for all periods presented.
  
Earnings per share

2011 2010

profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shares (noK million)  559  74 
number of shares outstanding  269 000 000  269 000 000 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (NOK)  2.08  0.28

Note 7  Related parties

the largest shareholder of the group, aker Kværner holding as, is controlled by aker asa (70 
percent) which in turn is controlled by Kjell inge røkke through the resource group trg as. all 
entities which Kjell inge røkke controls or has significant influence over are considered related 
 parties to Kvaerner. these entities are referred to as entities controlled by aker in this note.

prior to consummation of the demerger on 7 July 2011, Kvaerner was a wholly owned subsi-
diary of aker  solutions, and consequently aker solutions, and all the entities in the aker  solutions 
group, were related parties prior to that date. following the demerger, aker solutions and 
Kvaerner are no longer part of the same group, but continue to be presented as related parties 
due to the relationship in 2011. Consequently, all transactions and balances between Kvaerner 
entities and aker solutions entities for the full year 2011 are reported as related party trans-
actions.

Kvaerner operates in an industry where it is common to establish associated companies and joint 
ventures to deliver large and complex projects to customers. in such arrangements two or more 
suppliers have responsibility for parts of a project. the group holds stakes in several associated 
companies and joint ventures related to significant projects in the portfolio and these meet the 
definition of a related party. see note 22 equity accounted investees and note 23 Jointly 
 controlled operations for further information.

the section on the next page provides information in respect of on-going arrangements between 
companies within the Kvaerner group and companies within the aker solutions group in conjunc-
tion with the demerger. details of the demerger transactions are included in note 30 separation 
from aker  solutions asa.
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2011   

amounts in noK million note
entities controlled by 

aker solutions 
entities controlled 

by aker
associated 
companies

Joint 
ventures

other related 
parties Total

Income statement
operating revenues  672  195  -  224  2  1 093 
operating expenses  (823)  -  -  -  (3)  (826)
net financial items  (1)  -  -  -  (1)

Balance sheet as of 31 December
trade and other receivables  116  -  -  5  -  121 
interest-bearing non current receivables  15  -  -  -  -  15 
interest-bearing loans  25  -  -  -  -  25 
trade and other payables  (114)  -  -  (1)  -  (115)

2010    

amounts in noK million note
entities controlled by 

aker solutions 
entities controlled 

by aker
associated 
companies

Joint 
ventures

other related 
parties Total

Income statement
operating revenues  472  384  78  76  -  1 010 
operating expenses  (678)  -  -  -  -  (678)
net financial items  (20)  -  -  -  -  (20)

Balance sheet as of 31 December
trade and other receivables  142  56  -  129  -  327 
non interest-bearing receivables1  1 120  -  -  -  -  1 120 
interest-bearing receivables  902  -  -  -  -  902 
deposits aker solutions cash pool arrangement  2 299  -  -  -  -  2 299 
trade and other payables  (303)  -  -  (89)  -  (392)
non interest-bearing liabilities1  (2 261)  -  -  -  -  (2 261)
interest-bearing liabilities2 24  (541)  -  -  -  -  (541)

1) relates to group contribution and dividends from/to entities controlled by aker solutions, and have been settled within six months after 31 december 2010.
2) relates to funding and are described further in note 24 interest-bearing liabilities.

trade receivables and trade payables in the table above are derived from ordinary business operations. other receivables from and liabilities to entities (interest-bearing and non interest-bearing) 
 controlled by aker solutions are included in separate captions in the balance sheet. 
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Related party transactions with entities controlled by Aker Solutions
the aker solutions group has been both an acquirer and a supplier of services to the Kvaerner 
group. ordinary business operations including subcontracting and hire of personnel, management 
services, shared services, recruitment and supply services, treasury services and insurance services 
have been purchased from the aker solutions group. the costs of these services are included 
within Kvaerner’s operating expenses. pricing models vary between types of projects and services, 
however all transactions with aker solutions entities are based on arms-length terms.

sale of man hours to the aker solutions group is treated as revenue. pricing models vary between 
types of projects and services, however all transactions with related parties are based on arms-
length terms. 

Transitional services agreement 
the aker solutions group shall for a transitional period provide the services below to the 
Kvaerner group. 

 > treasury services – executing hedging transactions, cash management, bond and  guarantee 
 support.

 > legal & tax services – general and project specific legal support in the us and on  legacy issues, 
tax reporting and returns. 

 > pension services – management of defined benefit schemes and compensation schemes. 
 > insurance services – renewal / procurement of insurance policies, contract and claims handling 
services. 

 > accounting services – technical assistance, guidance and knowledge transfer, main te nance of 
hyperion system. 

 > Compliance services – corporate risk committee, corporate operational reviews. 
 > facilities and facilities management services – subletting of space. 
 > moscow office services – office support functions. 
 > us services – legal, accounting and secretarial services in the us. 
 > in addition to the defined service above, legal assistance and tax filings related to two specific 
projects will be provided.

terms of expiry for the various services are between 31 december 2011 and 6 July 2012. 
Kvaerner has requested aker solutions to continue to provide certain of these services for a 
longer term than originally agreed upon, and an addendum is being prepared for extension. the 
fees for services are on cost basis plus mark-up for all services delivered, except pensions and 
facilities. the agreement with aker pensjonskasse are based on a premium for each individual 
agreement. facility charges are dependent upon the underlying lease agreement with the supplier 
and the external facility owner. it is invoiced on a back-to-back basis reflecting the terms and 
conditions in the main lease agreement.

Main agreement, transitional services from Aker Business Services AS
the aker solutions group, through its subsidiary aker business services as, will supply products, 
services and support to Kvaerner companies in norway, uK, usa and asia. the services are within 
hr, finance & accounting, facilities management, it services and software license areas.

the contract was non-terminable and binding until 31 december 2011, and the parties are 
 working to renew and extend these agreements before 31 march 2012. 

the supplier operates with four price models: one-off payments, fixed monthly rates, usage 
based, and rates per man-hour, and prices are generally adjusted on a quarterly basis. 

Technology agreement
entities within the aker solutions group and entities within the Kvaerner group have entered into 
a technology agreement regulating allocation of ownership to certain key intellectual property 
rights and know-how between the parties, and licencing of certain intellectual property rights and 
know-how from the aker solutions group to the Kvaerner group and vice versa. the main principle 
for the allocation of ownership to intellectual property rights and know-how under the tech-
nology agreement is that ownership shall follow the party to which it naturally belongs. 

licencing arrangements are used in respect of intellectual property rights and know-how that are 
required for the successful operations of the party not being allocated ownership to such intellec-
tual property rights or know-how. the licencing right is based on actual need for the technology 
in the Kvaerner business. therefore, to the extent the right to licence a specific technology has 
not been utilised for a period of seven years then the right under the technology agreement to 
receive a licence to that specific technology will terminate. 

Kvaerner will have a right to use the project execution model (pem) of aker solutions, subject to 
certain restrictions which will terminate after seven years. in addition the agreement regulates 
access to databases, files and records, it systems and solutions in general.

the owner of the technology will be responsible for all costs and expenses related to maintaining 
its ownership interest in the technology. 

the cost for licences is set at an all-inclusive cost for the provider, or at observable market rates. 

global staffing agreement with Aker Advantage 
aker advantage as, a subsidiary of aker solutions, is aker solutions’ recruitment and consultancy 
company for technical and project administrative consultancy services. aker advantage has offices 
in norway, england, scotland, australia and usa. in conjunction with the demerger, Kvaerner has 
entered into a general agreement with aker advantage as. the new agreement is entered into on 
similar terms as those applied when the Kvaerner group was part of aker solutions.

the main objective of this agreement is that aker advantage shall provide suitable temporary 
contract personnel at a competitive rate on a timely basis for a mutually beneficial cooperation 
relationship between the supplier and the customer.

the agreement is initially fixed term until 20 June 2013, and can be mutually extendable by 
 another two years.

the rates of pay for temporary contract personnel shall be on competitive terms and conditions. 
fees payable by Kvaerner to aker advantage shall be calculated based on the rates for respective 
relevant geographical areas where temporary contract personnel are recruited. 
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Frame agreement for personnel hire
aker solutions group and Kvaerner group have entered into an agreement to establish a frame-
work whereby a member of the each group may hire personnel from a member of the aker 
 solutions group or the Kvaerner group respectively, and to set out the terms of such hire 
 agreements.

the providing party shall make personnel available to the receiving party. With respect to engi-
neering resources, the providing party shall, to the extent it has available resources and does not 
have other restrictions reasonably arising out of its own operations, make personnel available for 
hire to the receiving party in accordance with the request. the same principle applies to person-
nel with specialised competences. the providing party shall only be obliged to make available 
personnel for assignments of limited scope and duration, and the obligation shall not exceed   
noK 15 million during each calendar year.

after 31 march 2012, either party may terminate with three months’ notice, or the frame agreement 
will automatically terminate on 31 december 2012 unless the parties mutually agree to extend.

the price hiring personnel shall be in accordance with the below principles and shall be calcu-
lated to cover all salary costs, social costs and other costs of the providing party relating to the 
hired out personnel, including:

 > salary, taxes, insurances and benefits.
 > office, tools, equipment and it costs.
 > an agreed share of the providing party's overhead cost and all other relevant costs.

in addition a profit margin of ten pecentage shall be applied.

PROJECT SPECIFIC AgREEMENTS

Agreements regarding the Kashagan HuC project
Kvaerner and aker solutions have agreed that the project will be finalised in accordance with the 
plan agreed with the customer, and that aker solutions companies shall continue to provide 
 personnel resources in accordance with the demobilisation plan. 

the contract for engineering services on the Kashagan huC project remains legally with aker 
 solutions, though the full economic interest in the contract has transferred to Kvaerner under the 
terms of the separation agreement (refer to note 30 separation from aker solutions asa).

Agreements regarding the Sakhalin 1 gBS project
the contract for engineering services on the sakhalin 1 gbs project remains legally with aker 
solutions, though the economic interest in the contract is divided between Kvaerner and aker 
solutions at a ratio of 80:20 from 1 July 2011 under the terms of the separation agreement 
 (refer to note 30 separation from aker solutions asa).

Hebron FEED
Kvaerner is both an acquirer and a supplier of personnel to this project. there is a partnership 
between Kvaerner and Kiewit in Canada, named Kiewit Kvaerner Contractors (KKC). the partner-
ship has its own employees including personnel from both Kvaerner and aker solutions. in addi-
tion, personnel from Kiewit and external consultants are hired in to the partnership. 

the norwegian part of the contract is subcontracted to aker solutions. aker solutions hires in 
personnel from Kvaerner and invoices the client respectively for both companies.

RELATED PARTy TRANSACTIONS WITH ENTITIES CONTROLLED By AKER 

Aker Clean Carbon AS
aker solutions has a 50 percent shareholding in aker Clean Carbon as, a company which is jointly 
controlled by aker solutions and aker asa. the Kvaerner group was party to a joint venture 
agreement with aker Clean Carbon as for construction of the european Co2 technology Centre at 
mongstad in norway, where aker Clean Carbon as provided the technology, project management 
and carried through commissioning and initial operation of the plant while the Kvaerner group 
built the plant. project completion is expected in 2012.

Aker Drilling ASA
in 2005, aker drilling asa, a company then controlled by aker asa, and the Kvaerner group 
 entered into contracts for the turnkey delivery of the two semisubmersible drilling rigs, aker 
 barents and aker spitsbergen. the rigs are operating successfully with advanced technical 
 solutions and the general guarantee period of 24 months is running until 1 January 2012. in the 
summer of 2010, guarantee work was performed on aker spitsbergen, and a provision has been 
made for expected similar guarantee work to be performed on aker barents. aker drilling asa 
was sold by aker asa to an unrelated party in october 2011.

Aker Pensjonskasse
aker pensjonskasse (established by aker asa) manages the Kvaerner group’s retirement plan for 
employees and retirees of entities within the Kvaerner group. premiums paid to aker pensjons-
kasse amounted to noK 18.5 million for the year ended 31 december 2011 (18 million for 31 
december 2010). aker solutions holds 93.4 percent of the shares in the aker pensjonskasse.

TRANSACTIONS WITH ASSOCIATES 

Kvaerner holds ownership in the following associates:
vitec as (34 percent), proneo as (46 percent), stord industribygg (34 percent) and petromarine as 
(20 percent). see the table on page 38 for the total transaction amount between Kvaerner and the 
 associates as a group.
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FAMILy VENTuRE PROJECTS

some customer projects, particularly in norway, are executed utilising a «family ventures» 
 concept, see note 2 basis of preparation for further description. listed below are significant 
 family venture projects in Kvaerner for 2011. 

projects started estimated completion

sakhalin 1 2008 2012
mongstad C02 2009 2012
Kashagan huC 2009 2012
hebron feed 2010 2012

Note 8  Operating segments

Kvaerner’s business is divided into two reportable operating segments: upstream and down-
stream & industrials. the upstream segment is divided into four separate business areas: north 
sea delivering topsides, floaters and onshore upstream facilities; Jackets delivering large steel 
jackets for oil and gas installations and wind jackets; Concrete solutions delivering concrete sub-
structures and international delivering topsides, floaters and onshore upstream facilities. the 
downstream & industrials segment consists of one business area: engineering & Construction 
(e&C) americas and is a contractor for onshore facilities, power plants and steel mills.

the market development within the two segments upstream and downstream & industrials is 
driven by different factors and the geographical focus is different for the segments. the upstream 
segment targets its activities towards the upstream oil and gas field development industry, both 
onshore and offshore. Kvaerner’s ambition is to maintain home markets in the north sea (up-
stream) and north america (downstream) and to expand its upstream activities internationally.

the strategic business areas offer different products and services, and are managed separately. 
included within the two segments are other businesses that may meet the definition of a segment 
but have been aggregated based upon criteria in ifrs. 

the president & Ceo reviews each of the operating segments with the segment management on a 
monthly basis. 

Measurement of segment performance 
performance is measured by segment operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and im-
pairment (ebitda) and operating profit (ebit), as included in the internal management reports. 
segment profit, together with key financial information as described below, gives management 
relevant information in evaluating the results of the operating segments and is relevant in evalu-
ating the results of the segments relative to other entities operating within these industries. the 
president & Ceo will not assess financial items or total liabilities at segment level.

inter-segment pricing is determined according to an arm's-length principle.

the accounting principles of the reportable segments are the same as described in note 2 basis 
of preparation and note 3 accounting principles, except for hedge accounting. When contract 
revenues and contract costs are denominated in a foreign currency, the subsidiary has hedged 
the exposure with Corporate treasury. the hedge accounting is applied independently of whether 
the hedge qualifies for hedge accounting in accordance with ifrs or not. the correction of the 
non-qualifying hedges to ensure that the consolidated financial statement is in accordance with 
ifrs is made as an adjustment at Kvaerner’s corporate level. this means that the group’s segment 
reporting reflects all hedges as qualifying even though they may not qualify in accordance with 
ifrs. 
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2011 - Operating segments

amounts in noK million note upstream
downstream & 

industrials
Total operating 

segments other elim. Total

Operating revenue
Construction contracts  10 687  1 521  12 208  -  (22)  12 186 
services revenue  30  896  926  -  (13)  913 
products  -  -  -  -  -  - 
other  170  -  170  57  (31)  196 
External operating revenue  10 887  2 417  13 304  57  (66)  13 295 
inter-segment revenue  -  -  -  -  -  - 
Total operating revenue  10 887  2 417  13 304  57  (66)  13 295 

 
ebitda  1 571  (351)  1 220  (147)  -  1 073 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment  19  (45)  (9)  (54)  -  -  (54)
EBIT  1 526  (360)  1 166  (147)  -  1 019 

Assets
Current operating assets  925  1 338  2 263  21  (28)  2 256 
non-current operating assets  1 542  133  1 675  1  1 676 
Operating assets  2 467  1 471  3 938  22  (28)  3 932 
tax-related assets  273 
investment in associates and jointly controlled operations  119 
investments in other companies  19 
financial receivables 62
deposits with Kvaerner treasury  1 427 
Cash and interest-bearing receivables 991
Total assets  6 823 

Liabilities
Current operating liabilities  (2 761)  (720)  (3 481)  (39)  28  (3 492)
non-current operating liabilities  (119)  -  (119)  (32)  (151)
Operating liabilities  (2 880)  (720)  (3 600)  (71)  28  (3 643)
financial liabilities related parties  (8)
tax-related liabilities  (267)
net interest-bearing liabilities  (460)
Total liabilities  (4 378)

net current operating assets  (1 836)  618  (1 218)  (18)  -  (1 236)

Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities  1 719  (672)  1 047  22  -  1 069 
acquisition of property, plant and equipment  19  159  3  162  1  -  163 

order intake (unaudited)  9 257  1 655  10 912  52  (67)  10 897 
order backlog (unaudited)  8 758  1 287  10 045  3  (2)  10 046 
own employees (unaudited)  2 607  402  3 009  147  -  3 156 
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2010 - Operating segments

amounts in noK million note upstream
downstream & 

industrials
Total operating 

segments other elim. Total

Operating revenue
Construction contracts  8 734  3 048  11 782  -  -  11 782 
services revenue  16  977  993  -  -  993 
products  54  -  54  -  -  54 
other  380  -  380  -  -  380 
External operating revenue  9 184  4 025  13 209  -  -  13 209 
inter-segment revenue  8  24  32  -  (32)  - 
Total operating revenue  9 192  4 049  13 241  -  (32)  13 209 

ebitda  928  (440)  488  -  -  488 
depreciation, amortisation and impairment  19  (42)  (12)  (54)  -  -  (54)
EBIT  886  (452)  434  -  -  434 

Assets
Current operating assets  2 334  1 798  4 132  (92)  (72)  3 968 
non-current operating assets  1 430  137  1 567  1 567 
Operating assets  3 764  1 935  5 699  (92)  (72)  5 535 
tax-related assets  119 
investment in associates and jointly controlled operations  121 
investments in other companies  9 
financial receivables related parties  2 022 
deposits with aker solutions treasury  2 299 
Cash and interest-bearing receivables  380 
Total assets  10 485 

Liabilities
Current operating liabilities  (3 707)  (1 489)  (5 196)  92  72  (5 032)
non-current operating liabilities  (110)  -  (110)  (110)
Operating liabilities  (3 817)  (1 489)  (5 306)  92  72  (5 142)
financial liabilities related parties  (2 279)
tax-related liabilities  (75)
net interest-bearing liabilities  (530)
Total liabilities  (8 026)

net current operating assets  (1 373)  309  (1 064)  -  -  (1 064)

Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities  1 211  (1 856)  (645)  -  -  (645)
acquisition of property, plant and equipment  19  7  3  10  -  -  10 

order intake (unaudited)  6 518  2 701  9 219  -  (32)  9 187 
order backlog (unaudited)  10 376  2 059  12 435  -  -  12 435 
own employees (unaudited)  2 063  414  2 477  -  -  2 477 
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Major customers
revenue from the three largest customers of the upstream segment represened approximately 
noK 6.7 billion (50 percent) of the group’s total revenue of noK 13.3 billion. of this, one custom-
er represented 24 percent, the second represented 15 percent and the third represented 11 
 percent of the total revenue of the Kvaerner group. 

geographical information
geographical segment revenue is based on the geographical location of customers' operations. 
non-current segment assets and capital expenditures are based on the geographical location of 
the assets.

operating revenues non-current segment assets 
amounts in noK million 2011 2010 2011 2010

norway  4 186  3 106  1 696 1 559
europe  1 477  -  3  1 
north america  2 296  4 345  149 139
rest of the world 1)  5 336  5 758  (12)  (11)
Total  13 295  13 209  1 836  1 688 

1) Operations in Kazakhstan and the Russian Federation       
the group has significant operations in Kazakhstan and the russian federation. Consequently, the group is exposed to 
the economic and financial markets of these countries which display characteristics of emerging markets. the legal, 
tax and regulatory frameworks in these countries continue to be developed, but are subject to varying interpretations 
and frequent changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by 
entities operating in Kazakhstan and the russian federation. the consolidated financial statements reflect manage-
ment’s  assessment of the impact of these business environments on the operations and the financial position of the 
group. the future business environment in these countries may differ from management’s current assessment.

Capital expenditure
amounts in noK million 2011 2010

norway  153 7
europe  2  - 
north america  3  3 
rest of the world  5  - 
Total  163  10 

Note 9  Salaries, wages and social security costs

amounts in noK million note 2011 2010 1)

salaries and wages including holiday allowance  2 135  2 314 
social security tax/national insurance contribution  397  839 
pension cost 25  191  36 
other employee costs  157  148 
Salaries, wages and social security costs  2 881  3 337 

1) 2010 figures have been restated (reclassified from materials, goods and services) to ensure comparability. total amount 
restated is noK 1 721 million which includes noK 1 064 million related to salaries and wages and noK 657 million 
related to social security taxes.

Employee share purchase programme
Kvaerner has undertaken to deliver cash compensation to employees who were transferred from 
aker solutions to Kvaerner and were entitled to bonus shares in the aker solutions programme, 
on the same basis as they would have continued as employees of aker solutions.

Kvaerner paid out a total noK 4.3 million in cash equal to the value of the bonus shares related 
to programme number 1, in september 2011. the same type of cash compensation will be paid 
out in september 2012 and 2013. Kvaerner recognises the cost over the service period, and has 
accounted for an estimated cost of noK 2.5 million for programme number 2 and 3 as of 31 
december 2011.
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Remuneration to members of the Executive Management Team

amounts in noK base salary 1) variable pay 2) other benefits 3)
pension benefit earned/

cost to company 4)
Total 

remuneration

Jan arve haugan 01.08.2011 31.12.2011 2 100 000 2 000 000 2 854 26 785 4 129 639
eiliv gjesdal 01.04.2011 31.12.2011 1 753 172 1 145 826 4 000 54 715 2 957 713
lars eide 01.04.2011 31.12.2011 1 510 289 1 148 587 13 819 89 499 2 762 194
nina udnes tronstad 01.04.2011 31.12.2011 1 511 543 1 090 605 13 819 99 242 2 715 210
bjørn gundersen 01.04.2011 31.12.2011 1 606 849 2 190 356 5 035 81 888 3 884 128
James harry miller 06.06.2011 31.12.2011 1 481 611 1 023 157 - - 2 504 767
Jan tore elverhaug 01.04.2011 31.12.2011 1 891 733 1 283 877 13 819 111 721 3 301 150
Jan Øyri 08.08.2011 31.12.2011 924 601 636 570 1 412 26 464 1 589 047
tony allen 03.10.2011 31.12.2011 700 247 2 531 055 33 612 105 037 3 369 951
Total 13 480 046 13 050 034 88 370 595 350 27 213 800

per harald Kongelf 01.01.2011 01.08.2011
    
Kvaerner has paid aker solutions noK 127 000 for services related to per harald Kongelf up to 01.08.2011.

1) base salary includes accrued holiday allowances.
2) variable pay in 2011 mainly relates to amounts earned in 2011 and which will be paid later. (amount listed for bjørn gundersen includes compensation for extensive travelling in period. amount listed for tony allen includes buy out from share pro-

gram at previous employer).
3) other benefits include telephone, insurance agreements, membership in the standard employee scheme and an additional executive group life and disability insurance.
4) pension benefits include the standard employee pension scheme, a pension compensation scheme related to the transfer from a benefit scheme to a pension contribution scheme and a disability pension scheme.
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Board of Directors

2011

board fees 4)
audit

Committee fees 4)
remuneration 

Commitee fees 4)

Kjell inge røkke 1) 275 000 - 12 500
tore torvund 2) 200 000 - 12 500
bruno Weymuller 2) 150 000 37 500 -
lone fønss schrøder 2) 150 000 75 000 -
vibeke hammer madsen 1) 150 000 - 12 500
rune rafdal 2) 3) 150 000 - -
ståle Knoff Johansen 2) 150 000 - -
bernt harald Kilnes 2) 150 000 37 500 -

1) members of the board of directors are elected for one year.    
2) members of the board of directors are elected for two years.
3) in two board meetings deputy board member amram hadida met for rune rafdal.
4) fees for work performed in 2011 related to board meetings, audit and remuneration Committe, will be decided by the 

annual general meeting in april 2012. Kvaerner has accrued a total of noK 2.1 million for 2011 related to such 
 meetings. fees listed in the table are based upon 6 months activity from the demerger of Kvaerner from aker 
 solutions on 7 July 2011. 

  

according to policy in Kvaerner, fees to directors employed in Kvaerner companies will be paid 
to the Kvaerner companies, not to the directors in person. the same policy is implemented for 
fees for the remuneration and audit Comittees. therefore, board and remuneration Comittee 
fees for Kjell inge røkke were paid to the resource group trg as. 

according to agreement with and initiative from the employees, noK 50 000 is transferred to the 
labour union covering occupational activities in the group, for each director elected from the 
 employees.

Nomination Committee 
the articles of association stipulate that the company shall have a nomination Committee. the 
nomination Committee shall have no less than three members, who shall serve for a term of two 
years. the current members of the nomination Committee are Øyvind eriksen (Chairman), mette 
Wikborg and thomas thune andersen. Kvaerner’s general meeting has adopted guidelines 
 governing the duties of the nomination Committee. 

Audit Committee 
the Kvaerner board of directors has appointed an audit Committee comprising the following 
three directors; lone fønss schrøder (Chair), bruno Weymuller and bernt harald Kilnes.

Remuneration Committee
the Kvaerner board of directors has appointed a remuneration Committee comprising three 
directors. the Committee will hold at least four meetings a year. the current members of the 
committee are Kjell inge røkke (Chairman), tore torvund and vibeke hammer madsen.
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guidelines for remuneration for the President & CEO and the members of the Executive
Management Team
the main purpose of the executive reward programme is to encourage a strong and sustainable 
performance-based culture, which supports growth in shareholder value. the total remuneration 
to executives consists of a market based salary, standard employee benefits and a variable pay 
programme. the president & Ceo and the executive management team participate in the stand-
ard pension and insurance plan applicable to all employees. the company practices standard 
 employment contracts and standard terms and conditions regarding notice period and severance 
pay for the president & Ceo and the members of the executive management team. 

the company did not offer a share programme to any managers or employees in 2011. it is 
Kvaerner’s intention to launch an employee and a management share purchase programme in 
2012. the programme  implies that employees and managers in Kvaerner are offered to buy 
shares in the company at a discounted price. the share purchase programme is expected to con-
tribute to increased employee attention and commitment to Kvaerner's overall value creation.

the objective of the variable pay programme at Kvaerner is to recognise and reward results and 
performance which are obtained in accordance with the company’s values. 

health, safety and environment shall be defined as a specific measurement in the variable pay 
programme from 2012. 

the variable pay programme presents a pay potential of up to 94.5 percent of base salary. 
 earnings are paid over three years. 50 percent of the earnings are paid the following year. the 
 remaining amount is paid two years thereafter with the addition of a retention element provided 
the executive is still employed by the company. the maximum variable payment in any calendar 
year is one annual base salary.

the actual remuneration for the executive management team for 2011 was according to the 
guidelines of the company.

Directors' and Executive Management Team's shareholding
shares

rune rafdal director 195
ståle Knoff Johansen director 31
bernt harald Kilnes director 447

Jan arve haugan 1) president & Ceo 28 000
lars eide executive vice president 283
nina udnes tronstad executive vice president 447
Jan tore elverhaug executive vice president 252
Jan Øyri executive vice president 10 000

1) Jan arve haugan and related parties hold 28 000 shares in Kværner asa.  

the overview includes only direct ownership of Kvaerner shares and does not include 
Kjell inge røkke's indirect ownership through his ownership in aker asa.
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Note 10  Operating leases

Kvaerner has entered into various operating lease contracts, mainly related to rental of buildings 
and equipment. the lease terms vary from short term contracts to contracts with  duration up to 
five years. none of the leases include significant contingent rent. the majority of the contracts 
are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rates.   

Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

Contracts due within one year  6  8 
Contracts running from one to five years  22  55 
Contracts running for more than five years  1  - 
Total  29  63 

 
the group has not entered into any non-cancellable sublease contracts in 2011.    

Lease and sublease payments recognised in the income statement

2011
amounts in noK million buildings plant, equipment, machinery Total

minimum lease payments  9  5  14 
Total  9  5  14 

2010
amounts in noK million buildings plant, equipment, machinery Total

minimum lease payments  25  3  28 
Contingent payments  -  7  7 
sublease payments  (1)  -  (1)
Total  24  10  34

Note 11  Other operating expenses

other operating expenses amount to noK 456 million in 2011 and noK 528 million in 2010. the 
expenses include operating lease costs (note 10 operating leases) and other expenses mainly 
 related to premises, electricity, maintenance, travelling and it-equipment.   

Fees to KPMg 

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

audit 6 5
other assurance services 1) 12 4
Total 18 9

 
1) as part of the demerger, Kpmg provided an opinion on carve out financial statements for the years 2008, 2009 and 

2010. Kpmg also provided a statutory opinion on the demerger transactions. the fee for 2011 includes noK 10.9 
 million in other assurance service related to the demerger which were paid by aker solutions as and recharged to 
Kværner asa.         
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Note 12 Financial income and expenses

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

Profit (loss) on foreign currency forward contracts (11) (6)

interest income on bank deposits measured at amortised cost  50  46 
interest income related party  15  - 
other financial income  3  1 
Financial income 68 47

interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  (39)  (44)
interest expense related party  (16)  - 
net foreign exchange loss 1)  (112)  (16)
Financial expenses (167) (60)
Net financial expenses recognised in profit and loss (110) (19)

1) includes foreign exchange losses of noK 107 million from prior periods.

see note 26 financial instruments for details of the finance income and expense generating 
items.

Note 13  Income taxes

Income tax expense
amounts in noK million 2011 2010

Income tax expense
Current tax expense  448  391 
prior year adjustment  23  - 
Total current tax expense  471  391 

deferred tax expense/(income)  (127)  246 
deferred tax expense of group contribution  -  (307)
Total tax expense  344  330 

Effective tax rate

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

Profit/(loss) before tax, total  903  404 
expected income taxes (28 percent) of profit/(loss) before tax  253  113 

Tax effects of:
prior year adjustments 1)  23  - 
permanent differences 2)  15  2 
effect of unrecognised timing differences and tax losses  101  253 
Change in tax rates  (4)  - 
differences in tax rates from 28 percent  (40)  (40)
other  (4)  2 
 Total  344  330 

effective tax rate 38% 82%
tax effect of differences  91  217 

1) prior year adjustment mainly relates to additional nol that was utilised in the final tax return for the us businesses in 
2010

2) permanent differences relate to net non-tax deductible expenses (currency, write offs, entertainment etc.)  

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

2011

amounts in noK million assets (liabilities) net

property, plant and equipment  35  -  35 
pensions  40  -  40 
projects under construction  (109)  (6)  (115)
tax loss carry-forwards  39  5  44 
provisions  124  (27)  97 
intangible assets  (23)  -  (23)
other  (2)  17  15 
Total  104  (10)  93 
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2010

amounts in noK million assets (liabilities) net

property, plant and equipment  40  (3)  37 
pensions  23  7  30 
projects under construction  (164)  (1)  (165)
tax loss carry-forwards  107  (58)  49 
provisions  19  8  27 
intangible assets  (39)  -  (39)
other  26  (28)  (2)
Total  12  (75)  (63)

Change in net recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

balance as of 1 January  (63)  278 
recognised in profit and loss  127  (246)
other adjustments 1)  33  (95)
translation differences and other  (4)  - 
Balance as of 31 December  93  (63)
 

1) other adjustments are in 2011 related to reclassifications to other receivables/prepaid taxes. in 2010 other 
 adjustments relate to proforma adjustments following dermerger from aker solutions.

amounts in noK million

balance 
as of 1 

January 
2011

recognised 
in profit 
and loss

other
adjustments

translation 
differences 

and other

Balance 
as of 31 

December 
2011

property, plant and equipment  37  (5)  3 -  35 
pensions  30  14  (4) -  40 
projects under construction  (165)  (22)  73 -  (115)
tax loss carry-forwards  49  74  (76)  (4)  44 
provisions  27  79  (9) -  97 
intangible assets  (39)  (12)  29  (1)  (23)
other  (2) -  17  1  15 
Total  (63)  127  33  (4)  93

Tax loss carry-forwards

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

unrecognised tax loss carry-forwards  609  246 
Total tax loss carry-forwards 1)  762  407 

1) tax losses of noK 117 million have no expiry date. noK 644 million of the tax losses carried forward are mainly 
related to operations in the us and of which noK 27 million expire in 2023 and the remaining can be carried forward 
more than 15 years. 

tax losses are recognised in the balance sheet to the extent that forecasts and convincing 
 evidence exist to show that Kvaerner will be able to use the tax losses before they expire.

Note 14  Trade and other receivables

amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

trade receivables  570  751 
less provision for impairment of receivables  (16)  (13)
Trade receivables, net  554  738 
advances to suppliers  2  10 
Work in progress 15  980  1 714 
other receivables 1)  566  1 151 
derivative financial instruments 18  23  14 
Total trade and other receivables 26  2 125  3 627 
other  10  14 
Total  2 135  3 641

1) the amount consists of accrued operating revenue of noK 169 million (noK 926 million) and other receivables of noK 
402 million (noK 226 million). other receivables consist of prepaid tax, vat and other prepayments for noK 106 million.

no impairment loss in 2011 (noK 1 million in 2010)

Aging of trade receivables

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

Current  157  444 
past due 0–30 days  254  90 
past due 31–90 days  68  48 
past due 91 days to one year  46  169 
past due more than one year  45  - 
Total  570  751 
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Note 15  Construction contracts 

amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

value of work performed on uncompleted contracts  17 897  36 072 
invoiced to customers  16 917  34 358 
 Work in progress to be invoiced  980  1 714 
trade receivables including from related parties  404  1 065 
Net receivables on construction contracts  1 384  2 779 

advances from customers 16  516  1 731

Largest projects in progress at year end 2011 (unaudited): 

project Customer
estimated 

delivery

upstream segment:
eldfisk topside Conocophillips 2014
mongstad test Centre statoil 2012
Kashagan huC agip 2012
sakhalin 1 exxon 2012
ekofisk 2/4l Jacket Conocophillips 2012
nordsee ost essent wind 2012
Clair ridge bp 2013

Downstream & Industrials segment:
v & m star structural v & m 2012
v & m star mep v & m 2012

Note 16  Trade and other payables

amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

trade creditors 499 778
advances from customers 516 1 731
accrued operating and financial costs 1 148 1 598
derivative financial instruments 18 83 25
other current liabilities 1) 717 5
Total  2 963  4 137 

1) other current liabilities consist of sundry taxes and other accruals.

Note 17  Provisions

amounts in noK million Warranties other Total

Balance as of 31 December 2009  28  46  74 

provisions made during the year  351  94  445 
provisions used during the year  (2)  (3)  (5)
provisions reversed during the year  (5)  (5)  (10)
Currency translation differences  (1)  -  (1)
Balance as of 31 December 2010  371  132  503 

provisions made during the year 1)  (306)  311  5 
provisions used during the year  27  (46)  (19)
provisions reversed during the year  (16)  (60)  (76)
Currency translation differences  2  (1)  1 
Balance as of 31 December 2011  78  336  414 

Expected timing of payment as of 31 December 2011
non-current  -  336  336 
Current  78  -  78 
Total  78  336  414 

   
1) reclassification of noK 311 million from warranty to other provisions for expected upgrade work.

Warranties   
the provision for warranties relates mainly to the possibility that Kvaerner, based on contractual 
agreements, needs to perform guarantee work related to products and services delivered to 
 customers. see note 4 accounting estimates and judgements for further description.   

Other   
other includes mainly provisions for loss contracts and expected upgrade work. provisions for 
loss contract are deducted from the value of the same contracts in work in progress or, to the 
extent they exceed this value, disclosed as provisions. the provision accrued for is considered 
sufficient.   
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Note 18  Derivative financial instruments

the Kvaerner group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge foreign exchange risks. further information regarding the group's risk management policies is available in note 5 financial risk 
 management and exposures. 

Forward foreign exchange contracts:
Kvaerner hedge the group's future transactions in foreign currencies against external banks, with currency exposure hedged back-to-back in order to meet the requirements for hedge accounting. all 
 other hedges are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes and will have an effect on profit or loss. most hedges qualifying for hedge accounting are classified as cash flow hedges (hedges of 
highly probable future revenues and/or expenses). 

2011

amounts in noK million
assets at 
fair value

liabilities at 
fair value Net fair value

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flow 2) 6 mths or less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years 1)

Cash flow hedges  9  (20)  (11)  (12)  (8)  (3)  (1)  - 
not hedge accounted  14  (63)  (49)  (48)  (49)  1  -  - 
 Total  23  (83)  (60)  (60)  (57)  (2)  (1)  - 

2010

amounts in noK million
assets at 
fair value

liabilities at 
fair value Net fair value

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flow 2) 6 mths or less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years 1)

Cash flow hedges  13  (23)  (10)  (17)  -  (6)  (11)  (1)
not hedge accounted  1  (2)  (1)  (1)  (1)  (1)  1  - 
Total  14  (25)  (11)  (18)  (1)  (7)  (10)  (1)

1) there are no derivatives with maturity over five years.
2) undiscounted cash flows are translated to noK using the exchange rates on the balance sheet date. 

derivative financial instruments are classified as current assets or liabilities. the full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability if the remaining maturity is more 
than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability if the maturity is less than 12 months. if the hedged item is related to projects, such as work in progress or trade receivables, the hedging derivative is 
always classified as a current asset or liability. 
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Foreign exchange derivatives
Kvaerner hedge the group's future transactions in foreign currencies against external banks, with 
currency exposure hedged back-to-back in order to meet the requirements for hedge accounting. 
all other hedges are not designated as hedges for accounting purposs and will have an effect on 
profit or loss. most hedges qualifying for hedge accounting are classified as cash flow hedges 
(hedges of highly probable future revenues and/or expenses).      

the hedged transactions in foreign currency that are subject to cash flow hedge accounting are 
highly probable future transactions expected to occur at various dates during the next one to two 
years, depending on progress in the projects. gains and losses on forward foreign exchange con-
tracts are recognised in comprehensive income and reported as hedging reserve in equity until 
they are recognised in the income statement in the period or periods during which the hedged 
transactions affect the income statement. this is generally within 12 months from the balance 
sheet date.

the following table shows the unsettled cash flow hedges' impact on profit and loss and equity 
(not adjusted for tax).        
        
Forward exchange contracts

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

fair value of all hedging instruments  (11)  (10)
Deferred in equity (hedging reserve)  (11)  (10)

 
the purpose of the hedging instrument is to secure a situation where the hedged item and the 
hedging instrument together represent a predetermined value independent of fluctuations of 
 exchange rates. revenue and expense on the underlying construction contracts are recognised in 
the income statement in accordance with progress. the negative noK 11 million that are 
 currently recorded directly in the hedging reserve, will be reclassified to income statement over 
approximately the next three years.        

Note 19  Property, plant and equipment 

amounts in noK million
buildings 
and sites

machinery  
equipment 

and software
under 

construction Total

historical cost as of 1 January 2010  544  754  2  1 300 
additions  4  6  -  10 
disposals  -  (3)  -  (3)
Currency translation differences  -  1  -  1 
Historical cost as of 31 December 2010  548  758  2  1 308 

accumulated depreciation as of 1 January 
2010  (369)  (531)  -  (900)
depreciation for the year  (17)  (37)  -  (54)
disposals  -  3  -  3 
Accumulated depreciation as of 
31 December 2010  (386)  (565)  -  (951)
Book value as of 31 December 2010  162  193  2  357 

historical cost as of 1 January 2011  548  758  2  1 308 
additions  75  42  46  163 
disposals  (2)  (15)  (1)  (18)
Currency translation differences  1  1  -  2 
Balance as of 31 December 2011  622  786  47  1 455 

accumulated depreciation as of 1 January 
2011  (386)  (565)  -  (951)
depreciation for the year  (16)  (35)  -  (51)
disposals  -  15  -  15 
Balance as of 31 December 2011  (402)  (585)  -  (987)
Book value as of 31 December 2011  220  201  47  468 

    
Kvaerner has not entered into any financial lease contracts. by the end of december 2011 
Kvaerner has not entered into any significant contractual commitments for the acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment.   

Depreciation    
assets are mainly depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected economic lives as follows: 
machinery, equipment and software 3 - 15 years
buildings 8 - 30 years
sites no depreciation

estimates for residual values are reviewed annually.    
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Note 20  Intangible assets

amounts in noK million
intangible assets

 excl. goodwill goodwill Total

balance as of 1 January 2010  11  1 176  1 187 
Currency translation differences  -  2  2 
Balance as of 31 December 2010  11  1 178  1 189 

amortisation  (3)  -  (3)
disposals  (4) -  (4)
Currency translation differences  -  4  4 
Balance as of 31 December 2011  4  1 182  1 186 

   
intangible assets other than goodwill have finite useful lives and are amortised over the expected 
economic life, ranging between five to ten years.   
   
Research and development costs   
there has been no capitalisation related to development activities in 2011. noK 2.4 million has 
been expensed for research and development (noK 15 million in 2010) because the criteria for 
capitalisation was not met. there have not been any research and development costs paid by 
 customers during the period.   
   
goodwill 
Allocation of goodwill by operating segments
   

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

upstream  1 071  1 071 

north sea  421 
Jackets  186 
Concrete  198 
international  266 

Downstream & Industrials  111  107 

Total  1 182  1 178 

Impairment testing of goodwill
goodwill originates from a number of acquisitions made prior to 31 december 2010. management 
has historically monitored goodwill at the reportable segment level, which was also considered to 
be the cash-generating unit (Cgu). following the demerger, goodwill has been allocated to the 
five business areas, based on relative fair value estimates of the businesses at the time of the 
demerger.

recoverable amounts are based on value in use calculations. the calculations use cash flow 
 projections based on the future cash flow, budgets and strategic forecasts for the periods 2012–
2014 and an annual growth of 2.0 percent for subsequent periods. a discount rate (WaCC) of 10.0 
percent after tax (13.9 percent before tax) has been used for discounted cash flows. for the 
downstream & industrials segment 9.5 percent (15.2 percent before tax) has been used.

the recoverable amount is higher than the carrying amount and consequently the analysis 
 indicates that no impairment is required. there is significant headroom on the recoverable 
amount which is consistent with the fair value indication of equity provided by external advisors 
of approximately noK 5.5 billion, compared to the carrying amount of equity of 2.5 billion, at the 
time of the demerger.

Cashflow estimates are sensitive to the ability to maintain volume and margin assumptions, 
 however no reasonable changes in assumptions has found to result in impairment charges.   
 

Note 21  Other non-current assets   

amounts in noK million note 2011 2010

pension funds 25 14 10
interest-bearing non-current receivables 22 2
other non-current operating assets 9 11
other investments 19 9
Total  64  32 
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Note 22  Equity-accounted investees

Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method. associated companies and 
jointly controlled entities are defined as related parties to Kvaerner. see note 7 related parties 
for overview of transactions and balances between Kvaerner and the associated companies and 
joint ventures.

Joint Venture Agreement with KgNT Holding LLP 
Kvaerner is party to a 50/50 percent owned joint venture – Kvaerner Caspian b.v. – with the 
 Kazakh company Kgnt holding llp. the joint venture company is targeting to service the off-
shore oil and gas industry in the Kazakhstan sector of the Caspian sea. Kvaerner Caspian b.v. will 
 offer a wide scope of services to offshore field development and maintenance and modification 
projects as well as fabrication services for onshore plants in Kazakhstan.

Investments in associated companies and jointly controlled entities

2011

amounts in noK million

book 
value as of 

01.01.2011

additions/ 
disposals/ 
payments

profit/ 
(loss) Currency

Book
value as of 

31.12.2011

Kvaerner Caspian b.v.  86  2  (6)  - 82
power maintenance and 
Constructors, llC  14  (4)  -  - 10
siva verdal eiendom as  21  -  -  - 21
Concrete structures as  -  4  -  - 4
Zvezdocha engineering ooo  -  2  -  - 2
Total  121  4  (6)  -  119 

2010

amounts in noK million

book 
value as of 

01.01.2010

additions/ 
disposals/ 
payments

profit/
(loss) Currency

Book 
value as of 

31.12.2010

Kvaerner Caspian b.v.  81  18  (11)  (2)  86 
power maintenance and 
Constructors, llC  14  -  -  -  14 
siva verdal eiendom as  20  -  -  1  21 
Total  115  18  (11)  (1)  121 
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Summary of financial information for significant equity accounted investees (100 percent basis)  

2011  

amounts in noK million business office percentage held 3) assets liabilities equity revenues net profit/(loss)

Kvaerner Caspian b.v. 1) Zoetermeer, netherlands 50%  195  52  143  -  (13)
power maintenance and Constructors, llC 2) hammond, usa 49% 74 41 33 473 1 
siva verdal eiendom as 2) verdal, norway 46%  57  18  39  8  1 
Concrete structures as 2) oslo, norway 50%  2  -  2  2  2 
Zvezdocha engineering ooo 2) arkhangelsk, russia 50%  4  -  4  6  - 

1) Jointly controlled entity. assets and liabilities are mainly non-current.       
2) associated company.       
3) percentage of voting rights equals percentage held.       

2010  

amounts in noK million business office percentage held 3) assets liabilities equity revenues net profit/(loss)

Kvaerner Caspian b.v. 1) Zoetermeer, netherlands 50%  207  33  174  -  (18)
power maintenance and Constructors, llC 2) hammond, usa 49%  70  28  42  569  1 
siva verdal eiendom as 2) verdal, norway 46%  41  4  37  8  1 

1) Jointly controlled entity. assets and liabilities are mainly non-current. 
2) associated company. 
3) percentage of voting rights equals percentage held.
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Note 23  Jointly controlled operations 

the group has interests in several jointly controlled operations whose principal activities are 
 engineering and construction contracts. the group's share of assets, liabilities, income and 
 expenses of jointly controlled operations are included in the consolidated financial statements. 
the material agreements and entities are listed and described below. 
 

percentage share 2011 2010

asC-ersai Consortium 50% 50%
Kvaerner-varisal 50% 50%
KKC - Kiewit and Kvaerner new foundland 50% 50%
halton hills power partners Joint venture 50% 50%
Kvaerner/ihi Cove point feed activities 50% 50%
Kvaerner/ihi general engineering/studies 50% 50%
aK/ihi gulf 50% 50%
aso/ihi gulf 50% 50%
Cameron lng (sempra) 50% 50%

  
Jointly controlled operations are defined as related parties to Kvaerner. see note 7 related 
 parties for overview of transactions and balances between Kvaerner and jointly controlled 
 operations.   
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Note 24  Interest-bearing liabilities

this note provides information about the contractual terms of group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings which are measured at amortised cost. for more information about the the group's exposure 
to interest rates, foreign currency and liquidity risk, see note 5 financial risk management and exposures.

2011

amounts in million Currency nominal currency value Book value interest margin interest rate effective interest rate maturity date interest terms

revolving credit facility multi currency  2 500 2.10–2.50% 3 may 2016 ibor + margin 2)

term loan noK  500  460 1.50–2.50% 4.65% 4.73% 3 may 2014 nibor + margin 2)

Total credit facility 3 000 460

other loans  - 
Total non-current borrowings  460 

Current borrowings 8
non-current borrowings  460 
Total  468 

1) the book value is calculated by reducing the nominal value of noK 500 million by total issue costs related to the new financing. accrued interest and issue costs related to the loans are included.
2) the margin applicable to the facility is decided by a price grid based on the gearing ratio. Commitment fee is 40 percent of the margin.

Bank debt
the bank facility of noK 3 000 million consists of a revolving credit facility of noK 2 500 million maturing in may 2016 and a term loan of noK 500 million maturing in may 2014. the facilities are pro-
vided by a syndicate of high quality international banks. the term loan of noK 500 million was fully drawn at end of year 2011 whilst the noK 2 500 million credit facility remained undrawn. the terms 
and conditions include restrictions which are customary for these kinds of facilities, including inter alia negative pledge provisions and restrictions for acquisitions, disposals and mergers. there are also 
certain provisions of change of control included in the agreements. there are no restrictions for dividend payments – both revolving credit facilities and the term loan are unsecured.

the financial covenants are based on three sets of key financial ratios; an equity ratio based on consolidated total borrowings/consolidated total equity, a cash covenant calculated by consolidated total 
borrowings less consolidated net current operating assets and consolidated cash and cash equivalent asstes and an interest coverage ratio based on consolidated ebitda/consolidated finance costs. the 
financial covenants are tested on a quarterly basis. the margin applicable to the facility is based on a price grid determined by the gearing ratio. see note 5 financial risk management and exposures for 
more information regarding capital risk in the group.
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2010

amounts in million nominal currency value Book value intererst rate fixed interest margin interest coupon maturity date interest terms

aker solutions asa - treasury usd  90  530 3.29% 3.00% 6.29% 01.11.2012 libor + margin
aker solutions asa - treasury aud  2  11 8.26% 2.90% 11.16% 30.06.2011 libor + margin
dnb nor shanghai CnY  7  7 5.56% 30 days pboC
Total borrowings  548 

Current borrowings  18 
non-current borrowings  530 
Total  548 

Financial liabilities and the period in which they mature

2011

amounts in noK million Book value
total undiscounted 

cash flow 6 mths and less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years

revolving credit facility (noK 2 500 million) - - - - - -
term loan (noK 500 million)  460  500 - - -  500 
Total credit facility  460  500  -  -  -  500 

interest on revolving credit facility and other bank debt  8  53  12  13  19  9 
Total borrowings  468  553  12  13  19  509 

2010

amounts in noK million Book value
total undiscounted 

cash flow 6 mths and less 6-12 mths 1-2 years
more than 

5 years

aker solutions asa - treasury  530  546  -  -  546  - 
aker solutions asa - treasury  18  18  18  -  -  - 
Total borrowings  548  564  18  -  546  - 
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Note 25  Employee benefits - pensions

the group’s pension costs represent the future pension entitlement earned by employees in the 
financial year. in a defined contribution plan the company is responsible for paying an agreed 
contribution to the employee’s pension assets. in such a plan this annual contribution is also the 
cost. in a defined benefit plan it is the company's responsibility to provide a certain pension ben-
efits. the measurement of the cost and the pension liability for such arrangements are subject to 
actuarial valuations. aker solutions has over a long time period gradually moved from defined 
benefit arrangements to defined contribution plans which impacts Kvaerners employees. Conse-
quently, the impact of the remaining defined benefit plans is gradually reduced.   
   
the main pension arrangement in norway is a general pension plan organised by the norwegian 
state. this arrangement provides the main general pension entitlement of all norwegians. all pen-
sion arrangements by employers, consequently represent limited additional pension entitlements.  
 
   
norwegian employers are obliged to provide an employment pension plan, which can be organ-
ised as a defined benefit plan or as a defined contribution plan. Kvaerner closed its defined ben-
efit plans in 2008 and are now providing defined contribution plans for all of their employees 
under 60 years of age. employees who were 58 years or older in 2008, when the change took 
place, are still in the defined benefit plan. this is a funded plan and represents most of the fund-
ed pension liability reported in the tables below. in 2008, paid up policies were set up for ac-
crued rights for employees who were moved to the new defined contribution plan. these paid up 
policies were provided based on actuarial demographic assumptions required to be used in nor-
way at the time. it was known that these assumptions would have to be adjusted and a provision 
was set up for the anticipated cost of noK 10 million for this. it was subsequently appreciated 
that this cost has been absorbed by the pension fund and the provision was released to profit 
and loss in 2010. 
 
all pension plans outside norway are defined contribution plans. Contributions to these plans for 
Kvaerner was noK 123 million in 2011 (noK 4 million in 2010).   

afp is an early retirement agreement organised by norwegian employers, the norwegian 
 Confederation of trade unions (lo) and the norwegian state. the previous afp agreement was 
established to provide pension between the age of 62 to 67 for employees who retired before 
the general retirement age of 67. in a 2010 pension reform individual employees are given a 
general choice of retirement age, but with lower pension with earlier retirement. the old afp 
 arrangement has been stopped and the remaining recognised obligation of noK 89 million for 
Kvaerner employees was released to profit and loss in 2010. a newafp agreement effective from 
2011 to provide additional life long pensions to employees that retire early to compensate for 
the reduction in the ordinary pension entitlements. the norwegian accounting standards board 
have issued a comment concluding that the «new afp» previous is a multi-employer defined ben-
efit plan. the «new afp» previous exposes the participating entities to actuarial risk associated 
with employees of other entities with the result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for 
allocating the obligation, plan assets and costs to individual participating entities. sufficient infor-
mation is not available to use defined benefit accounting and the «new afp» previous is account-
ed for as a defined contribution plan.   

Net periodic pension cost (return)

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

defined benefit plans
service cost  20  25 
interest on projected benefit obligation  17  23 
expected return on plan assets  (18)  (21)
net amortisations and deferrals  8  21 
Curtailments and settlements  (11)  (89)
administration cost  (6)  4 
social security tax  3  4 
Pension cost defined benefit plans  13  (33)
pension cost defined contribution plans  178  69 
Total pension cost  191  36 

Status of pension plans reconciled with the balance sheet  
  
2011

amounts in noK million funded unfunded Total

accumulated benefit obligation  395  105  500 
effect of projected future compensation levels  41  1  42 
Projected benefit obligation (PBO)  436  106  542 
social security tax on plan assets in excess of (less than) pbo  7  15  22 
plan assets at fair value  359  -  359 
Plan assets in excess of (less than) PBO  (84)  (121)  (205)
unrecognised net (gain) loss  63  5  68 
Net employee benefit assets (employee benefit obligations)  (21)  (116)  (137)

as presented in the balance sheet
employee benefit assets  14  -  14 
employee benefit obligations  (35)  (116)  (151)
Total  (21)  (116)  (137)
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2010

amounts in noK million funded unfunded Total

accumulated benefit obligation  371  125  496 
effect of projected future compensation levels  17  (17)  - 
Projected benefit obligation (PBO)  388  108  496 
social security tax on plan assets in excess of (less than) pbo  6  16  22 
plan assets at fair value  346  -  346 
Plan assets in excess of (less than) PBO  (48)  (124)  (172)
unrecognised net (gain) loss  50  22  72 
Net employee benefit assets (employee benefit obligations)  2  (102)  (100)

as presented in the balance sheet
employee benefit assets  10  -  10 
employee benefit obligations  (8)  (102)  (110)
Total  2  (102)  (100)

Economic assumptions 

norwegian plans 2011 2010

discount rate 2.60% 4.00%
asset return 4.10% 5.40%
salary progression 3.25–3.75% 3.75–4.00%
pension indexation 1.15–2.50% 2.50%

the discount rate is based on the norwegian ten-year government bond rate. the asset return is 
expected to be higher than the discount rate because the assets are invested in instruments with 
a higher risk than government bonds. experience has shown that the rate of return on pension 
assets has been about 1-2 percent higher than discount rate over an extended period of time.  

generally, a one percent increase in the discount rate will lead to approximately 10-15 percent 
decrease in service cost/projected benefit obligation. this is lower than an expected effect of 
 approximately 20 percent as the benefit obligation in Kvaerner consist mainly of pensioners and 
employees over 60 years.   

Movement in pension obligation and plan asset  

amounts in noK million 2011 2010

projected benefit obligation as of 1 January  496  569 
service cost incl. cost related to the compensation plan  19  25 
interest on projected benefit obligation  17  23 
benefits paid by the plan  (33)  (31)
Curtailment and settlement  (4)  11 
acquisition and disposal  -  (65)
Change in unrecognised (gain)/loss  47  (36)
Currency translation differences  -  - 
Projected benefit obligation as of 31 December  542  496 

plan assets at fair value as of 1 January  346  341 
expected return on plan assets  18  21 
Contributions paid into the plan  19  13 
benefits paid by the plan  (20)  (17)
Curtailment and settlement  2  - 
Change in unrecognised gain/(loss)  -  (9)
administration costs  (6)  (3)
Plan assets at fair value as of 31 December  359  346 

Analyses of the plan assets (Norwegian plans)

major categories of plan assets in percent of total plan assets 2011 2010

equity instruments 7.8% 6.0%
debt instruments 89.4% 92.4%
other assets 2.7% 1.6%
Plan assets 100.0% 100.0%

the estimated contributions to be paid to the plans during 2012 are noK 23 million.

Overview of net pension obligation

amounts in noK million 2011 2010 2009 2008

projected benefit obligation  542  496  569  529 
plan assets at fair value  359  346  341  320 
Net pension obligation  (183)  (150)  (228)  (209)

Change in unrecognised (gain) loss projected 
benefit obligation  47  (36)  20  29 
Change in unrecognised gain (loss) plans assets  -  (9)  8  (18)
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Note 26  Financial instruments

this note summarises each class of financial instruments and gives an overview of book and fair value of the group's financial instruments. the table below also shows on what level in the measurement 
hierarchy the group's financial instruments measured at fair value are considered to be in regard to how objective the measuring method is.
  
Assets as of 31 December 2011

amounts in noK million note level 1 level 2 level 3 amortised cost Total carrying amount 

Total cash and cash equivalents  2 418  -  -  -  2 418 

non-current interest-bearing receivables 21  -  -  -  22  22 
trade and other receivables 14  23  -  2 102  2 125 
trade and other receivables related parties 7  -  -  -  121  121 
Current interest-bearing receivables related parties 7  -  -  -  15  15 
non-current interest-bearing receivables related parties 7  25  25 
Total loans and receivables  -  23  -  2 285  2 308 

Total assets classified as financial instruments  2 418  23  -  2 285  4 726 

Current assets  2 418  23  -  2 238  4 679 
non-current assets  -  -  -  47  47 
Total assets  2 418  23  -  2 285  4 726 

Liabilities as of 31 December 2011

amounts in noK million note level 1 level 2 level 3 amortised cost Total carrying amount 

trade and other payables 16  -  (83)  -  (2 880)  (2 963)
trade and other payables related parties 7  -  -  -  (115)  (115)
Total financial liabilities  -  (83)  -  (2 995)  (3 078)

Current liabilities  -  (83)  -  (2 995)  (3 078)
Total liabilities  -  (83)  -  (2 995)  (3 078)
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Assets as of 31 December 2010

amounts in noK million note level 1 level 2 level 3 amortised cost Total carrying amount 

Cash and cash equivalents  378  -  -  -  378 
Cash in aker solutions cash pool arrangement  2 299  -  -  -  2 299 
Total cash and cash equivalents  2 677  -  -  -  2 677 

non-current interest-bearing receivables 21  -  -  -  2  2 
trade and other receivables 14  -  14  -  3 613  3 627 
trade and other receivables related parties 7  -  -  -  327  327 
non-interest bearing receivables related parties 7  1 120  1 120 
Current interest-bearing receivables related parties 7  902  -  -  -  902 
Total loans and receivables  902  14  -  5 062  5 978 

Total assets classified as financial instruments  3 579  14  -  5 062  8 655 

Current assets  3 579  -  -  5 060  8 639 
non-current assets  -  14  -  2  16 
Total assets  3 579  14  -  5 062  8 655 

Liabilities as of 31 December 2010

amounts in noK million note level 1 level 2 level 3 amortised cost Total carrying amount 

non-current interest-bearing liabilities related parties 24  -  -  -  (530)  (530)
trade and other payables 16  -  (25)  -  (4 112)  (4 137)
trade and other payables related parties 7  -  -  -  (392)  (392)
non-interest bearing liabilities related parties 7  -  -  -  (2 261)  (2 261)
Current interest-bearing liabilities related parties 24  -  -  -  (18)  (18)
Total financial liabilities  -  (25)  -  (7 313)  (7 338)

Current liabilities  -  (25)  -  (6 783)  (6 808)
non-current liabilities  -  -  -  (530)  (530)
Total liabilities  -  (25)  -  (7 313)  (7 338)
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Loans, receivables and financial liabilities 
the first level in the above table, fair value based on prices quoted in an active market for 
 identical assets or liabilities, includes cash and financial instruments that are calculated based on 
observable prices on identical instruments.

the second level in the above table, fair value is based on price inputs, other than quoted prices, 
which are derived from observable market transactions in an active market for identical assets or 
liabilities, includes currency derivatives. these will typically be when the group uses forward 
prices on foreign exchange rates as inputs to valuation models.

the third level in the above table, fair value based on unobservable inputs, includes financial 
 instruments for which fair values are calculated on the basis of input and assumptions that are 
not from observable market transactions. the Kvaerner group has no level 3 assets or liabilities.  

Non-current loans
non-current loans consists of a term loan with a duration of three years. the carrying amount is 
measured at amortised cost. fair value is equal to book value of noK 460 million. 

2011 2010

amounts in noK million
Carrying 
amount fair value 

Carrying 
amount fair value 

other borrowings 1)  460  460  548  548
Total borrowings  460  460  548  548

       
1) Credit facilities have floating interest and the notional amount is a reasonable approximation of fair values. notional 

values of other loans is also expected to be a good approximation of fair values.     
   

Cash and cash equivalents 
total cash and cash equivalents consists of noK 1.4 billion in deposits on group bank accounts, 
and noK 1 billion in interest-bearing deposits. 
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Note 27  group companies as of 31 December 2011

Company name 31.12.2011 Company name 31.12.2010 Country of incorporation ownership (percent) 1)

Kværner asa 2) norway 100
Kværner as 2) norway 100
Kværner engineering as 2) norway 100
Kværner stord as aker stord as norway 100
Kværner verdal as aker verdal as norway 100
dovre maling as dovre maling as norway 100
vind sammenstilling as vind sammenstilling as norway 100
Kværner sakkyndig virksomhet as aker sakkyndig virksomhet as norway 100
Kværner Jacket technology as aker Jacket technology as norway 100
Kværner piping technology as aker piping technology as norway 100
aker Kværner Contracting international (spain) as aker Kværner Contracting international (spain) as norway 100
aker Kværner Contracting italy as aker Kværner Contracting italy as norway 100
aker Contracting russia as aker Contracting russia as norway 100
norwegian Contractors as norwegian Contractors as norway 100
aker solutions Contracting as aker solutions Contracting as norway 100
Kværner resources as 2) norway 100
Kvaerner finland oy aker offshore oY finland 100
Kvaerner Contracting limited 2) uK 100
Kvaerner resources ltd 2) uK 100
Kvaerner field development inc aker field development inc usa 100
Kvaerner strategic operations inc aker strategic operations inc usa 100
Kvaerner americas holdings inc aker michigan inc usa 100
Kvaerner americas inc aker solutions americas inc usa 100
Kvaerner north american Construction inc aker Construction inc. usa 100
Kvaerner industrial Constructors inc aiC-hou-newCo (houston assets) us usa 100
Kvaerner Constructors holdings inc aker aiC holdings inc usa 100
Kvaerner oil & gas australia pty ltd aker solutions oil & gas australia pty ltd australia 100
Kvaerner newfoundland ltd. aker solutions newfoundland ltd Canada 100
Kvaerner north american Construction ltd aker Construction Canada ltd Canada 100
Kvaerner projects (beijing) Co ltd 3) China 100
aker solutions s.a. de C.v. aker solutions sa de Cv mexico 100
aker process gulf ltd 4) aker process gulf ltd saudi arabia 100

 
1) ownership equaling the percentage of voting shares.   
2) new companies in 2011.   
3) under incorporation.
4) share transfer from aker solutions bv to be completed in 2012.  
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Note 28  Contingent events

given the scope of the group’s worldwide operations, group companies are inevitably involved in 
legal disputes in the course of their activities. provisions have been recognised to cover the ex-
pected outcome of any disputes and litigation proceedings in accordance with applicable account-
ing rules. such provisions will be based on the management's best evaluations and estimates of a 
likely outcome of the dispute and will be subject for review by in-house or external legal advi-
sors. however, the final outcome of such disputes and litigation proceedings will always be sub-
ject to uncertainties, and resulting liabilities may exceed recorded provisions. the disputes and 
litigation proceedings are continuously monitored and reviewed, and recognised provisions are 
adjusted to reflect management’s best estimates of most recent facts and circumstances. litiga-
tion and arbitration costs are recognised as they occur. 

although some uncertainty surrounds the final outcome of these events, the expectation is that it 
will not have a material impact on Kvaerner's financial position or results. due to uncertainties 
related to these events and to avoid prejudicing Kvaerner's position, no estimate of the expected 
final outcome is disclosed.

Longview project
Kvaerner north american Construction inc has initiated arbitration against both longview power, 
llC and foster Wheeler north america Corp., the supplier of the boiler for the longview project. 
Kvaerner north american Construction inc experienced an increase in the cost of construction of 
the project from a number of causes, including force majeure events, changes to the project, and 
third party actions in furnishing engineering services, equipment and materials, all of which have 
 directly and adversely impacted Kvaerner north american Construction inc's project work. the 
arbitration is intended to recover excess construction costs and other damages incurred by 
Kvaerner north american Construction inc in execution of the project. 

there are still substantial uncertainties with respect to the final financial outcome of the project.

Nordsee Ost project
in 2010, a subsidiary of Kvaerner entered into a contract with rWei for the delivery of 48 
 jackets for windmill turbines and one jacket for trafo station for the nordsee ost Windmill farm. 
the Kvaerner subsidiary has requested to be compensated for additional costs and schedule im-
pacts of various changes to the scope of work and associated matters. the parties are in dis-
agreement on the scope of these changes and the related consequences or the financial and 
schedule consequences associated therewith. the dispute is being prepared for arbitration. 

Note 29  Subsequent events

New contracts
on 19 January 2012, lundin norway as awarded Kvaerner an epC contract of approximately 
noK 1.1 billion for delivery of a steel jacket to be located at the luno field, production license 
pl338, offshore the norwegian north sea. the contract will be executed by Kvaerner's yard in 
verdal, and includes engineering, procurement, construction, load-out and sea-fastening of the 
jacket and associated piles. the jacket will have a total weight of approximately 14 500 tonnes. 

detailed engineering started immediately, while fabrication in verdal will commence in fourth 
quarter 2012. the project will reach its peak manpower of more than 400 people in first quarter 
2013. the luno jacket will be delivered in the spring of 2014, and will then become number 41 
in the series of jackets delivered by Kvaerner.

on 13 february 2012, total e&p norge as awarded Kvaerner an epsC-contract (engineering, pro-
curement, supply and Construction) of close to noK 1.2 billion for delivery of a steel jacket to be 
located at the hild field offshore the norwegian north sea. the contract will be executed by 
Kvaerner's yard in verdal, and includes engineering, procurement, supply, construction, load-out 
and sea-fastening of the jacket and associated piles. the jacket (16 500 tonnes) and piles will 
have a total weight of approximately 21 400 tonnes. detailed engineering starts immediately, 
while fabrication in verdal will commence in fourth quarter 2012. the project will reach its peak 
manpower of more than 400 persons in third quarter 2013. the hild jacket will be delivered in 
the spring of 2014, and becomes number 42 in the series of jackets delivered by Kvaerner since 
1975.

Note 30  Separation from Aker Solutions ASA

effective 7 July 2011, aker solutions transferred certain activities and subsidiaries relating to its 
engineering, procurement & Construction (epC) businesses to Kværner asa. 

the transfers from aker solutions to Kværner asa included: 

 > shares in subsidiaries and other equity interests;
 > transfer of the economic interest in certain project activities relating to the epC business where 
contract notation to Kvaerner was impracticable;

 > transfer of engineering, project management and corporate staff providing services to the epC 
business, and who were previously employed by the aker solutions group; 

 > related pension liabilities, and 
 > an equity contribution in the amount of noK 4.7 billion. 

as consideration, the shareholders in aker solutions received one share in Kværner asa for each 
share they owned in aker solutions asa. 

these transactions were recorded in the second and third quarter of 2011, and have significantly 
impacted the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 december 2011. the separation 
transactions resulted in a noK two billion reduction of total balance sheet value. the reduction 
was due to settlement of intercompany balances between aker solutions and Kvaerner during 
2011.

Demerger transactions
general principles of the demerger are described below:

 > Kvaerner takes over all risk and rewards for projects transferred. 
 > some family joint venture agreements were settled and terminated, with the party that 
 assumed the end customer contract having the right to purchase services from the other 
 parties (e.g. to  complete warranty works).
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 > Cooperation agreement signed which sets up forums and principles for cooperation on current 
and future projects where cooperation is in the mutual interest of both parties.

 > parent company and bank guarantees are either released or a guarantee fee is paid by Kvaerner.
 > aker solutions will not receive any consideration for this transfer.

Family joint venture settlement and subcontracts 
the aker solutions group and the Kvaerner group have on-going projects which  require resources 
both from entities within the aker solutions group and entities within the Kvaerner group. this 
includes projects where the execution has been organized as intra-group joint ventures (family 
joint ventures with full risk sharing) and projects where the execution has been organized 
through subcontracts between entities within the aker solutions group and the Kvaerner group. 
some of these projects are on-going, and others are in warranty period. in addition, a number of 
potential projects where bids are outstanding or planned and will require the resources of both 
entities within the aker solutions group and entities within the Kvaerner group if they are award-
ed. in conjunction with the demerger, new subcontracting agreements have been entered into for 
a number of projects. 

this includes subcontracting agreements for the completion of the contracts for the sakhalin 1, 
hejre and eldfisk field developments. the family joint venture agreements for certain projects in 
warranty period have been terminated and settled between the participants. for these family 
joint venture agreements, the Kvaerner group company or the aker solutions group company 
having the main customer contract has taken over the full upside and downside risk for 
remaining warranty obligations on the project against receiving all amounts that have been 
reserved in the accounts of the joint venture partners for expected remaining liabilities. for 
instance, Kværner stord as will have the full responsibility for the h-6e project (the semi-
submersible drilling rigs aker barents and aker spitsbergen) based on this principle. 

Certain family joint venture agreements will continue as before with risk sharing between the 
participants. this includes the Kollsnes project, the greater ekofisk area development project, and 
the blind faith project. Kvaerner and aker solutions have also reviewed other on-going contrac-
tual relationships between the Kvaerner group and the aker solutions group and have made 
 necessary amendments to reflect the demerger and that the agreements will continue between 
unrelated parties. it is intended that future contracts will be based on subcontracting formats and 
not joint ventures.

Changes in equity 
by year end 2011 noK 589 million was reduced in equity due to the engineering demerger, 
 reference is made to Consolidated statement of changes in equity and the prospectus for listing 
of Kværner asa.

The following demerger steps are to be completed in 2012
the only outstanding share transfer is the sale of 75 percent of the shares in aker process gulf 
 Company limited from aker solutions bv to Kværner as for a consideration of noK 3 375 000.

sale of 25 percent of the shares in aker process gulf Company limited from aker process bv to 
Kværner engineering as for a consideration of noK 1 250 000.

incorporation and transfer of certain personnel to Kvaerner (beijing) Co ltd has not been 
 completed.

Note 31  Capital and reserves

Share capital
Kværner asa has one class of shares, ordinary shares, with equal rights for all shares. the hold-
ers of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends and are entitled to one vote per share at 
general meetings.

in the second quarter of 2011 aker solutions decided to demerge the company. an allocation of 
the share capital was determined, after deducting the value of aker solutions’ treasury shares, 
such that 17 percent of the share capital was allocated to Kvaerner and 83 percent was allocated 
to aker solutions giving a split ratio of 17:83. following the demerger, Kværner asa issued pro 
rata consideration shares to aker solutions' shareholders and was listed on the oslo børs on   
8 July 2011.

total outstanding shares are 269 000 000 at par value noK 0.34 per share. all issued shares are 
fully paid.

 
Dividends 2011

paid dividend per share (noK)  - 
total dividend proposed (noK million)  269 
ordinary dividend per share proposed by the board of directors (noK)  1.00

Hedging reserve
the hedging reserve relates to cash flow hedges of future revenues and expenses against 
 exchange rate fluctuations. the income statement effects of such instruments are recognised in 
accordance with the progress of the underlying construction contract as part of revenues or 
 expenses as appropriate. the hedging reserve represents the value of such hedging instruments 
that are not yet recognised in the income statement. the underlying nature of a hedge is that a 
positive value on a hedging instrument exists to cover a negative value on the hedged position, 
see note 18 derivative financial instruments.

Currency translation reserve
the currency translation reserve includes exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
net investment in foreign operations, and foreign exchange gain or loss on loans defined as 
hedges or net investments, see note 12 financial income and expenses.
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amounts in noK thousands note 12 January - 31 december 2011

operating revenue  - 
operating expenses 2  (100 007)
Operating loss  (100 007)
net financial items 3  191 895 
Profit before tax  91 888 

income tax expense 4  (25 729)

Profit for the period  66 159 

Net profit for the year is distributed as follows:
proposed dividends 1) 6  66 159 

Profit for the period  66 159 

1) total proposed dividends for the year is noK 269 million, see note 6 shareholders' equity.

Income statement 12.01 - 31.12.
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amounts in noK thousands note 31 december 2011

Assets
deferred tax asset  4  14 617 
investments in group companies  5  428 671 
non-current interest-bearing receivables from group companies  7  6 838 411 
other non-current interest-bearing receivables  8  15 085 
Total non-current assets  7 296 784 

non interest-bearing receivables from group companies  7  23 367 
other current receivables  9  22 779 
Cash and cash equivalents  7  827 832 
Total current assets  873 978 
Total assets  8 170 762 

Liabilities and shareholders' equity
issued capital  91 460 
share premium reserve  729 027 
other equity  4 500 849 
Total equity  6  5 321 336 

non-current interest-bearing borrowing  10  459 629 
Total non-current liabilities  459 629 

interest-bearing current borrowing from group companies  7  1 937 771 
other current borrowings  9  8 434 
provision for dividend  6  269 000 
other current liabilities to group companies  7  40 399 
other current liabilities  9  134 193 
Total current liabilities  2 389 797 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  8 170 762

Balance sheet as of 31 December

fornebu, 19 march 2012
board of directors of Kværner asa

 Kjell inge røkke tore torvund bruno Weymuller lone fønss schrøder vibeke hammer madsen
 Chairman deputy Chairman director director director

 rune rafdal ståle Knoff Johansen bernt harald Kilnes Jan arve haugan
 director director director president & Ceo
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Statement of cash flows 12.01 - 31.12.

amounts in noK thousands 12 January - 31 december 2011

profit before tax  91 888 
Changes in net operating assets  89 102 
Net cash from operating activities  180 990 

Change in long term investment in related party Kvaerner Caspian b.v.  (15 085)
Change in short term investment  (1 002)
Net cash from investing activities  (16 087)

net proceeds from external borrowings  468 063 
net change in intercompany loans  194 866 
Net cash from financing activities 662 929

net increase in cash and bank deposits  827 832 
Cash and bank deposits at the end of the period  827 832
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Note 1  Accounting principles

Kværner asa, formerly fornebu newco as, was incorporated on 12 January 2011 and is 
domiciled in norway. Kværner asa’s registered office address is snarøyveien 30, fornebu, 
norway. Kværner asa was incorporated as a wholly owned subsidiary of aker solutions asa 
(aker solutions) to be the parent company and owner of certain entities and operations within 
aker solutions’ energy development & services and process & Construction segments.

effective as of 7 July 2011, aker solutions transferred certain activities and subsidiaries relating 
to its engineering, procurement & Construction (epC) businesses to Kværner asa. as consideration, 
the shareholders in aker solutions received one share in Kværner asa for each share they owned 
in aker solutions asa. as of 8 July 2011, the shares of Kværner asa were listed on the oslo 
børs. 

the accounts are presented in conformity with norwegian legislation and norwegian generally 
accepted accounting principles. the functional and presentation currency is norwegian kroner 
(noK).

Investment in subsidiaries and associates
investments in subsidiaries and associates are accounted for using the cost method in the parent 
company accounts. the investments are valued at cost less impairment losses. Write-down to fair 
value are according to good accounting practice recognised when the impairment is considered 
not to be temporary and reversed if the basis for the write-down is no longer present.

dividends and other distributions are recognised as income the same year as they are appro-
priated in the subsidiary. if the dividend exceeds accumulated profits in the subsidiary after the 
day of acquisition the payment is treated as a reduction of the carrying value of the investment.

Classification and valuation of balance sheet items
Current assets and current liabilities include items due within one year or items that are part of 
the operating cycle. the rest is classified as fixed assets/non-current debt.

Current assets are valued at the lowest of cost and fair value. Current debt is valued at nominal 
value at the time of recognition.

non-current debts are initially valued at transaction value less attribute transaction cost. sub-
sequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing long-term debt is stated at amortised cost with any 
difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the 
period of the borrowing on an effective interest basis.Current assets and current liabilities include 
items due within one year or items that are part of the operating cycle. 

trade receivables and other receivables are recognised at nominal value less provision for 
 expected losses. provision for expected losses is considered on an individual basis.

the cash flow statement is established according to the indirect method. Cash in cash pool system 
is the parent company’s cash as well as net deposits from subsidiaries in the group cash pooling 
systems owned by the parent company. Correspondingly, the parent company’s current debt to 
group companies will include the same net deposits in the group’s cash pooling system.

Foreign currency 
Cash, receivables and foreign currency are valued at the exchange rate at the end of the fiscal
year. subsidiaries have entered into agreements with the parent company to hedge their foreign
exchange exposure. in the parent company, this risk is hedged in the external financial markets. 
all agreements are booked at fair value with any gains or losses booked against the income 
 statement.

Tax
tax expense in the profit and loss account comprises current tax and changes in deferred tax. 
 deferred tax is calculated as 28 percent of temporary differences between accounting and tax 
values as well as any tax losses carry forward at the year end. a net deferred tax asset is recog-
nised only to the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilised.

use of estimates
preparation of financial statements in confirmity with generally accepted accounitng principles in 
norway requires management to make estimates and assumptions that effect the income state-
ment, assets and liabilities and disclosures related to contingent assets and liabilities on the 
 balance sheet date.

Transaction costs
fees related to the negotiation and arrangement of finance facilities are capitalised in the balance 
sheet and recognised as an expense over the expected term of the loan.

Notes to the financial statements
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Note 2  Operating expenses

there are no employees in Kværner asa and hence no salary or pension related costs and also no 
loan or guarantees related to the executive management team. group management and corporate 
staff are employed by other Kværner companies and costs for their services as well as other 
 parent company costs are recharged to Kværner asa.       
 
Costs incurred by aker solutions as and external advisors for establishing Kværner asa with 
 future subsidiaries as a stand alone group listed on the oslo børs (the stock exchange in oslo) has 
been charged to Kværner asa, total noK 81 million.       
 
as part of the demerger Kpmg provided an opinion on carve out financial statements for the 
years 2008, 2009 and 2010. Kpmg also provided a statutory opinion on the demerger trans-
actions. the related audit fee for 2011 noK 10,9 million was paid by aker solutions as and 
 recharged to Kværner asa, and is included in total demerger cost noK 81 million.
       
fees to Kpmg for statutory audit of the parent company amounted to noK 2.15 million and fees 
for other audit assurance services amounted to noK 0.4 million excluding vat.   
    
no fees have yet been paid to the board of directors during the period. noK 2.1 million has been 
allocated to this purpose in 2011.
       
refer to note 9 other current receivables and current receivables in the group accounts for fur-
ther details regarding remuneration of the president & Ceo.     
  

Note 3  Net financial items

amounts in noK thousands 12 January - 31 december 2011

interest income from group companies  252 320 
interest expense to group companies (41 849)
Net interest group companies 210 471
interest income from external companies  10 938 
interest expense to external companies (19 455)
Net interest external (8 517)

net other financial items (10 059)
Net financial items  191 895 

Note 4  Tax

amounts in noK thousands 12 January - 31 december 2011

Taxable income
profit before tax  91 888 
temporary differences  52 205 
Taxable income  144 093 

Temporary differences and deferred tax effect
unrealised gain/(loss) on forward exchange contracts  52 205 
basis for deferred tax  52 205 
Deferred tax asset  14 617 

Income tax expense
payable tax on operating profit (40 346)
deferred tax expense on temporary differences  14 617 
Total tax expense in income statement (25 729)
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Note 5  Investments in group companies

amounts in noK thousands
registered 

office
share 

capital
number of 

shares held
book 
value

percentage owner-/
voting share

Kværner as fornebu, norway 250 10 000 428 671 100%

Note 6  Shareholders' equity

amounts in noK thousands
number of 

shares
share 

capital
share 

premium
other 

equity Total

equity at date of inception, 12 January 2011 1000 1000 - -  1 000 
Capital reduction  (1 000)  (1 000)  -  -  (1 000)
separation from aker solutions on 7 July 2011  269 000 000  91 460  729 027  4 703 690  5 524 177 
profit for the period  66 159  66 159 
proposed dividend  (269 000)  (269 000)
Equity as of 31 December 2011  269 000 000  91 460  729 027  4 500 849  5 321 336 

Kværner asa was newly formed in 2011. there were no outstanding shares in 2010. Kværner asa's share capital has a value of noK 91 460 000 which was obtained through the issuance of 
269 000 000 shares upon demerger, each with a par value of noK 0.34. 

upon the demerger the share premium account of Kværner asa was increased by noK 729 027 303, and other capital of noK 4 703 690 388 was transferred from aker solutions asa to Kværner asa. 
this transaction primarily involve transfer of shares in subsidiaries. an overview of the company's largest shareholders is to be found in note 14 shareholders.     
 
the board of directors has proposed a dividend of noK 1.00 per share for 2011. 
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Note 7  Receivables and borrowings from group companies

amounts in noK thousands 12 January - 31 december 2011

Kværner asa bank deposits  827 832 
Total Cash in cash pool system  827 832 

non-current interest-bearing receivables from group companies  6 838 411 
interest-bearing current intercompany loans (288 539)
interest-bearing current borrowings from group companies (1 649 232)
Net interest-bearing receivables from group companies  4 900 640 

non interest-bearing receivables from group companies  23 367 
other current liabilities to group companies  (40 399)
Net non interest-bearing liabilities to goup companies (17 032)

Total cash and group receivables  5 711 440

Note 8  Other non-current interest-bearing receivables

amounts in noK thousands 31 december 2011

loan to related party Kvaerner Caspian b.v.  15 085 
Total other non-current interest-bearing receivables  15 085 

Note 9  Other current receivables and current liabilities

amounts in noK thousands 31 december 2011

other current external receivables  22 779 
other current external liabilities (82 985)
Net other current receivables and liabilities excluding 
tax, accounts payable and dividend (60 206)

vat liabilities (10 391)
payable tax (40 346)
other accounts payable (471)
other current external borrowings (8 434)
dividend (269 000)
Net other current liabilities  (388 848)

net other current receivables and other current liabilities include unrealised forward exchange 
contracts with external counterparts, see also note 12 financial risk management and exposures.  
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Note 10  Interest-bearing liabilities

this note provides information about the contractual terms of Kværner asa's interest-bearing loans and borrowings which are measured at amortised cost. for more information about the Kværner asa's 
exposure to interest rates, foreign currency and liquidity risk, see note 12 financial risk management and exposures.

2011

amounts in million Currency
nominal 

currency value
book 

value 1)
interest 
margin

interest 
rate

effective 
interest rate

maturity 
date

interest 
terms

revolving credit facility multi currency  2 500 2.10–2.50% 3 may 2016 ibor + margin 1)

term loan noK  500  460 1.50–2.50% 4.65% 4.73% 3 may 2014 nibor + margin 2)

Total credit facility 3 000  460 

1) the book value is calculated by reducing the nominal value of noK 500 million by total issue costs related to the new financing. accrued interest and issue costs related to the loans are included.
2) the margin applicable to the facility is decided by a price grid based on the gearing ratio. Commitment fee is 40 percent of the margin.
       

Bank debt
the bank facility of noK 3 000 million consists of a revolving credit facility of noK 2 500 million maturing in may 2016 and a term loan of noK 500 million maturing in may 2014. the facilities are pro-
vided by a syndicate of high quality international banks. the term loan of noK 500 million was fully drawn at end of year 2011 whilst the noK 2 500 million credit facility remained undrawn. the terms 
and conditions include restrictions which are customary for these kinds of facilities, including inter alia negative pledge provisions and restrictions for acquisitions, disposals and mergers. there are also 
certain provisions of change of control included in the agreements. there are no restrictions for dividend payments – both revolving credit facilities and the term loan are unsecured.   

the financial covenants are based on three sets of key financial ratios; an equity ratio based on consolidated total borrowings/consolidated total equity, a cash covenant calculated by consolidated total 
borrowings less consolidated net current operating assets and consolidated cash and cash equivalent asstes and an interest coverage ratio based on consolidfated ebitda/consolidated finance costs. the 
financial covenants are tested on a quarterly basis. the margin applicable to the facility is based on a price grid determined by the gearing ratio. see note 12 financial risk management and exposures 
for more information regarding capital risk in Kværner asa.        

Financial liabilities and the period in which they mature

2011
amounts in noK million book value total undiscounted cash flow 6 mths and less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years

revolving credit facility (noK 2 500 million)  -  -  -  -  -  - 
term loan (noK 500 million)  460  500  -  -  -  500 
Total credit facility  460  500  -  -  -  500 

interest on revolving credit facility and other 
bank debt  8  53  12  13  19  9 
Total borrowings  468  553  12  13  19  509 
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Note 11  guarantees

amounts in noK million 2011

parent company guarantees to group companies 1) 39 020
Counter guarantees for bank/surety bonds 2) 1 260
Total 40 280

     
1) Kværner asa has provided indemnities to aker solutions in respect of parent company guarantees issued by aker 

solutions on behalf of Kvaerner group companies.
2)  financial guarantees including counterguarantees for bank/surety bonds .    

Note 12  Financial risk management and exposures

Foreign exchange
Kværner asa entered into currency contracts with subsidiaries in 2011 with a total value of noK 
2.7 billion. most contracts are hedged back-to-back with external banks, minor contracts are 
hedged after internal netting. 

Currency exposure from equity  investments in foreign currencies are only hedged when 
specifically instructed by management. as of 31 december 2011, the group had no hedging of 
net investments.      

Currency risk and balance sheet hedging  
2011

amounts in noK thousands  assets liabilities

forward exchange contracts with group companies   22 367 (14 364)
forward exchange contracts with external counterparts  22 777 (82 985)
Total  45 144 (97 349)

Interest rate risk     
the company is exposed to changes in interest rates because of floating interest rate loan re-
ceivables and loan payables. the company does not hedge transactions exposure in the financial 
markets and have no fixed rate loan receivables or loan payables. the company is therefore not 
exposed to the risk that changes in interest rates impact market value of its outstanding loan 
 receivables or loan payable. interest bearing loan receivables and loan payables expose the 
 company to income statement and cash flow interest rate risk.     

Credit risk
Credit risk relates to loans to subsidiaries and associated companies, overdraft in the group cash 
pool, hedging contracts, guarantees to subsidiaries and deposits with external banks. loans to 
subsidiaries are assessed by the internal credit committee. loss provisions are made in situations 
of negative equity and were the company is not expected to be able to fulfil it's loan obligations 
from future earnings. external deposits and forward contracts are done according to a list of 
 approved banks and primarily with banks were the company also have a borrowing relation. the 
existence of netting agreements between aker solutions asa and the relations banks reduces the 
credit risk.

Liquidity risk
liquidity risk relates to the risk that the company will not be able to meet its debt and guarantee 
obligations and are managed through maintaining sufficient cash and available credit facilities. 
the development in the groups and thereby Kværner asa available liquidity is continuously 
monitored through weekly and monthly cash forecasts, annual budgets and long term planning.

Note 13  Related parties

Kværner asa has reported outstanding accounts with Kvaerner Caspian b.v.

see note 8 other non-current interest-bearing receivables for further details.

Note 14  Shareholders

Shareholders with more than 1 percent shareholding as of 31 December 2011

Company nominee number of shares held ownership

aKer Kværner holding as 110 333 615 41.02
morgan stanleY & Co x 14 092 950 5.24
state street banK x 10 387 119 3.86
Jpmorgan Clearing Co x 8 187 432 3.04
goldman saChs & Co x 8 006 831 2.98
Jp morgan Clearing x 7 862 714 2.92
Jpmorgan Chase banK x 5 579 211 2.07
fondsfinans spar 5 150 000 1.91
Clearstream banKing x 4 603 711 1.71
sKandinavisKa ensKilda x 3 775 694 1.40
Jpmorgan Chase banK x 3 650 455 1.36
Jpmorgan Chase banK x 3 388 500 1.26
nomura international 2 927 464 1.09
sKandinavisKe ensKilda x 2 875 394 1.07
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the board of directors and the president & Ceo of Kværner asa have today considered 
and approved the annual report and financial statements for the 2011 calendar year 
ended on 31 december 2011 for the Kvaerner group and its parent company Kværner asa.

the board has based this declaration on reports and statements from the president & 
Ceo of Kværner asa, on the results of the group’s activities, and on other information 
that is essential to assess the group’s position.

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that:

 > the 2011 financial statements for the group and parent company have been prepared 
in accordance with all applicable accounting standards.

 > the information provided in the financial statements gives a true and fair view of the 
group’s and parent company's assets, liabilities, profit and overall financial position as 
of 31 december 2011.

 > the annual report provides a true and fair overview of:
– the development, profit and financial position of the group and parent company;
– the most significant risks and uncertainties facing the group and the parent company.

Declaration by the Board of Directors and President & CEO

fornebu, 19 march 2012
board of directors of Kværner asa

 Kjell inge røkke tore torvund bruno Weymuller lone fønss schrøder vibeke hammer madsen
 Chairman deputy Chairman director director director

 rune rafdal ståle Knoff Johansen bernt harald Kilnes Jan arve haugan
 director director director president & Ceo
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Share and shareholder information

Shares and share capital
Kværner asa was listed on the oslo børs (the stock 
 exchange in oslo) on 8 July 2011 under the ticker Kvaer 
after a demerger from aker solutions asa. the shares are 
registered in the norwegian Central securities depository 
with dnb bank as registrar under the securities registration 
number isin no0010605371. Kværner asa has 
269 000 000 ordinary shares with a par value of noK 0.34 
(see the consolidated financial statements on page 67). the 
company has a single share class and each share carries 
one vote. Kvaerner did not own any treasury shares as of 
31 december 2011.

Shareholder structure
Kvaerner had 10 826 shareholders on record as of 31 
december 2011, of which 42.6 percent (1 266 
shareholders) were non-norwegian. 75.5 percent of the 
share capital was owned by the company’s 20 largest 
shareholders at year end 2011. the largest shareholder in 
Kvaerner is aker Kværner holding as, which owned 41.02 
percent of the shares as of 31 december 2011. aker asa 
owns 70 percent of aker Kvaerner holding while the 
norwegian government owns 30 percent. for more 
information about the principal shareholder, see the chapter 
concerning corporate governance on page 85.

Kvaerner is committed to serve the financial market with precise and relevant 
 information about the company. All reporting of information and contact with the 
financial community is based on openness and equal treatment. The company aims 
at ensuring that the information provided gives the market players the best 
 possible basis to establish a precise picture of the company's financial condition 
and factors that may affect its future value creation. 

Dividend policy
Kvaerner’s ambition is to distribute dividends such that the 
average over time – through cash distribution and/or share 
buy-backs – amounts to between 30 and 50 percent of the 
Kvaerner group’s net profit. the size of the dividend shall 
be assessed in relation to alternative uses of funds and the 
desire to continue strengthening the financial structure of 
the Kvaerner group. the board of directors has proposed to 
the annual general meeting that a total dividend of noK 
1.00 per share be paid for 2011, corresponding to 48 per-
cent of the annual net profit per share. the dividend will be 
paid out to shareholders of record on the date of the 
 annual  general meeting. 

Current Board mandates 
the board of directors has not had any mandates to buy 
back stock or increase the share capital during 2011. the 
board of directors has proposed that the annual general 
meeting grant the board power of attorney to acquire own 
shares in the company of up to 10 percent of the share 
capital.

Stock option programme
Kværner asa had no stock option programmes as of 
31  december 2011.

Kværner ASA
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Nomination Committee
Kvaerner’s articles of association provide for a nomination 
Committee composed of minimum three members who are 
elected by the general meeting. the nomination Committee 
comprises the following members:

 > Øyvind eriksen (Chairman), 2011–2013
 > mette Wikborg, 2011–2013
 > thomas thune andersen, 2011–2013

shareholders who wish to contact the nomination 
 Committee, may do so using the following e-mail address: 
ir@kvaerner.com. 

general Meetings
the annual general meeting will normally be held in april 
or early may. Written notice is sent to all shareholders 
 individually or to their custodian bank. the articles of 
 association of the company stipulate that documents 
 pertaining to matters to be deliberated by the general 
meeting shall only be made available on the company’s 
website, and not normally be sent physically by post to the 
shareholders  unless required by statute. for more informa-
tion about general meetings, see the chapter concerning 
corporate governance on page 86.

20 LARgEST SHAREHOLDERS AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2011

Name Nominee Number of shares held Ownership (in %)

aKer Kværner holding as 110 333 615 41.02
morgan stanleY & Co x 14 092 950 5.24
state street banK x 10 387 119 3.86
Jpmorgan Clearing Co x 8 187 432 3.04
goldman saChs & Co x 8 006 831 2.98
Jp morgan Clearing x 7 862 714 2.92
Jpmorgan Chase banK x 5 579 211 2.07
fondsfinans spar 5 150 000 1.91
Clearstream banKing x 4 603 711 1.71
sKandinavisKa ensKilda x 3 775 694 1.40
Jpmorgan Chase banK x 3 650 455 1.36
Jpmorgan Chase banK x 3 388 500 1.26
nomura international 2 927 464 1.09
sKandinavisKe ensKilda x 2 875 394 1.07
fidelitY nordiC fund 2 336 149 0.87
dnb nor smb vpf 2 100 000 0.78
verdipapirfondet dnb 2 072 782 0.77
Jpmblsa x 2 021 789 0.75
CitibanK na neW YorK x 1 973 275 0.73
vpf nordea Kapital 1 751 129 0.65

Total 203 076 214 75.48
other shareholders 65 923 786 24.52
Total 269 000 000 100.00

source: norwegian Central securities depository (vps)

THE KVAERNER SHARE IN 2011

highest traded share price noK 14.34
lowest traded share price noK 7.31
Closing share price as of 31 december noK 9.75

market captitalisation as of 31 december noK million 2 623
daily turnover no. of shares 1 517 251
turnover ratio percent 70.50
shares issued and outstanding as of 31 december no. of shares 269 000 000
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gEOgRAPHICAL DISTRIBuTION OF OWNERSHIP (AS OF 31 DESEMBER 2011)

Citizenship No. of shareholders Ownership (in %)

norway 9 560 57.5
usa 214 24.6
united Kingdom 494 8.4
luxembourg 24 2.9
sweden 75 2.8
others 459 4.0
Total 10 826 100

source: norwegian Central securities depository (vps)

OWNERSHIP STRuCTuRE By SIzE OF SHAREHOLDINgS (AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2011)

Shares held
Number of 

shareholders
Percent of 

share capital

1–100 2 256 0.04
101–1 000 6 911 1.02
1 001–10 000 1 282 1.58
10 001–100 000 268 3.32
100 001–500 000 83 6.91
more than 500 000 56 87.13
Total 10 856 100

source: norwegian Central securities depository (vps)

THE FOLLOWINg RESEARCH ANALySTS PROVIDE COVERAgE OF KVAERNER (AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2011)

Company Name Phone

abg sundal Collier  anders hagen +47 22 01 60 48
arctic securities Kjetil garstad +47 21 01 32 24
Carnegie frederik lunde +47 22 00 93 79
dnb eirik r. mathisen +47 22 94 89 97
fearnley fonds morten nystrøm +47 22 93 63 88
handelsbanken haakon amundsen +47 22 94 09 95
nordea anne s. ulriksen +47 22 48 68 67
pareto erik s. thomassen +47 24 13 21 65
rs platou gøran andreassen +47 22 01 63 42
seb enskilda   terje fatnes +47 21 00 85 38
swedbank first securities pål h. dahl +47 23 23 81 98

Investor Relations
Kvaerner wishes to maintain an open dialogue with 
participants from the financial community on a regular 
basis through meetings, presentations, seminars and 
roadshows to financial centres. all stock exchange 
announcements, quarterly reports and presentations, other 
public presentations and press releases are made available 
on the company’s website, www.kvaerner.com, together 
with other relevant information. all information sent to the 
share holders is posted on the company’s website 
simultaneously. Kvaerner holds open presentations in 
connection with the financial reporting, and these 
presentations are broadcast live via the internet. a capital 
markets day will be hosted annually, and will be open to all 
interested parties. shareholders and other interested parties 
can contact the company by e-mail: ir@kvaerner.com. 

Registrar
shareholders can contact Kvaerner’s registrar if they have 
any questions concerning their holdings:

dnb bank asa
registrar's department
stranden 21
n-0021 oslo

e-mail: kua@dnb.no
phone: +47 22 94 94 28
fax: +47 22 48 11 71
www.dnb.no 

Financial calendar 2012
annual general meeting: 12 april 2012
1st quarter results 2012: 8 may 2012
2nd quarter results 2012: 10 august 2012
3rd quarter results 2012: 31 october 2012
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Corporate governance

the corporate governance principles of Kvaerner are 
adopted by the board of directors of Kvaerner. the 
principles are based on the norwegian Code of practice 
for Corporate governance, dated 21 october 2010, as 
amended 20 october 2011, (the «Code of practice»). the 
principles are set out in the Continuing obligations of 
stock exchange listed companies from the oslo børs (the 
stock exchange in oslo) and the relevant norwegian 
background law such as the norwegian accounting act 
and the norwegian public limited liability Companies act. 
the Code of practice may be found at www.nues.no, and 
the Continuing obligations of stock exchange listed 

Kvaerner aims to ensure that the maximum possible value is created for its share-
holders over time. good corporate governance shall ensure an appropriate 
 dis tribution of roles between the owners, the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management Team, and also contribute to reducing risk and ensuring sustainable 
value creation. 

companies may be found at www.oslobors.no.
below follows an account outlining how Kvaerner has 

implemented the Code of practice. this account follows 
the same structure as the Code of practice and covers all 
sections thereof. deviations from the Code of practice are 
addressed under the relevant section. 

in addition to the Code of practice, the norwegian 
 accounting act § 3-3b stipulates that companies must pro-
vide a report on their policies and practices for corporate 
governance either in the annual report or in a document 
referred to in the annual report. this report is integrated 
in the Corporate governance statement.

Section 1: Implementation and reporting on 
corporate governance 
good corporate governance shall ensure that appropriate 
goals and strategies are adopted, that the adopted 
strategies are implemented in practice, and that the 
results achieved are subject to measurement and follow-
up. the principles shall also contribute to ensuring that 
the activities of the Kvaerner group of companies are 
appropriately controlled. an appropriate distribution of 
roles and adequate controls shall contribute to the largest 
possible value creation over time, for the benefit of the 
owners and other stakeholders. 

it is the responsibility of the board of directors of 
Kværner asa to ensure that Kvaerner implements sound 
corporate governance. the board of directors evaluates 
the Corporate governance statement on an annual basis. 
the board’s audit Committee also evaluates the Corporate 
governance statement and will evaluate other policies and 
procedures, such as those relating to whistleblowing and 
anti-corruption, on a regular basis. 

Basic corporate values and ethical guidelines 
Kvaerner wishes to contribute to sustainable social 
  development through responsible business practices. 

below is a specification of where the items on which 
 information must be disclosed under section 3-3b of the 
norwegian accounting act may be found within this 
 corporate governance statement:
1.  «a statement of the recommendations and regulations 

concerning cor porate governance that the enterprise is 
subject to or otherwise chooses to comply with» can 
be found in section 1 of this Corporate governance 
statement. 

2.  «information on where the recommendations and 
 regulations mentioned in no. 1 are available to the 
public» can be found in the introduction section of this 
Corporate governance statement. 

3.  «the reason for any non-conformance with recommen-
dations and regulations mentioned in no. 1». the non-

conformances are described in the relevant section 
where there are non-conformances, which are sections 
6 and 14  respectively. 

4.  «a description of the main elements in the enterprise’s, 
and for entities that prepare consolidated financial 
statements, if relevant also the group’s internal control 
and risk management systems linked to the financial 
reporting process» can be found in section 10 of this 
Corporate governance statement.

5.  «articles of association which entirely or partly ex-
pand or depart from provisions of Chapter 5 of the 
public limited liability Companies act can be found in 
section 6 of this Corporate governance statement. 

6.  «the composition of the board of directors, the 
 Corporate assembly, the Committee of shareholders’ 

representatives and the Control Committee and any 
working committees related to these bodies, as well as 
a des cription of the main instructions and guidelines 
that apply to the work of the bodies and any commit-
tees» can be found in section 8 and 9 of this Corporate 
governance statement.

7. «articles of association governing the appointment 
and replacement of directors» can be found in section 
8 of this Corporate governance statement.

8.  «articles of association and authorisations empower-
ing the board of directors to decide that the enterprise 
is to buy back or issue its own shares or equity certifi-
cates» can be found in section 3 of this Corporate 
 governance statement.
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Kvaerner has defined a set of basic corporate values, 
ethical guidelines and corporate social responsibility 
principles for the group to achieve this, and these are 
available at www.kvaerner.com/en/environment--society. 

the ethical guidelines and other policy documents of 
Kvaerner have been drafted on the basis of these basic 
corporate values. these policy documents express 
Kvaerner’s position with regard to, inter alia, corporate 
responsibility, whilst at the same time providing 
operational guidelines that apply to individual employees, 
thus enabling compliance within the various functions 
operated by Kvaerner. the relevant policies are in place, 
and Kvaerner is currently performing an in-depth review 
of its entire policy framework, which will be finalised 
within the first quarter of 2012. during the first quarter 
of 2012, Kvaerner will also develop and implement its 
own «Code of Conduct» for the group, which is intended 
to summarize the corporate responsibility principles 
adopted by Kvaerner and other key require ments 
governing the business practices of Kvaerner. 

Kvaerner has implemented procedures to ensure that 
the projects globally are conducted in compliance with 
Kvaerner’s own guidelines. for key areas like hse, anti-
corruption and human rights, the controls are implemented 
through internal procedures. these procedures are 
currently subject to review and improvements. 

this review will be finalised during the course of the 
first quarter of 2012. in case of doubt, issues may be 
referred for deliberation at group level, where they are 
examined by the Corporate Quality management & 
enterprise risk function. as far as the tendering for main 
projects of the company are concerned, the complex 
extended effects and risks are reviewed by a committee 
with a broad representation. the committee makes 
recommendations to the evp & Cfo, the president & Ceo 
and the board of directors on whether to pursue with the 
tender for the relevant projects or not. 

Kvaerner will do its utmost to contract only with 
subcontractors or suppliers who themselves adhere to the 
highest standards similar to the standards of Kvaerner. 
the aim is that corporate responsibility is an integral part 
of the Kvaerner procurement processes and practices. 

Kvaerner commits to monitor the ethical performance and 
to taking immediate and thorough steps in cases where 
the ethical performance of its suppliers comes into 
question. Kvaerner will work towards its goals by driving 
continuous improvement through systematic engagement 
with the suppliers. Kvaerner is now focusing on updating 
the supplier policy, standards and tools to strengthen the 
verifications on suppliers’ performance within hse, labour 
conditions and anti-corruption, and Kvaerner will also 
focus on training of Kvaerner personnel in this respect. 
such procedures are work in progress in Kvaerner. 
Kvaerner has a supplier pre-qualification system which is 
mandatory for all use of suppliers. 

any allegation of potential violation of the Kvaerner 
compliance policies can be reported confidentially or 
anonymously. Kvaerner will assure that there will be no 
adverse related consequences as a result of an employee 
bringing complaints about violations of the compliance 
policies. a fair and comprehensive investigation will be 
conducted with relevant internal and external assistance 
according to the Kvaerner investigation procedures. 
Kvaerner is now working on strengthening the reporting 
and investigation routines across all legal entities.

Section 2: Business 
the objectives of Kvaerner, as defined in the articles of 
association of Kværner asa, are «to own or carry out 
industrial and other associated businesses, management 
of capital and other functions for the group, and to 
participate in or acquire other businesses». the articles of 
association of Kvaerner are available at Kvaerner's 
website: www.kvaerner.no/en/toolsmenu/investors/
Corporate- governance-/articles-of-association. 

based on the solid foundation on which Kvaerner is 
built, the group has a clear objective for further growth 
and the long term ambition to become a leading epC con-
tractor. internationally, Kvaerner will build its capa bilities 
within epC projects at a global scale, and capitalise on 
deepwater oil and gas exploration and development, grav-
ity base structures (gbs) and jacket technologies. it will 
also develop its operations in selected international mar-
kets where there is a strong need for project and con-

struction management and yard development competency. 
the principal strategies of the group are further 

presented in the board of directors' report on page 7. 
each year, the board of directors evaluates the strategy, 
goals and guidelines of Kvaerner through a designated 
strategy process and a strategy workshop. information 
concerning the financial position and principal strategies 
of Kvaerner, and any changes thereto, are disclosed to the 
market in the context of the quarterly reporting and in 
designated market presentations. 

Section 3: Equity and dividends 
the board regularly monitors that the company’s equity 
capital is at a level appropriate for its objectives, strategy 
and risk profile. the book equity of the group as of 31 
december 2011 was noK 2 445 million, which represents 
an equity ratio of 35.8 percent. Kvaerner’s ambition is to 
distribute dividends such that the average dividend over 
time – through cash distribution and/or share buy-backs 
– amount to between 30 and 50 percent of net profit. the 
size of the dividends shall be assessed in relation to 
alternative uses of funds and the desire to continue 
strengthening the financial structure of Kvaerner. the 
board of directors have proposed that a dividend of noK 
1.00 per share should be paid for 2011. 

Authorisations for the Board of Directors 
proposals from the board of directors for future authori-
sations for share capital increases, share buy-backs or 
similar shall be restricted to defined purposes, such as 
share purchase programmes and acquisitions of compa-
nies, and shall remain in effect until the next annual gen-
eral meeting. there are currently no such authorisations. 
the board will propose to the annual general meeting 
that the board is given a mandate to acquire own treasury 
shares. the purpose of such authorisation from the annual 
general meeting is to provide flexibility to the board in 
case there should be a need to acquire own treasury 
shares of up to 10 percent of the share capital of the com-
pany for use in a future share purchase programme, as 
well as other purposes over the next year such as share 
capital  reductions if relevant.
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there are no current provisions in the articles of 
 as sociation of the company or power of attorney from the 
general meeting which grant the board of directors the 
mandate to buy back or issue shares in the company.

Share purchase programme for employees 
Kvaerner wants its employees to be able to participate in 
Kvaerner as owners, and to benefit from any increase in 
the value of the company, and thereby contribute to an 
even closer relationship between the employees and the 
company, as well as to enhance interest in the creation of 
value within Kvaerner. it is Kvaerner’s intention to launch 
an employee and a management share purchase 
programme in 2012. the programme implies that 
employees and managers in Kvaerner are offered to buy 
shares in the company at a discounted price. the share 
purchase programme is expected to contribute to 
increased employee attention and commitment to 
Kvaerner's overall value creation.

Section 4: Equal treatment of shareholders and 
transactions with close associates
the company has only one class of shares, and all shares 
carry equal rights. existing shareholders shall have pre-
emptive rights to subscribe for shares in the event of 
share capital increases, unless otherwise indicated by 
special circumstances. if the board of directors proposes 
to the general meeting that the pre-emptive rights of 
existing shareholders are waived in respect of a share 
capital increase, the reasons for such waiver shall be 
explained by the board of directors in the documentation 
to the general meeting. transactions in own shares are 
effected via oslo børs. 

in the event of any material transactions between 
Kvaerner and shareholders, directors, senior executives or 
close associates thereof, which do not form part of ongo-
ing projects pursued in the ordinary course of the compa-
ny’s business, the board of directors shall arrange for an 
independent assessment. the same shall, generally speak-
ing, apply to the relationship between Kvaerner and the 
aker group. the board of directors will similarly arrange 
for a valuation by an independent third party in the event 

of not insignificant transactions between companies with-
in the Kvaerner group where there are minority share-
holders. any contracts in the ordinary course of the com-
pany’s business with other listed companies in which aker 
asa holds ownership interests, will nevertheless normally 
be negotiated and concluded at arm’s length without any 
independent assessment necessarily being arranged for. 

as further described in both the listing prospectus and 
in the demerger plan, Kvaerner has entered into a number 
of agreements with the aker solutions group for, among 
other things, the rendering of corporate services until 
similar processes are fully in place within Kvaerner, and 
for completion of ongoing projects. further information on 
transactions with related parties is provided in note 7 
related party to the consolidated financial statements.

Kvaerner has prepared guidelines ensuring that 
directors and senior executives notify the board of 
directors if they have any material direct or indirect 
personal interest in any agreement concluded by the 
group, and these guidelines form an integrated part of the 
rules of procedures for the board of directors of 
Kvaerner. the rules of procedure for the board of 
directors of Kvaerner stipulate that the directors and the 
president & Ceo shall not participate in the preparation, 
deliberation or resolution of any matters that are of such 
special importance to themselves, or any of their close 
associates, that they must be deemed to have a prominent 
personal or financial interest in such matters. the relevant 
director(s) and the president & Ceo shall raise the issue of 
his or her competence whenever there may be cause to 
question it. 

in general, as further stipulated in the rules of 
procedure for the board of directors of Kvaerner, 
directors of Kvaerner should be cautious in participating 
in the con sideration of issues where a potential conflict of 
interest or conflict of roles may arise, and so undermining 
the confidence in the decision process. such a person may 
not participate in board discussions of more than one 
company that is part of the same related party agreement, 
unless the companies have common interests. 

the Chairman of the board of directors, Kjell inge 
røkke, is an indirect shareholder of both aker asa, aker 

solutions asa and Kvaerner. since his relative indirect 
ownership interests in aker asa exceed his ownership 
 interests in Kvaerner, he will not participate in the board 
of directors’ deliberation of matters that concern commer-
cial relationships between Kvaerner and aker asa. the 
same principle is applied if Kvaerner contracts with other 
companies in which the said director holds direct or in-
direct ownership interests that exceed, in relative terms, 
his ownership interest in Kvaerner. as his indirect share-
holding in aker solutions is identical to such of Kvaerner, 
he is as a ground rule considered competent to deliberate 
on matters concerning both companies. 

if incompetence is concluded, the relevant director will, 
as a ground rule, not be granted access to any 
documentation prepared to the board of directors prior to 
the deliberation of the matter in question. Kvaerner 
applies a strict norm as far as competence assessments 
are concerned. 

as far as the other officers and employees of Kvaerner 
are concerned, transactions with close associates will be 
comprehensively addressed and regulated in the group’s 
ethical guidelines. 

Principal shareholder 
aker asa holds 70 percent of the shares of aker Kværner 
holding as (formerly aker holding as), which held 41.02 
percent of the shares of Kvaerner as of 31 december 
2011. proposition no. 88 (2006–2007) to the storting 
(norwegian parliament) contains more detailed 
information concerning the establishment of aker 
Kværner holding as and the agreement between aker 
asa and the other shareholders of aker Kværner holding 
as. the board of directors is of the view that it is positive 
for Kvaerner that aker asa assumes the role of an active 
owner and is as such involved in matters of major 
importance to the group and to all shareholders. the 
cooperation with aker asa offers Kvaerner, inter alia, 
access to special know-how and resources within strategy, 
transactions and funding. moreover, aker asa offers 
network and negotiation resources from which Kvaerner 
benefits in various contexts. this complements and 
strengthens Kvaerner without curtailing the autonomy of 
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the group. it may be necessary to offer aker asa special 
access to commercial information in connection with such 
cooperation. any information disclosed to aker’s 
representatives in such a context will be presented in 
compliance with the laws and regulations governing the 
stock exchange and the securities market. Kvaerner is not 
deemed, within the meaning of the public limited 
Companies act, to be a close associate of aker asa or any 
company in which aker asa holds ownership interests. 
the board of directors and the executive management 
team of Kvaerner are nevertheless conscious that all 
relations with other aker companies shall be premised on 
commercial terms and structured in line with the arm’s 
length principle. transactions are made public in accor d-
ance with the rules and regulations governing companies 
listed on oslo børs. furthermore, transactions of a certain 
magnitude between Kvaerner and companies within the 
aker group will be handled in accordance with the pro-
cedures in section 3-8 of the public limited Companies act. 

Section 5: Freely negotiable shares
the shares are listed on oslo børs and are freely transfer-
able. no transferability restrictions are incorporated into 
the articles of association. 

Section 6: general meetings 
the board of directors encourages shareholders to attend 
the general meetings. it is a priority for Kvaerner to hold 
the annual general meeting as soon as possible after year 
end, normally in april or early may. notices convening 
general meetings, including comprehensive documen-
tation relating to the items on the agenda, including the 
recommendations from the nomination Committee, are 
made available on Kvaerner’s website no later than 21 
days prior to the general meeting. the articles of associa-
tion of Kværner asa stipulate that documents pertaining 
to matters to be deliberated by the general meeting shall 
only be made available on the company’s website, and not 
normally be sent physically by post to the shareholders 
unless required by statute. 

the following matters are typically decided at the 
annual general meeting, in accordance with the articles of 

association of Kværner asa and norwegian background law: 

 > election of the nomination Committee and stipulation 
of the nomination Committee's fees. 

 > election of board of directors. 
 > election of the external auditor and stipulation of the 

auditor's fee.
 > approval of the annual accounts and the annual report, 

including distribution of dividend.
 > other matters which, by law or under the articles of 

 association, are the business of the annual general 
 meeting.

the deadline for registering intended attendance is as 
close to the general meeting as possible, but not shorter 
than five days before the meeting. shareholders who are 
unable to attend may vote by proxy, and the board will 
appoint the Chair of the board or a person designated by 
him, to vote for shareholders as their proxy holder. 
moreover, information concerning both the registration 
procedure and the filing of proxies is included in the 
notice convening the general meeting and on the 
registration form. the board of directors also aims to 
structure, to the extent practicable, the proxy form such as 
to enable the shareholders to vote on each individual item 
on the agenda. the articles of association of Kværner asa 
stipulate that the general meetings shall be chaired by the 
Chair of the board of directors or a person appointed by 
said Chair. pursuant to the Code of practice, section 6, the 
board should make «arrangements to ensure an 
independent Chair for the general meeting». thus, the 
articles of association of Kvaerner deviate from the Code 
of practice in this respect, having the Chair of the board 
or a person appointed by him/her chairing the general 
meetings simplifies the preparations for the general 
meetings significantly. 

it is intended for the board of directors, the Chair of 
the nomination Committee and Kvaerner’s auditor to 
attend the annual general meeting. 

it is a priority for the nomination Committee that the 
board of directors shall work in the best possible manner 
as a team, and that the background and competence of the 

directors shall complement each other. as a consequence, 
the board of directors will propose that the shareholders 
are invited to vote on the full board composition 
proposed by the nomination Committee as a group, and 
not on each member separately. hence, Kvaerner deviates 
from the Code of practice stipulating that one should 
make «appropriate arrangements for the general meeting 
to vote separately on each candidate nominated for 
election to the company’s corporate bodies».

as it is a priority for the general meetings to be con-
ducted in a sound manner, with all shareholder votes to 
be cast, to the extent possible, on the basis of the same 
information, Kvaerner has thus far not deemed it advis-
able to recommend the introduction of an electronic atten-
dance. the board of directors will contemplate the intro-
duction of such arrangements on an ongoing basis in view 
of, inter alia, the security and ease of use offered by avail-
able systems. in accordance with the articles of associa-
tion of Kværner asa allow for advance voting options at 
the annual general meetings.

minutes of general meetings will be published as soon 
as practicable on the announcement system of oslo børs, 
www.newsweb.no (ticker: Kvaer), and on the company’s 
own website, www.kvaerner.com. 

Section 7: Nomination committee 
the articles of association stipulate that Kvaerner shall 
have a nomination Committee. the nomination Committee 
shall have no less than three members, who shall 
normally serve for a term of two years. the current 
members of the nomination Committee are Øyvind 
eriksen (Chairman), mette Wikborg and thomas thune 
andersen. Kvaerner’s general meeting has adopted 
guidelines governing the duties of the nomination 
Committee. according to these guidelines, the committee 
shall emphasise that candidates for the board have the 
necessary experience, competence and capacity to 
perform their duties in a satisfactory manner. 
furthermore, attention should be paid to ensuring that the 
board can function effectively as a collegiate body. a 
reasonable representation with regard to gender and 
background should also be emphasised, and the 
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nomination Committee should present its nomination of 
directors to the board. the nomination Committee shall 
justify its nominations. the guidelines for the nomination 
Committee are available on the company’s website: www.
kvaerner.com/en/toolsmenu/investors/Corporate-
governance-/nomination-committee.

the Chair of the nomination Committee has the overall 
responsibility for the work of the committee. in the exer-
cise of its duties, the nomination Committee may contact, 
amongst others, shareholders, the board of directors, 
management and external advisors. the nomination Com-
mittee shall also ensure that its recommendations are en-
dorsed by the largest shareholders. 

a majority of the members of the nomination 
Committee are independent of the board of directors and 
executive management of the company. the articles of 
association charge the nomination Committee with 
proposing candidates for appointment as directors. the 
nomination Committee shall also propose the fees payable 
to the directors.

the composition of the nomination Committee shall 
reflect the interests of all shareholders, in addition to its 
members’ independence from the board of directors and 
the executive management team. the members and the 
Chair of the nomination Committee are appointed by the 
annual general meeting, which also determines the re-
muneration of the committee. 

information concerning the nomination Committee and 
deadlines for making suggestions or proposing candidates 
for directorships are available on the company’s website: 
www.kvaerner.com/en/toolsmenu/investors/Corporate-
governance-/nomination-committee.

Section 8: Corporate assembly and Board of 
Directors: Composition and independence
it has been agreed with the employees that Kvaerner shall 
have no corporate assembly. hence, the board of directors 
appoints its own Chair, pursuant to the provisions of the 
public limited Companies act, section 6-1(2), unless the 
Chair has been appointed by the annual general meeting. 
the proposal of the nomination Committee will normally 
include a proposed candidate for appointment as Chair of 

the board of directors. the board of directors appoints its 
own deputy Chair. according to the public limited 
Companies act, the directors are appointed for a term of 
two years at a time unless otherwise stated in the 
company’s articles of association.

the right of the employees to be represented and par-
ticipate in decision making is safeguarded through, inter 
alia, expanded employee representation on the board of 
directors, with Kvaerner currently having three employee 
representatives on the board of directors. the employee-
appointed directors are elected for a period of two years. 
the articles of association stipulate that the board of 
 directors shall comprise six to ten persons, one third of 
whom shall be elected by and from the employees of the 
group. in addition, up to three shareholder-appointed 
alter nates may be appointed. the articles of association 
further stipulate that up to three shareholder-elected 
 deputy members may be elected annually. 

the board of directors comprised eight directors as of 
31 december 2011, five of whom were elected by the 
shareholders: Kjell inge røkke (Chairman), tore torvund 
(deputy Chairman), bruno Weymuller, lone fønss 
schrøder and vibeke hammer madsen, and three of whom 
were elected by and from the group’s employees: bernt 
harald Kilnes, rune rafdal and ståle Johansen. Kjell inge 
røkke and vibeke hammer madsen are elected for the 
period until the annual general meeting in 2012, while 
bruno Weymuller, tore torvund and lone fønss schrøder 
are elected for the period until the annual general 
meeting in 2013. the current board composition, including 
information about the directors’ background and 
expertise, is detailed on page 92 of this annual report and 
on the company’s website. 

Kvaerner encourages the directors to own shares in the 
company. the shareholdings of the directors as of 31 
december 2011 are described in note 9 salaries, wages 
and social security costs to the consolidated financial 
statements. in addition to Kjell inge røkke’s indirect 
ownership of shares in the company, the board members 
bernt harald Kilnes, rune rafdal and ståle Johansen also 
are currently shareholders in Kvaerner. a majority of the 
directors elected by the shareholders are independent of 

the executive personnel and important business 
associates. none of the executive personnel of the 
company are directors thereof. 

the composition of the board of directors aims to 
ensure that the interests of all shareholders are attended 
to and that the company has the necessary know-how, 
resources and diversity at its disposal. among the five 
shareholder-elected directors, four (tore torvund, lone 
fønss schrøder, bruno Weymuller and vibeke hammer 
madsen) are deemed independent of the company’s 
largest indirect shareholder; aker asa. 

the reasoned proposals of the nomination Committee 
for candidates to become shareholder-appointed directors 
will be published on the company’s website and on oslo 
børs, via www.newsweb.no, prior to general meetings. the 
appointment of employee representatives to the board of 
directors will be conducted as prescribed by the public 
limited Companies act and the representation regula-
tions. the board of directors will appoint a designated 
 appointment committee charged with implementing the 
appointment of such employee representatives, which 
committee comprises representatives of the employees 
and of the executive management team. 

Section 9: The work of the Board of Directors 
the board of directors adopts an annual plan for its work, 
with an emphasis on goals, strategy and implementation. 
furthermore, there are rules of procedure for the board 
of directors, which govern areas of responsibility, duties 
and the distribution of roles between the board of 
directors, the Chair of the board of directors and the 
president & Ceo. the rules of procedure for the board of 
directors also include provisions on convening and 
chairing board meetings, on decision making, on the duty 
and right of the president & Ceo to disclose information to 
the board of directors, on the duty of confidentiality, as 
well as on for example competence. in order to ensure a 
more independent consideration of matters of a material 
character in which the Chair of the board is, or has been, 
personally involved, the board's consideration of such 
matters should be chaired by the deputy Chair. in 
addition, a separate guideline for related party 
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transactions is integrated in the rules of procedures.
in connection with the demerger and the listing, per 

harald Kongelf was acting Ceo of Kvaerner from may 
2011 until 5 august 2011. during this time period, 
mr Kongelf had a leave of absence from his position as 
chief operating officer of aker solutions asa. from 5 
 august 2011, Jan arve haugan took the position as 
 president & Ceo of Kvaerner. 

the board of directors held six ordinary board 
meetings since the demerger and listing 8 July 2011. in 
addition, three extraordinary board meetings have been 
held. an overview of the directors’ participation in 
ordinary and extraordinary board meetings during 2011 
is provided in note 9 salaries, wages and social security 
cost to the consolidated financial statements of the group. 
total attendance rate at board meetings was 88.8 percent 
from and including July 2011. 

the president & Ceo prepares matters for deliberation 
by the board of directors, in consultation with the Chair 
of the board of directors. Weight is attached to having 
matters prepared and presented in such a way that the 
board of directors is provided with an adequate basis for 
its deliberations. the board of directors has overall 
responsibility for the management of Kvaerner and shall, 
through the president & Ceo, ensure that its activities are 
organised in a sound manner. the board of directors shall, 
inter alia, adopt plans and budgets for the business, and 
keep itself informed of the financial position of, and 
develop ment within, Kvaerner. this encompasses the 
annual planning process of Kvaerner, with the adoption of 
overall goals and strategic choices for the group, as well 
as financial plans, budgets and forecasts for the group and 
the business areas. the board of directors performs an 
annual evaluation of its work and its know-how in 
accordance with the rules of procedure for the board of 
directors. the evaluation is performed as an anonymous 
survey and a round-table discussion and evaluation of the 
survey results.

the board of directors has established two sub-
committees, as further described below. 

Audit Committee 
as of 8 July 2011, Kvaerner has an audit Committee 
comprising the following three directors; lone fønss 
schrøder (Chair), bruno Weymuller and bernt harald 
Kilnes. hence the audit Committee is independent of the 
management of Kvaerner. the audit Committee has held 
two committee meetings in 2011 since the demerger and 
listing 8 July 2011, both in connection with the quarterly 
reporting of the company. the audit Committee has 
adopted an annual plan for its work. 

at least one of the members of the committee shall 
have relevant accounting or auditing qualifications. the 
audit Committee has a mandate and a working method 
that complies with statutory requirements. the committee 
will participate, on behalf of the board of directors, in the 
quality assurance of guidelines, policies and other 
governing instruments pertaining to Kvaerner. the audit 
Committee will perform a qualitative review of quarterly 
and annual reports of Kvaerner. the mandate of the audit 
Committee is further defined in a separate guideline for 
the audit Committee, which forms an integrated part of 
the rules of procedures for the board of directors.

Remuneration Committee
from 8 July 2011, the board of directors of Kvaerner has 
a remuneration Committee comprising three of the 
directors. the current members of the committee are Kjell 
inge røkke (Chairman), tore torvund and vibeke hammer 
madsen. hence the remuneration Committee is 
independent of the management of Kvaerner.

the committee will prepare and recommend proposals 
for the board of directors relating to the salary and terms 
of the president & Ceo, as well as the guidelines and 
principles governing the remuneration of executive 
personnel within the group at any given time. the 
remuneration Committee will also approve, based on the 
recommen dation of the president & Ceo, the salary and 
terms of those who report directly to the president & Ceo. 
the mandate of the remuneration Committee is further 
defined in a separate guideline for the remuneration 
Committee, which forms an integrated part of the rules of 
procedures for the board of directors.

Section 10: Risk management and internal control 
the board of directors shall ensure that Kvaerner has 
sound internal control and systems for risk management 
that are appropriate in relation to the extent and nature of 
the company’s activities. as a new company, Kvaerner is 
still developing its policies, procedures, risk management 
and internal control practices, and a thorough review of all 
policies is currently being performed. this review and re-
vision will be completed during the first quarter 2012. 

the audit Committee of the board of directors assists the 
board in safeguarding that the company has internal proce-
dures and systems that ensure good corporate governance, 
effective internal controls and good risk management, par-
ticularly in relation to financial reporting. as this is still work 
in progress within Kvaerner, the audit Committee has not 
yet been enabled to perform a full review of such issues.

Risk management
Kvaerner manages risk through an internal framework 
comprising guidelines, procedures, standards and tools 
intended to ensure good business operations and provide 
unified and reliable financial reporting. some of which are 
adopted already, while some are work in progress. the 
framework will be anchored in the various group 
functions. 

the operating model of Kvaerner implies that each 
group function in Kvaerner corporate management has a 
global responsibility for following up on their respective 
areas of specialisation and the frameworks associated 
therewith. such responsibility includes in particular risk 
management and ownership to their respective policies 
and procedures, irrespective of how the business is organ-
ised. individual group functions follow up on their area of 
responsibility through a direct dialogue with the business-
es, both in connection with specific projects and as part of 
know-how development to enhance risk management. 
group functions set the direction for taking risks and 
manage ment within the respective areas in line with am-
bitions and guidelines from the board of directors, and 
safeguard that the operating businesses comply with this 
direction. Within the risk framework established at corpo-
rate level, the operating businesses manage the day-to-
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day risks related to their operations.
Kvaerner has a corporate risk committee and a corpo-

rate investment committee. the corporate risk committee 
is responsible for assessing risk and giving advice to the 
group executive management team in respect of all major 
tenders that the group contemplates for submission. the 
corporate investment committee comprises selected cor-
porate functions, such as tax, legal, finance and treasury, 
and reviews all acquisitions and disposals and those 
CapeX investments that are required to be approved by 
the board of directors of Kværner asa, the president & 
Ceo or the evp & Cfo pursuant to the authorisation matri-
ces of Kvaerner. the corporate investment committee 
thereafter gives its joint recommendation to the president 
& Ceo or the evp & Cfo, which again, if relevant, give 
their recommendations to the executive management 
team and/or the board of directors. 

the overall risk management effort is primarily handled 
by the following group functions, in close cooperation 
with the business areas and operating units: 

 > Corporate finance & accounting is responsible for the 
handling of risks and internal control in connection 
with the financial reporting, and financial reporting and 
financial assessments made in relation thereto. 
Corporate finance & accounting is the owner of the 
financial reporting and planning policy, together with 
connected standards and tools. the set of policies, 
standards and tools aim to manage risks and internal 
control pertaining to the financial reporting process. 
the corporate evp & Cfo is also responsible for the 
corporate risk committee and the corporate investment 
committee of the group. 

 > treasury is responsible for financial market risk and the 
group’s exposure in financial markets, and is a perma-
nent member of the investment committee of the group. 

 > Corporate tax is responsible for the various tax risks of 
the group, relating to, inter alia, transactions, operational 
activities and tax returns.

 > Corporate Quality management & enterprise risk coor-
dinates the management of risk outside the traditional 
project and financial areas, and has overall responsi-

bility for the development of Kvaerner’s framework, 
basic corporate values, corporate responsibility policy, 
Code of Conduct, anti-corruption effort and ethical 
guidelines.

 > project support assists in connection with project as-
sessments, including risk and strategy assessments, in 
the tender phase and the implementation phase of the 
projects. 

 > business support assists the organisation in respect of 
facility management, insurance, hr, quality, shared 
services and hse. 

 > Corporate legal assists all of the abovementioned 
functions in their handling of risks by, inter alia, being 
a permanent member of the corporate risk committee 
and the corporate investment committee of the group, 
and is also responsible for the contractual and legal 
follow-up of projects, partners, agreements, disputes 
and the relationship with the legal framework.

in addition to the said group functions, the business areas 
have their own management teams and finance/staff func-
tions tailored to their organisations and activities. the re-
sponsibility for managing risks in projects and operations 
lies with the operating units. each operating unit has in-
corporated risk management within their project execu-
tion process. all projects in Kvaerner have a register 
where identified operational risks and opportunities are 
categorised and assessed in terms of impact and probabil-
ity. the reporting of all operational risks and opportunities 
is standardised across the group and aggregated up to 
group level through the line organisation. 

Internal control
in an international organisation like Kvaerner, it is a pre-
requisite that the activities in every part of the group 
meet financial and non-financial requirements, and are 
carried out in accordance with the group’s common norms 
and values.

each operational unit and business area has indepen dent 
responsibility for adherence to the internal framework of 
the group and compliance with external laws and regula-
tions at any given time, and the executive management of 

each operation unit is responsible for ensuring reliable 
financial reporting and compliance with legislation and 
regulations. this involves close cooperation between the 
staff functions and the business areas with a view to iden-
tifying, monitoring, reporting and handling risks for the 
entire group in conformity with, inter alia, the require-
ments laid down by the audit Committee and the board of 
directors. 

all operating units within Kvaerner shall evaluate, on 
an ongoing basis, their own adherence to the framework 
and policies established on corporate level and whether 
established control activities function appropriately. this 
is done by using, inter alia, a standard form with a number 
of verification questions relating to Kvaerner’s guidelines 
and procedures. the audit Committee of the board of 
directors shall assist the board of directors in ensuring 
that the company has internal procedures and systems 
that promote good corporate governance, effective 
internal controls and good risk management – particularly 
in relation to financial reporting. as Kvaerner is still in a 
start-up phase and because the policy system is currently 
being revised, only limited internal reviews have been 
performed in 2011. until these policies and corporate 
functions are in place, corporate staff is monitoring the 
businesses through reporting and monthly operating 
reviews. more detailed reviews are executed where 
applicable.

future annual reports will contain a more detailed de-
scription of Kvaerner’s handling of the operational and 
financial risks associated with the business activities, as 
well as internal control procedures.

The financial reporting process
the group’s businesses report monthly on the financial, 
operational and market status within their respective 
areas, including matters relating to important projects. the 
reports are reviewed in physical meetings with the 
president & Ceo and the evp & Cfo before the board of 
directors receives its monthly report on the financial 
performance of the company. the business areas are 
responsible for monthly financial follow-up and reporting. 

the monthly financial reporting from the operating 
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units of Kvaerner is performed through the hyperion re-
porting system, in order to ensure consistent and unified 
reporting throughout the organisation. as described 
above, Kvaerner has a financial reporting and planning 
policy with corresponding standards and tools, owned by 
the evp & Cfo, which sets out the regulations and proce-
dures for the financial reporting. the internal control of 
financial reporting is a process designed under the super-
vision of the evp & Cfo to provide reasonable assurance.

Kvaerner prepares and presents its financial statements 
in accordance with international financial reporting 
standards as adopted by the european union (eu). the 
accounting policies applied by the group also comply with 
ifrs, international financial reporting standards, as issued 
by the international accounting standards board (iasb).

Section 11: Remuneration of the Board of Directors 
the remuneration of the board of directors will reflect its 
responsibilities, know-how and time commitment, as well 
as the complexity of the business. the remuneration will 
be proposed by the nomination Committee, and is not 
performance-related or linked to options in Kvaerner. any 
remuneration in addition to normal directors’ fees shall be 
specifically identified in the annual report. there has not 
been any such additional remuneration in 2011. more 
detailed information about the proposed remuneration of 
the board of directors in 2011 is provided in note 9 
salaries, wages and social security cost to the consolidated 
financial statements for the group. 

neither the members of the board of directors, nor 
companies with whom they are affiliated, should accept 
specific paid duties for Kvaerner beyond their director-
ships, unless the board of directors is informed and the 
compensation is approved by the board of directors. no 
compensation shall be accepted from anyone other than 
the relevant group company in connection with such duties. 

Section 12: Remuneration of executive personnel 
the board of directors has adopted designated guidelines 
for the remuneration of executive management pursuant 
to the provisions of section 6-16a of the public limited 
Companies act. the guidelines set out the main principles 

applied in determining the salary and other remuneration 
of the executive personnel, and help to ensure convergence 
of the financial interests of the executive personnel and 
the shareholders. the guidelines were approved by the 
extraordinary general meeting of Kværner asa on 30 
may 2011. more information is included under section 2 
herein, and additional details pertaining thereto as well as 
the executive remuneration guidelines of Kvaerner are 
addressed in note 9 salaries, wages and social security 
cost to the consolidated financial statements. the remu-
neration guidelines will consequently be submitted to the 
annual general meeting. 

Kvaerner has, under the terms of the demerger plan, 
undertaken to deliver bonus shares in the form of shares 
in Kvaerner, or alternatively offer cash compensation, to 
employees who are transferred to Kvaerner, and who had 
entitlements under aker solutions’ employee share 
purchase programme. other than this programme, the 
Kvaerner group does not have any employee share 
purchase or share option schemes.

Kvaerner has an executive variable pay programme 
based on the achievement of financial and personal 
performance targets and leadership performance in 
accordance with the company’s values and the 
development of the company’s share price compared to 
the development of the oslo børs benchmark index. the 
executive variable pay programme represents a potential 
for an additional variable pay up to the value of 94.5 
percent of the executives’ ordinary salary. 

further, Kvaerner employs an annual variable pay pro-
gramme that senior and middle managers and key profes-
sionals that have an important impact on Kvaerner’s per-
formance and long-term success may be eligible for. 
members of the annual variable pay programme will be 
measured on achievement of financial and personal per-
formance targets. the annual variable pay programme has 
various pay-potential levels (20, 30, 40 and 50 percent of 
ordinary salary) dependent upon individual scope, role 
and responsibility within the employee’s business area.

the remuneration Committee prepares and recommends 
proposals to the board of directors on the remuneration 
of the president & Ceo. the president & Ceo determines 

the remuneration of executive management on the basis 
of the guidelines laid down by the board of directors; see 
also the description of the remuneration Committee of 
the board of directors in section 9. all performance- 
related remuneration within the group has been made 
subject to a cap. 

Section 13: Information and communications 
Kvaerner is committed to serve the financial market with 
precise and relevant information about the company. 
Kvaerner has established guidelines for the reporting of 
financial and other information based on openness and 
taking into account the requirement for equal treatment of 
all participants in the securities market.

investor relations activities aim to ensure that the in-
formation provided to the financial markets gives market 
participants the best possible basis to establish a precise 
picture of the company's financial condition and factors 
that may affect its future value creation. this shall take 
place through the correct and timely distribution of price-
sensitive information, whilst ensuring, at the same time, 
that Kvaerner is in compliance with applicable rules and 
market practices. reference is also made to the above-
mentioned discussion concerning the flow of information 
between Kvaerner and aker asa in connection with their 
cooperation within, inter alia, strategy, transactions and 
funding. 

all stock exchange announcements, quarterly reports 
and presentations, other public presentations and press 
releases are made available on the company’s website, 
www.kvaerner.com, together with other relevant informa-
tion. stock exchange announcements are also available on 
www.newsweb.no. all information sent to the share-
holders is posted on the company’s website simul tane-
ously. Kvaerner holds open presentations in connection 
with the financial reporting, and these presentations are 
broadcast live via the internet. a capital markets day will 
be hosted annually, and will be open to all interested 
 parties. all relevant dates are published in the financial 
 calendar available on Kvaerner’s website. 

the group’s investor relations department is respons-
ible for maintaining and coordinating regular dialogue 
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with the shareholders and other financial market stake-
holders. the board is informed about these activities on a 
regular basis. furthermore, Kvaerner has prepared a des-
ignated investor relations standard which includes guide-
lines for the company’s contact with shareholders other 
than through general meetings.

Section 14: Take-overs 
aker asa has undertaken to retain control of aker 
Kværner holding as for a period of ten years from June 
2007. the board of directors has not deemed it 
appropriate to adopt specific guidelines for takeover 
situations for as long as the ownership cooperation 
context within aker Kværner holding as remains intact. 

Section 15: Auditors 
the auditor shall annually present its assessment of 
 accounting risk and audit plan to the audit Committee. 

the board of directors has established procedures for 
regular contact with the external auditor through the 
audit Committee. this contact includes, but is not limited 
to, the auditor:

 > presenting the audit plan for the coming year.
 > Contributing to meetings concerning Kvaerner’s annual 

financial statements.
 > discussing audit findings, including changes in account-

ing principles, significant estimates and judgments 
 reflected in the annual financial statements, any areas 
of disagreement with management and identified pro-
cess improvement opportunities.

 > participating in an annual meeting with the board of 
directors without the president & Ceo or other 
members of management being present.

 > attending annual general meetings. 

the audit Committee oversees the work of the auditor 
and reviews its qualifications, performance and 
independence. as part of this independence oversight, the 
audit Committee has implemented guidelines covering the 
services which may be provided by the auditor in addition 
to statutory audit. the audit Committee receives an 

annual summary of audit and non-audit services provided 
globally by the auditor, which the board of directors 
presents to the annual general meeting for approval. 
details of the external auditor’s remuneration are given in 
note 11 other operating expense to the consolidated 
financial statements.

the external auditor has provided the audit Committee 
with written confirmation of its independence.
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Board of Directors

Kjell Inge Røkke
Chairman

Kjell inge røkke is an entrepreneur and 
industrialist, and has been a driving 
force in the development of aker since 
the 1990s. mr røkke owns 67.8 per-
cent of aker asa through the resource 
group trg as and subsidiaries which 
he co-owns with his wife. he is chair-
man of aker asa and aker biomarine 
asa; board member of aker solutions 
asa and deputy board member of det 
norske oljeselskap asa. he holds no 
shares in Kværner asa, and has no 
stock options. mr røkke is a norwegian 
citizen. he has been elected for the 
period 2011-2012. 

Tore Torvund
Deputy Chairman

tore torvund holds the position as 
 executive vice president of the solar 
technology company reC silicon 
renewable energy Corporation since 
2009. mr torvund has senior executive 
experience of more than twenty years 
in the oil and gas industry, including as 
executive vice president of exploration 
& production norway at the oil 
company statoilhydro, and executive 
vice president of oil and energy at 
norsk hydro. he has held several 
management positions related to 
drilling operations, field development 
and technology projects. mr torvund 
holds a m.sc. in petroleum engineering 
from the norwegian university of 
science and technology. he holds no 
shares in Kværner asa, and has no 
stock options. mr torvund is a 
norwegian citizen. he has been elected 
for the period 2011-2013. 

Bruno Weymuller
Director

bruno Weymuller served as strategy 
director of the oil company total group 
from 2000 to 2008. he started his 
career with positions within the french 
ministry of industry, the energy 
directorate as well as serving in key 
positions at the prime minister's office. 
mr Weymuller has held various 
executive positions in elf aquitaine 
(total) from 1981 to 2008. mr 
Weymuller is an alumnus of the ecole 
polytechnique and the ecole des mines 
(paris) and also holds a m.sc. from 
massachusetts institute of technology. 
he holds no shares in Kværner asa, 
and has no stock options. mr 
Weymuller is a french citizen. he has 
been elected for the period 2011-
2013. 

Lone Fønss Schrøder
Director

lone fønss schrøder has broad 
international experience acquired 
during 21 years in senior management 
positions, including board positions at 
the industrial conglomerate a.p. møller-
maersk a/s. she is a non-executive 
director and chairing the audit 
committee of volvo pv, non-executive 
director and member of the audit 
committee of aker solutions asa, 
vattenfall ab and svenska 
handelsbanken ab in sweden and non–
executive director of nKt a/s 
(denmark). ms fønss schrøder holds a 
law degree from the university of 
Copenhagen, and a m.econ. from 
Copenhagen business school. she holds 
no shares in Kværner asa, and has no 
stock options. ms fønss schrøder is a 
danish citizen. she has been elected for 
the period 2011-2013.

Vibeke Hammer Madsen
Director

vibeke hammer madsen is the Ceo of 
virke (the federation of norwegian 
enterprises) since 2002. prior to this, 
she was partner in pa Consulting group 
also working for international compa-
nies. from 1993 to 1999 she was a 
vice president, holding various posi-
tions in statoil. ms madsen holds a 
number of board positions, and she is 
among others chairperson of the board 
of innovation and board member of the 
research Council of norway, as well as 
chair of Junior achievement Young 
enterprise. she was board member of 
aker floating production from 2006 to 
2010 and a board member of aker 
solutions asa from 2008 until may 
2011. ms madsen is a graduate of the 
norwegian school of radiography. she 
holds no shares in Kværner asa, and 
has no stock options. ms madsen is a 
norwegian citizen. she has been elected 
for the period 2011-2012.
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Rune Rafdal 
Director

rune rafdal was elected by the 
employees of Kvaerner to the board of 
directors in June 2011. mr rafdal has 
been employed by Kvaerner since 
1980 and has been a local union 
representative for stord yard on a full-
time basis since 1996, a group union 
leader since 2005 and served several 
periods at the boards of aker stord as 
and aker Kværner stord as in the 
period 2000 to 2011. mr rafdal is a 
sheet metal worker and holds a 
certificate of apprenticeship in the 
sheet metal discipline. he holds 195 
shares in Kværner asa, and has no 
stock options. mr rafdal is a norwegian 
citizen. he has been elected for the 
period 2011-2013. 

Ståle Knoff Johansen
Director

ståle K. Johansen was elected by the 
employees of Kvaerner to the board of 
directors in June 2011. mr Johansen 
has been employed by Kvaerner since 
1986 and has been a local union 
representative for verdal yard on a 
full-time basis since 2010 and served 
at the board of aker verdal as and 
Kværner verdal as. mr Johansen is a 
welder and sheet metal worker and 
holds a certificate of apprenticeship in 
the welding discipline. he holds 31 
shares in Kværner asa, and has no 
stock options. mr Johansen is a 
norwegian citizen. he has been elected 
for the period 2011-2013. 

Bernt Harald Kilnes
Director

bernt harald Kilnes was elected by the 
employees of Kvaerner to the board of 
directors in June 2011. mr Kilnes has 
been employed by Kvaerner since 
1989 and is a group union 
representative for white-collar 
employees on a half-time basis and has 
served at the boards of Kværner asa, 
aker Kværner asa and aker verdal as. 
mr Kilnes is educated as an engineer 
and business administrator. he holds 
447 shares in Kværner asa, and has no 
stock options. mr Kilnes is a norwegian 
citizen. he has been elected for the 
period 2011-2013.
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Executive Management Team

Jan Arve Haugan
President & CEO

Jan arve haugan started his pro-
fessional career in the norwegian 
 Construction Company f. selmer (now 
skanska) and worked as project 
consultant in terra mar project 
management before he joined the 
norwegian industrial conglomerate 
norsk hydro as chief engineer in 1991. 
he has had several leading positions in 
hydro’s oil & gas projects and 
operations, and more recently in the 
aluminium business. from 2007 to 
2009 he was director of technology 
and global smelter operations. in 2009 
he became Ceo of Qatar aluminium ltd 
(Qatalum), a 50/50 Joint venture 
between Qatar petroleum and hydro 
aluminium, and one of the largest 
primary aluminium plants ever built in 
one phase. mr haugan was hydro’s 
project owner and technology provider 
for Qatalum in hydro, before joining 
Qatalum as Ceo. he holds a m.sc. in 
Construction management from the 
university of Colorado at boulder, usa. 
mr haugan and related parties, holds 
28 000 shares in Kværner asa. mr 
haugan is a norwegian citizen. 

Eiliv gjesdal
Executive Vice President & 
CFO

eiliv gjesdal joined Kvaerner after ten 
years with aker solution, from where 
he has extensive experience from 
finance and control functions. from 
1997 to 2002, he was audit manager 
with arthur andersen & Co working 
with large norwegian companies like 
Kværner, bergesen, nycomed, bravida 
and statkraft. mr gjesdal holds a m.sc. 
in economics and business 
administration from the norwegian 
school of economics and business 
administration in bergen, norway, and 
is a state authorised public accountant 
in norway. he holds no shares in 
Kværner asa, and has no stock 
options. mr gjesdal is a norwegian 
citizen.

Lars Eide
Executive Vice President 
North Sea

lars eide joined Kværner stord in 
1990 and has been involved in several 
projects, most recently as project 
director of gjøa epCh. he has broad 
experience from a wide range of 
positions in aker solutions, including 
corporate strategy co-ordinator, vice 
president engineering, vice president 
fabrication and business manager. in 
2004 he took on the role as president 
of aker Kværner egersund. mr eide 
holds a masters degree from the 
norwegian university of science and 
technology. he holds 283 shares in 
Kværner asa, and has no stock 
options. mr eide is a norwegian citizen. 

Nina udnes Tronstad
Executive Vice President 
Jackets 

nina udnes tronstad has been 
president of Kværner verdal as since 
2007. prior to joining Kvaerner, ms 
udnes tronstad worked four years for 
aker solutions in the same position as 
she holds today. before joining aker 
solutions, ms udnes tronstad worked 
24 years with statoil, where she was 
executive vice president hse from 
2005-2007. she has held various 
technical and management positions in 
statoil, both upstream, midstream and 
downstream. ms udnes tronstad is a 
board member of trelleborg ab since 
2010. ms udnes tronstad holds a 
degree in chemical engineering from 
the norwegian university of science 
and technology. she holds 447 shares 
in Kværner asa, and has no stock 
options. ms udnes tronstad is a 
norwegian citizen.

Bjørn gundersen
Executive Vice President 
Concrete

bjørn gundersen has over 30 years’ 
experience from the oil and gas 
industry, and prior to joining Kvaerner 
he worked for aker solutions from 
1979-2011. he has extensive 
experience through project 
management positions for major world 
class offshore oil and gas projects, as 
well as corporate business executive 
management positions, in norway as 
well as internationally. mr gundersen 
holds a degree in civil engineering from 
the regional College of stavanger. he 
holds no shares in Kværner asa, and 
has no stock options. mr gundersen is a 
norwegian citizen.
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James Harry (Jim) Miller
Executive Vice President 
E&C Americas

Jim miller joined Kvaerner as executive 
vice president of e&C americas in 
2011. from 2008-2011 he was 
president and Ceo of aker philadelphia 
shipyard. before that, he was president 
of aker solutions process & 
Construction (p&C) americas, where he 
was responsible for financial 
operations of seven business units. 
during his tenure, aker solutions p&C 
americas became a leading provider of 
global engineering and construction 
solutions with 7 500 employees, 
including 4 500 construction trades 
personnel. prior to joining aker 
solutions p&C americas, mr miller held 
the position as president of aker 
Construction inc. mr miller graduated 
from the university of edinboro in 
pennsylvania with a ba. he holds no 
shares in Kværner asa, and has no 
stock options. mr miller is a resident of 
pittsburgh, pennsylvania and is a us 
citizen.

Tony Allen
Executive Vice President 
International

tony allen has over 30 years 
experience from the oil and gas 
industry. Commencing his career in the 
uK shipbuilding industry mr allen 
gained signi ficant experience working 
around the globe in both project and 
Corporate management positions with 
several of the world's leading epC oil 
and gas contractors, including earl and 
Wright and humphries and glasgow. 
during the 1990's he worked as a 
project manager and subsequently 
technical director for Kvaerner. prior 
to re- joining Kvaerner mr allen was a 
senior vice president with snC-lavalin 
inc. mr allen holds a bachelor of 
science degree from the university of 
strathclyde. he is a Chartered engineer. 
he holds no shares in Kværner asa, 
and has no stock options. mr allen is a 
british citizen. 

Jan Øyri
Executive Vice President 
Business Support

Jan Øyri has more than 15 years of 
experience with organisational- and 
production processes, management 
development and general line manage-
ment from both aluminium and 
construction industries, including 
companies like nCC, elkem, mesta and 
norsk hydro. in 2010 he became 
business support group manager, Qatar 
aluminium, a 50/50 joint venture 
between hydro and Qatar petroleum. 
mr Øyri has significant tenure as an 
officer with the norwegian army and 
educational background from the 
norwegian military academy and the 
norwegian army staff College. he 
holds 10 000 shares in Kværner asa, 
and has no stock options. mr Øyri is a 
norwegian citizen. 

Jan Tore Elverhaug
Executive Vice President 
Project Support

Jan tore elverhaug joined Kværner 
engineering in 1979. he has more than 
30 years experience from the offshore 
industry and has held a range of 
management positions in Kværner 
 engineering and aker solutions, 
including evp for field development, 
president of aker stord, as well as 
project director for some of the largest 
and most advanced projects like ormen 
lange, h6 and Kristin. mr elverhaug is 
a graduate of the regional College of 
stavanger in petroleum engineering 
and also holds a business degree from 
the norwegian school of management. 
he holds 252 shares in Kværner asa, 
and has no stock options. mr elverhaug 
is a norwegian citizen. 
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Company information

COPyRIgHT AND LEgAL NOTICE Copyright in all published material including photographs, drawings and images in this publication 
remains vested in Kvaerner and third party contributors to this publication as appropriate. accordingly, neither the whole nor 
any part of this publication can be reproduced in any form without express prior permission. articles and opinions appearing in 
this publication do not necessarily represent the views of Kvaerner. While all steps have been taken to ensure the accuracy of the 
published contents, Kvaerner does not accept any responsibility for any errors or resulting loss or damage whatsoever caused and 
readers have the responsibility to thoroughly check these aspects for themselves. enquiries about reproduction of content from this 
publication should be directed to Kværner asa.

Kværner asa
snarøyveien 30
1360 fornebu

postal address:
p.o. box 74
no-1325 lysaker

telephone: +47 21 08 90 00
telefax: +47 21 08 99 99

e-mail: ir@kvaerner.com
Web: www.kvaerner.com
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